Distribution agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Juna Viktoria Konomi

Date

FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE AND ZINC HOMEOSTASIS IN THE NEWBORN

ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE

By

Juna Viktoria Konomi

Doctor of Philosophy

Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Nutrition and Health Sciences

Lou Ann S. Brown Advisor

Theresa Gauthier Committee member Venkat Narayan Committee member

Usha Ramakrishnan Committee member Vin Tangpricha Committee member

Thomas Ziegler Committee member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney Graduate School

Date

FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE AND ZINC HOMEOSTASIS IN THE NEWBORN ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE

By

Juna Viktoria Konomi

B.A., Brown University, 2006

Advisor: Lou Ann S. Brown, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Nutrition and Health Sciences Program

2014

ABSTRACT

FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE AND ZINC HOMEOSTASIS IN THE NEWBORN ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE

By

Juna Viktoria Konomi

Alcohol exposure increases risk of extreme premature birth (<32 weeks gestational age) by over 34 fold. One of the major complications of pre-term birth is lung immaturity which contributes up to 75% of early mortality and morbidity in the pre-term infant. Alcohol further exacerbates an already dysfunctional lung through alteration of lung development and induction of oxidative stress which results in arrested alveolarization and vascular development, increasing risk of pulmonary infections in animal models of fetal ethanol exposure. Zinc is essential for the immune system and its deficiency increases susceptibility to infection and exacerbates existing infections. Alcohol may also affect maternal-placental-fetal transfer of zinc by altering zinc transporter expression in the placental surface or by inducing an inflammatory state in the placenta that impairs zinc transport to the fetus.

Using a mouse model of chronic ethanol exposure *in utero*, we investigated whether zinc homeostasis was disturbed in the ethanol-exposed alveolar macrophage (**AM**) and whether these effects could be reversed with zinc treatments. In exploring mechanisms by which ethanol altered zinc homeostasis in the newborn AM, we focused in characterization of cytokine profiles in placental tissues from a pre-term population that was exposed to alcohol *in utero*.

In utero ethanol exposure was associated with decreased expression of zinc transporters, intracellular zinc levels, and bacterial clearance in the AM when compared to no ethanol exposure. *In vitro* zinc treatments increased expression of zinc transporters and this was concomitant with restored intracellular zinc levels and AM bacterial clearance in the ethanol-exposed pups. Additionally, fetal alcohol exposure was associated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines in the placenta.

These studies suggest that zinc insufficiency is a critical component in the impaired AM immune functions associated with fetal alcohol exposure. Furthermore, it supports zinc supplements as a novel therapeutic approach for attenuating the derangements in AM bacterial clearance and risk for respiratory infections in the newborn with fetal alcohol exposure.

FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE AND ZINC HOMEOSTASIS IN THE NEWBORN ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE

By

Juna Viktoria Konomi

B.A., Brown University, 2006

Advisor: Lou Ann S. Brown, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Nutrition and Health Sciences Program

> > 2014

DEDICATION

To my parents, Raimond and Emira

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express thanks and gratitude to my mentor and advisor, **Dr. Lou Ann Brown**, for her patience, support, and positivity. Thank you for believing in me and always being available to talk whether it was work related or not. I am very fortunate to have worked with you and to have learned so much from you. This dissertation would not have been possible without your input, guidance and financial support. Thank you to my committee members, Theresa Gauthier, Venkat Narayan, Usha Ramakrishnan, Vin Tangpricha, and Thomas Ziegler for your insightful expertise and guidance. I would like to extend thanks to the members of Drs. Brown and Gauthier laboratories for training me and always being available to assist me every time I needed help.

To the **Nutrition and Health Sciences Program** administrators for giving me the opportunity to attend Emory University and be a part of such an accomplished student body and for helping me to successfully navigate through any difficulties. Special thanks to my friends for being with me every step of the way to lift my spirits and to encourage me to keep pushing through. I hope we continue to support each other.

To my **parents**, I am grateful for the traditions and values you have instilled in me, for all the sacrifices you have made, and for always believing in me. You have succeeded and achieved so much in life despite all the struggles and hurdles you have crossed and have always served as a source of motivation for me. To my sisters – **Besiana and Lidia** – for your endless support, love, and kindness. Ju dua shumë dhe nuk do ta kisha mbaruar këtë tezë, dhe asgjë në jetë, pa përkrahjen tuaj.

To my fiancé, **James**, thank you for being with me since the beginning of this program and for enduring through all the struggles, failures, successes, and craziness with me. Thank you for your patience, kindness, compassion, and for showing me how to be a better person. You taught me how to "Let go and let God". I am grateful that you are in my life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
ALCOHOL	5
Alcohol and zinc deficiency	5
Alcohol metabolism	6
Alcohol biomarkers	7
Alcohol and disease	11
ZINC	17
Zinc sources and bioavailability	17
Zinc metabolism	19
Zinc functions	20
Zinc deficiency	21
Zinc excess	22
Zinc biomarkers	23
Zinc transporters	25
Zinc transporters in the lung	
MATERNAL OUTCOMES	
Zinc requirements during pregnancy	
Zinc deficiency and supplementation in pregnancy outcomes	
Zinc biomarkers in pregnancy	

Zinc transporters in pregnancy	36
Alcohol and pregnancy	37
Alcohol biomarkers during pregnancy	38
FETAL OUTCOMES	40
Alcohol exposure in utero	40
Lung development	41
Fetal alcohol exposure and lung immune response	42
Zinc deficiency and neonatal outcomes	43
Zinc deficiency and neonatal immunity	45
Zinc supplementation and neonatal outcomes	46
Alcohol, zinc and FASD	47
Animal models of alcohol exposure	48
Our model of fetal alcohol exposure	49
Newborn biomarkers of fetal alcohol exposure	49
INFLAMMATION AND PREGNANCY	51
Placental development and the effect of alcohol	51
Cytokines and pregnancy	53
Alcohol and cytokines during pregnancy	54
CHAPTER 3: ZINC INSUFFICIENCY MEDIATES ETHANOL-INDUCED ALVEOLAR	
MACROPHAGE DYSFUNCTION IN THE PREGNANT FEMALE MOUSE	55
Abstract	56

Introduction	57
Materials and Methods	59
Results	62
Discussion	65
CHAPTER 4: ZINC INSUFFICIENCY MEDIATES THE FETAL ALVEOLAR	
MACROPHAGE DYSFUNCTION ASSOCIATED WITH FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE	278
Abstract	79
Introduction	80
Materials and Methods	82
Results	85
Discussion	87
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED	
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN	. 101
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract	. 101 . 102
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction	. 101 . 102 . 103
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction Materials and Methods Results	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105 . 108
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction Materials and Methods Discussion	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105 . 108 . 109
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105 . 108 . 109
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract Introduction	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105 . 108 . 109 . 116
CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN Abstract	. 101 . 102 . 103 . 105 . 108 . 109 . 116 . 116

Clinical study	
LIMITATIONS	
Experimental studies	
Clinical study	
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3- 1. Study Demographics
Table 3-2. Macrophage characteristics
Table 4-1. Fetal data94
Table 5-1. Agreement between maternal self-report alcohol use during pregnancy and detected
fatty acid ethyl esters above positive cutoff in placenta of 80 mothers
Table 5-2. Study demographics
Table 5-3. Cytokine concentrations in all placental tissues
Table 5-4. Cytokine concentrations in placental tissues from patients that reported "NO" to
drinking during pregnancy classified by OLL + Stearate cutoff

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1. Intracellular zinc in AMs from non-pregnant mice73
Figure 3-2. Phagocytic index of AMs from non-pregnant mice
Figure 3-3. Intracellular zinc levels in pregnant and non-pregnant mice75
Figure 3-4. Phagocytic index in pregnant and non-pregnant mice75
Figure 3-5. In vitro zinc treatments improve phagocytic function and intracellular zinc levels in
AMs of pregnant mice that ingested ethanol prior to and during pregnancy76
Figure 3-6. In vitro zinc treatments improve zinc transporter expression in AMs of pregnant
mice that ingested ethanol prior to and during pregnancy77
Figure 4-1. In vitro zinc treatments restore intracellular zinc levels in AMs of pups exposed to
ethanol <i>in utero</i>
Figure 4-2. In vitro zinc treatments improve ZIP1 protein expression in AMs of ethanol-
exposed pups
Figure 4-3. In vitro zinc treatments improve ZnT1 protein expression in AMs of ethanol-
exposed pups
Figure 4-4. In vitro zinc treatments improve ZnT4 protein expression in AMs of ethanol-
exposed pups
Figure 4-5. In vitro zinc treatments improve bacterial clearance in AMs of pups exposed to
ethanol <i>in utero</i>
Figure 5-1. Summary of subject recruitment

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

In the United States, alcohol abuse affects nearly 18 million Americans and is the 3rd leading lifestyle-related cause of death [1]. Its economic costs exceed 223 billion a year [2] resulting from intentional or unintentional injuries, and morbidities and mortalities from cardiovascular, neuropsychiatric, digestive, respiratory diseases, and cancer [3], among other conditions. For women of childbearing age, 1 in 2 report drinking [4] and during pregnancy, 1 in 30 consume alcohol on either a frequent (7 or more drinks per week) or binge (5 or more drinks in one occasion) basis [5]. Alcohol exposure *in utero* is highly detrimental to the developing fetus increasing the risk for Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and other impairments [6]. Fetal Alcohol Syndrome is the most severe outcome [7-11] of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders and affects up to 2 per 1000 births in the United States [12, 13]. The majority of alcohol-exposed infants do not display the phenotypic characteristics of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, resulting in under-diagnosis from primary care providers. Mechanisms by which alcohol impairs functions of organs and systems continue to be elucidated.

Among other outcomes, alcohol exposure *in utero* increases the risk of extreme prematurity (<32 weeks gestational age) over 34-fold [14]. Because the neonatal immune system is not fully developed at birth, the newborn lung is not equipped to fight against inhaled antigens and environmental toxins [15, 16] and premature delivery augments these impairments and further increases the susceptibility of the newborn lung to lower respiratory tract infections. Fetal alcohol exposure not only increases the risk for premature birth and further exacerbates an already dysfunctional lung [17], it independently impairs alveolar macrophage (**AM**) function [18, 19] and increases the risk for sepsis in both term [20] and pre-term infants [21].

Furthermore, alcohol abuse is associated with zinc deficiency, which may become particularly deleterious during pregnancy when nutrient demands are high [22]. Zinc is crucial for the function of highly proliferative systems, like the immune system, and its deficiency affects the innate [23, 24] and adaptive [23, 25, 26] immune responses [27-29], increases susceptibility to infection, and augments existing infections [30]. With respect to the lung, chronic ethanol ingestion decreases expression of zinc transporters and zinc levels in the AM, resulting in impairment of AM phagocytic function [31]. Zinc transporter expression and function in the newborn lung has yet to be elucidated, and how zinc transporters behave in response to *in utero* alcohol exposure is also unknown.

The experiments and analyses in this dissertation intended to aid in understanding the association between alcohol exposure during pregnancy and the adverse consequences for the vulnerable preterm fetus, like an increased risk of respiratory infections. The dissertation was divided into experimental and clinical components. In the experimental part we examined how fetal ethanol exposure altered zinc homeostasis and zinc transporter expression in the newborn AM. In the clinical component, we examined whether *in utero* alcohol exposure of low birth weight infants resulted in inflammation of the placenta as reflected in the placental cytokine profile. The need to transition into human samples was necessary since it is difficult to obtain mouse placentas and more importantly the two species differ in placental structure and timing of development, among other differences, and results obtained from mouse placental tissues may not be directly applicable to humans. The following aims were addressed in this dissertation:

1. To establish the minimum number of weeks of chronic ethanol ingestion needed to perturb zinc homeostasis in the non-pregnant mouse and to examine if the zinc pools in the AM would be lower when ethanol ingestion was combined with the nutritional demands of pregnancy 2. To investigate whether ethanol exposure during gestation disturbed zinc homeostasis and zinc transporter expression in the newborn AMs and consequently impaired its immune functions

3. To examine whether *in vitro* zinc treatment would reverse the effects of alcohol exposure on AMs isolated from dams fed an ethanol diet during preconception and pregnancy or from pups exposed to ethanol *in utero*

4. To explore differences in cytokine profile in placenta from pre-term, low birth weight infants exposed to alcohol *in utero* with placenta from control pre-term low birth weight infants

In most studies of *in utero* ethanol exposure, the models involve initiation of ethanol ingestion at the point of breeding which does not represent the typical societal patterns where alcohol abuse and subsequent zinc depletion occurs before recognition of the pregnancy. In our model, ethanol ingestion started 3-5 weeks prior to pregnancy and continued throughout the pregnancy. We hypothesized that the combination of ethanol-induced zinc insufficiency prior to conception and the zinc requirements that occur during pregnancy would exacerbate zinc insufficiency in the newborn with fetal ethanol exposure. This would then result in decreases in expression of zinc transporter proteins, disruption of zinc homeostasis, and AM bacterial clearance in the lungs of pups. Additionally, we hypothesized that the negative effects could be restored by *in vitro* zinc treatments.

For the clinical analysis, I was fortunate to collaborate with Dr. Gauthier and her group examining fatty acid ethyl esters in placental tissue as potential biomarkers of alcohol exposure *in utero*. I focused on exploring whether the balance between pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines in placental tissues from a vulnerable population of pre-term infants born under 1500g differed in

the presence of prenatal alcohol exposure. The subjects enrolled in the study were recruited from Emory University Hospital Midtown and Grady Memorial Hospital in Atlanta, GA. We hypothesized that placental pre-term tissues exposed to alcohol during pregnancy would display an imbalance of Th-1 and Th-2 cytokines characterized by increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines when compared to unexposed preterm placental tissues.

FASD and other impairments resulting from intrauterine alcohol exposure are preventable and it is thus necessary to continue educating women on the importance of alcohol abstinence during pre-conception and throughout pregnancy. The findings of this study will be clinically relevant because zinc deficiency can be a co-teratogen with alcohol, rendering the already vulnerable newborn lung at further risk. Alternatively, dietary zinc supplementation could be an effective intervention in reducing risk and severity of lower respiratory tract infections in the highly vulnerable pre-term infant with fetal alcohol exposure. Novel strategies such as zinc supplements, in addition to other nutrients premature infants are lacking, may become particularly important in this era of antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

ALCOHOL

Alcohol and zinc deficiency

Alcohol abuse is often associated with nutritional deficiencies, which could be due to a poor diet, impairment in intestinal absorption, digestion, or changes in metabolic pathways [32-34]. Chronic alcoholics obtain at least 36% of calories from alcohol, with some reporting up to 50% of calories, often leading to neglect of other nutritional components such as fats, proteins, vitamins and minerals [32]. Long-term alcohol consumption is associated with zinc deficiency, which is thought to be due to inadequate intake and increased urinary zinc losses [35, 36]. However, a study in pregnant rats showed that urinary zinc excretion did not increase with ethanol ingestion [37]. In another study, rats fed an ethanol diet (36% of calories) for 8 weeks had similar urinary and fecal excretion rates as control rats, however when ethanol was combined with a low-protein diet, urinary zinc excretion was significantly increased [38]. Additionally, alcohol may impair absorption of zinc in the small intestine, however not all studies agree [37, 39, 40]. Given the extensive derangements and damage alcohol abuse causes in the host, from depletion of nutrients to increases in oxidation state, it is not surprising that alcohol abusers have a weak immune system and a higher risk in disease development than non-alcoholics. It is well known that zinc deficiency leads to impairment of both innate and adaptive immune response and continuous alcohol exposure may aggravate these effects. Important to this study are the effects of alcoholinduced zinc insufficiency on the respiratory immune response.

Alcohol metabolism

Alcohol is absorbed through the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract by simple diffusion. Alcohol is primarily metabolized in the liver (90%) via three pathways, 1. alcohol dehydrogenase in the cytosol is the leading route for ethanol metabolism oxidizing approximately 80% of ethanol, 2. microsomal ethanol oxidizing system in the endoplasmic reticulum and, 3. catalase in the peroxisomes [41]. All pathways result in production of acetaldehyde, which is converted to acetate in the mitochondria. The conversion of acetaldehyde to acetate is slow and in alcohol abuse there is often excess accumulation of acetaldehyde as a result, which can have various adverse effects on the system and interfere with metabolism of nutrients, particularly lipids, and contribute to liver damage [32]. Acetaldehyde is associated with damage of the colonic mucosa and liver injury [42] and has been considered as a culprit for the carcinogenic effects of alcohol in human studies [43]. Animal models also support clinical findings; rodents that inhale acetaldehyde develop respiratory tumors (reviewed in [44]), and the acetaldehyde-induced damage to hepatocytes enhances tumor proliferation [45]. Furthermore, excessive alcohol consumption leads to a range of metabolic abnormalities in hepatocytes including, lipid peroxidation, glutathione depletion, activation of hepatotoxins and carcinogens and accumulation of superoxide anions and hydroxyl radicals, all of which can explain liver carcinogenesis [46-48].

Alcohol is also metabolized by non-oxidative pathways (5-10%) resulting in formation of fatty acid ethyl esters (**FAEE**) and phosphatidylethanol. *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that when enzymes of the oxidative pathways are inhibited, alcohol metabolism by non-oxidative pathways increases [49]. FAEE concentrations formed from the breakdown of alcohol vary by tissue and cell type because of differences in FAEE synthesis and degradation, availability of free fatty acids needed to form FAEE, and FAEE carriers. FAEE synthase is widely distributed in tissues, with highest concentration in pancreas [50]. Alcohol consumption can be indirectly measured through analysis of enzyme activity and the toxic effects of alcohol on cells, or directly

through quantification of alcohol metabolites such as ethyl glucuronide, ethyl sulfate, ethyl phosphate, and fatty acid ethyl esters.

Alcohol biomarkers

Indirect biomarkers of alcohol consumption. Among the commonly measured biomarkers of alcohol exposure are liver enzymes (gamma-glutamyltransferase, alanine amino transferase, and aspartate amino transferase) which are elevated in alcohol-induced liver damage [51]. These enzymes have poor sensitivity in identifying early drinking, moderate specificity, and detection is influenced by the amount and frequency of alcohol consumed with an elimination time of 2-3 weeks [52]. Gamma-glutamyltransferase has the highest sensitivity among the liver enzymes measures [53], however it significantly correlates with alcohol consumption only in chronic alcoholics and can results in false positives from conditions such as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, obesity, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, among others [51, 54]. Alanine and aspartate amino transferases, similarly to gamma-glutamyltransferase, are not elevated by a single heavy drinking episode and have also been used as markers for chronic alcohol use [55].

Carbohydrate-deficient transferrin (**CDT**) is an isoform of transferrin that is deficient in sialic acid groups and is readily available as a clinical diagnostic test for alcohol use disorders [54]. CDT has moderate sensitivity and specificity and is a long term marker of heavy alcohol consumption with a half-life of 14-17 days [52]. Additionally, CDT can be a good marker for abstinence monitoring since it returns to baseline levels after ethanol cessation while the aforementioned biomarkers do not decline as fast [54]. CDT can result in false positives in patients with carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome, chronic liver disease, galactosemia, or yield no results in some patients even after excessive alcohol intake [52]. Moreover, CDT may

not be useful in women as values are less elevated than men in long-term alcohol consumption [56].

Another identifier of alcohol abuse can be the presence of macrocytosis, which is characterized by increased mean corpuscular erythrocyte volume (**MCV**) and along with alcoholic liver disease can account for more than 25% of affected cases in chronic alcoholics [57]. MCV can stay elevated for a long time after discontinuation of alcohol since the lifespan of red blood cells is 120 days, making it an insensitive marker in abstinence monitoring. Furthermore, MCV increases in other conditions such as malnutrition (vitamin B12 or folate deficiency), liver and hematological diseases, among others [54, 57].

Acetaldehyde-adducts form when acetaldehyde binds to tissue and blood macromolecules such as DNA, lipids, and protein, thus altering protein structure and causing mutagenic changes in DNA [54]. Additionally, acetaldehyde-adducts have shown to have immunogenic properties and antibodies to acetaldehyde-modified proteins have been developed [58]. A promising biomarker could be acetaldehyde-modified hemoglobin which has been shown to positively correlate with self-report drinking [59] and in the detection of alcohol abuse in women [60]. However, acetaldehyde-adducts as biomarkers of alcohol abuse have not been established and are currently used for research only [54].

A multi-marker panel may be a better approach to establish presence of alcohol consumption and additionally patterns of consumption. A study by Brinkmann and colleagues using a panel of 4 biomarkers (methanol, acetone+2-propanol, gamma-glutamyltransferase, CDT) measured in blood samples of alcoholics and non-alcoholics, reported that alcoholics could be distinguished from non-alcoholics with 93% sensitivity [61]. However, multi-marker panel examination may not always be feasible or affordable, and the need for biomarkers with high sensitivity and specificity and ability to distinguish between levels of alcoholism and occasional drinking remains high.

Direct biomarkers of alcohol consumption. Non-oxidative biomarkers of ethanol metabolism include measurement of ethyl glucuronide (EtG), ethyl sulfate (EtS), ethyl phosphate (EtP), phosphatidylethanol, and fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEE) in fluids, tissues, and matrices such as hair and meconium. EtG is formed by the conjugation of ethanol to glucuronic acid, mediated by UPD-glucuronyl transferases, and accounts for 0.02%-0.06% of ethanol metabolism [62]. EtG has been detected in blood and its derivatives, fluids, urine, tissues and hair (reviewed in [62]), where it can be detected for up to 8h in serum [63] and up to 31.5h in urine [64] after ethanol elimination. Confounding factors of EtG levels in urine include age, cannabis use, kidney disease and alcohol consumption within a month [65]. Additionally, metabolic disorders, physical activity, or conditions with impaired enzyme activity also influence EtG concentrations [62]. Even though EtG levels appear to be a promising biomarker of alcohol consumption, establishment of better positive cutoffs for EtG is crucial as levels of EtG in urine following mouthwash use [66], hand sanitizer use [67, 68], non-alcoholic beer consumption [69] or trace amounts of ethanol consumption (1g or 3g) [70], and use of baker's yeast and brewer's yeast tablets [71], have been documented to result in false positives because they fall above the commonly-applied cutoff value of 0.1mg/L [70]. EtG has also been measured in hair and concentrations can be influenced by type of solvent used to prepare the sample and by the film that covers the hair. Studies examining the relationship between EtG hair levels and alcohol intake report mixed results [62]. EtS is formed when ethanol conjugates to sulfate, mediated by cytosolic sulfotransferases [72]. Its detection in urine follows a similar detection window as EtG [72] and like EtG it can result in false positives with consumption of non-alcoholic beer and yeast or sugar tablets [69, 71]. EtP, in contrast to EtG and EtS, has a half-life equivalent to ethanol with a narrow window of detection, making it an insensitive marker of alcohol exposure.

Phosphatidylethanol (**PEth**) is formed in cell membranes only under the presence of ethanol in a reaction catalyzed by phospholipase D [73] and has a half-life of four days in whole blood [74] and can be detected 14 days after alcohol cessation in chronic alcoholics [75]. Under normal conditions, phospholipase D hydrolyzes phosphatidyl choline into phosphatidic acid but in the presence of ethanol, PEth forms because the affinity for ethanol is >1000-fold than for water [55]. PEth does not yield false positives in sober subjects with a previous history of addiction [76] and it is not affected by liver disease or gender [54]. PEth is not detected after a single dose of alcohol intake and can be a marker for identification of chronic alcohol abuse.

FAEE are synthesized in almost all tissues and are transported in the blood bound to albumin or incorporated in the core of lipoproteins. FAEE accumulation has been connected with pancreatitis-like injury and liver damage [77], as well as damages to the nervous [78] and cardiovascular [79] systems, since these organs/systems have the highest concentration of enzymes that synthesize FAEE [80]. The extent of damage to other organs remains under investigation. Blood FAEEs appear shortly after alcohol consumption and can be detected in blood at least 24 hours after consumption when ethanol is no longer detectable [81]. It has been reported that gender differences may exist in blood FAEE concentrations, with men having higher FAEE concentration than women possibly due to enzyme activity differences [82]. Furthermore, the type of FAEE accumulation may aid in distinguishing between episodic heavy drinking (binge) and chronic alcoholism. In a study that compared blood FAEE concentration in control volunteers given alcohol in a controlled setting (episodic heavy drinkers) with chronic alcohol users admitted to an alcohol detoxification center, chronic alcohol users had significantly higher serum ethyl oleate levels compared to episodic heavy drinkers [83]. Another study showed that total plasma FAEE concentration was 3.5-fold higher in patients with a history of chronic alcohol abuse compared to patients with a history of acute alcohol abuse, while plasma FAEE of control subjects were detected in trace amounts or not detected at all [84].

Since blood samples may not always be feasible in identifying alcohol intoxication in deceased persons, FAEE concentrations in *post-mortem* liver and adipose tissues have been investigated. In individuals who were intoxicated at the time of death, FAEE have been found to accumulate in pancreas, liver, heart and brain, while in chronic alcohol users in addition to those tissues, FAEE accumulates in adipose tissue, suggesting a storage site for these compounds [85].

Alcohol and disease

Alcohol consumption is a major risk factor for disease burden and contributes to 4% of total mortality in the world [3]. In the United States, alcohol abuse affects nearly 18 million Americans and is the 3rd leading lifestyle-related cause of death [1]. Alcohol consumption can result in injury and it modifies morbidity and mortality risk of several diseases including cardiovascular, neuropsychiatric, digestive, respiratory, and cancer [3]. Alcohol-induced or -related outcomes depend on type, pattern, and amount of alcohol consumed. Alcohol abuse encompasses binge drinking (4+ for women or 5+ for men drinks / sitting), heavy drinking (1+ for women or 2+ for men, drinks / day on average), or any drinking by pregnant women or underage adolescents [5].

Global disease burden and injury resulting from alcohol is ~5% with the percentage in men being 4x higher than women [3]. Even though men consume more alcohol than women [86], women experience alcohol-related problems at lower doses of consumption than men, especially in liver cirrhosis, cardiovascular disease and brain damage [87, 88]. Additionally, excessive alcohol use is associated with an increased risk for victimization and sexual assault in women [86]. Differences in blood alcohol concentrations between men and women following an equal dose of alcohol can partly explain the gender variances in incidence of disease and mortality risks [86]. Women are on average smaller than men, have less water per kilogram of body weight, and have less gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity, leading to higher blood alcohol concentrations when compared to

men (reviewed in [86]). Chronic alcohol use is associated with increased endotoxin levels in blood and liver which in large amounts can cause chills, fever, shock and may result in endotoxemia and acute respiratory distress syndrome [89]. Between chronic alcohol users, women have higher levels of endotoxins than men [90] and the increased risk in gut permeability observed can be partly explained by female hormones [89].

When discussing the effects of alcohol consumption, it is important to address effects of low alcohol consumption, which are thought to exert some protective effects against cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type II diabetes (T2D). The relationship between alcohol consumption and CVD follows a J-shaped curve [91], where low-to-moderate consumption of alcohol (5-10g/day) is associated with reduced risk of coronary artery disease when compared to abstainers. On the other hand, irregular heavy drinking (bingeing), heavy drinking, and the combination of low-tomoderate drinking followed by heavy drinking are associated with increased risk of hypertensive diseases [91-94]. Similar to CVD, the relationship between alcohol and T2D follows a J-shaped curve [95, 96] and is influenced by type of alcoholic beverage and by drinking pattern. For example, heavy drinking for 1-3 days increases risk for T2D but distributing the consumption of the same amount of alcohol over a week does not [97, 98]. On the other hand, the relationship between the type of alcohol consumed and T2D risk is more controversial with some studies finding a correlation and others seeing no correlation (reviewed in [99]). Even though alcohol consumption in low amounts could exert some positive effects, the detrimental effects alcohol has on disease and injury outweigh the benefits. Extensive studies in human and animal models continue to elucidate the negative consequences of chronic alcohol use and health outcomes and will be partially discussed in the succeeding paragraphs.

Alcohol and neuropsychiatric disorders As it pertains to neuropsychiatric disorders, alcohol abuse largely results in disease rather than death including depression, alcohol withdrawal syndrome, delirium and hallucinosis, seizures, and tremors [100]. Alcohol abuse has been directly

associated with depression but increased intake of alcohol can also result from environmental factors that may trigger depression, such as financial and family problems, job loss etc. A metaanalysis study found that the presence of either alcohol use disorders or major depression increased the risk of the other disorder by ~2 fold [101], with alcohol use disorders causing depression as the more plausible explanation [101, 102]. On the other hand, moderate alcohol consumption (5-15g/day) in adults (55-80y), specifically wine, may decrease risk of depression [103].

Alcohol consumption has been associated with occurrence of epilepsy and unprovoked seizures where the risk for epilepsy onset increases as the consumption of daily alcoholic drinks increases, and an average of eight drinks/day is associated with a 3.3 relative risk of epilepsy onset [104]. Causative pathways between alcohol and epilepsy occurrence continue to be explored. Delirium is another neuropsychiatric outcome observed with excessive, pro-longed alcohol consumption. Majority of alcoholics have thiamine deficiency, which has been established to cause delirium (reviewed in [105]).

Alcohol and cancer A causal, dose-dependent relationship between alcohol consumption and squamous-cell carcinoma of oral, pharynx, larynx and esophagus has been established [106-108]. Suggestions have been made that the type of alcohol consumed may have an impact on cancer risk in the upper aero-digestive system however, results have been inconsistent [108, 109]. Furthermore, inconsistent relationships have been found between alcohol and esophageal adenocarcinoma [110, 111], stomach [112-114], colorectal [115, 116], pancreatic [117, 118] and possibly lung [119, 120] cancer. There may be a dose-response to breast cancer risk and alcohol consumption [88], where with every 10g increase in alcohol consumption there is an 7.1% increased risk, irrespective of smoking status [121]. Additionally, a positive dose-response association has been established between alcohol and hepatocellular carcinoma [117, 122, 123].

Many mechanisms have been proposed on how alcohol consumption affects risk for different types of cancer. It has been suggested that variants in genes of alcohol and folate metabolism, and DNA repair may modulate risk [124]. Alcohol dehydrogenase (**ADH**), aldehyde dehydrogenases (**ALDH**) and cytochrome P-450 2E1 (**CYP2E1**) are important enzymes in alcohol metabolism. ADH has several polymorphic sites and alleles which vary in ability to metabolize alcohol (reviewed in [124]) and in cancer association risk [125-127]. Homozygous or heterozygous individuals for ALDH2*2 have build-up of acetaldehyde, hot flashes, nausea and increased heart rate [124] and are at increased risk for oral, pharyngeal, laryngeal, and esophageal cancer [128, 129], while the relationship between CYP2E1, folate metabolism, DNA repair genes, and cancer show inconsistent results [124].

Alcohol and liver Alcoholic liver damage can be directly caused by alcohol and indirectly by poor nutrition as a result of alcohol abuse and includes a range of conditions from steatosis, to steatohepatitis, fibrosis and cirrhosis, and ultimately hepatocellular carcinoma [130]. Liver cirrhosis is an advanced state of chronic liver disease where normal tissue is replaced by fibrous tissue and loss of functional liver cells is observed. In cirrhosis, the liver suffers permanent damage, leading to blockage of blood flow through the liver and prevention of normal liver metabolic processes. Not all alcohol abusers develop liver disease [131] even though the risk increases in a dose- and time- dependent manner of alcohol consumption [132]. A systematic review and meta-analysis by Rehm reported that alcohol consumption and risk of liver cirrhosis was higher in women than men for the same dose of alcohol and that risk increased in a dose-dependent manner, regardless of sex. Additionally, the risk for liver cirrhosis was higher when the end-point considered was mortality vs. morbidity [133].

Alcohol and lung The lung is also affected by alcohol consumption, contrary to previous beliefs that this organ was spared from the harmful effects of alcohol. Our group and many others have explored and established several pathways by which alcohol deranges the immune responses

in the lung and consequently renders the individual at high risk for development of acute respiratory illnesses. Alcohol abuse can independently increase risk for acute respiratory distress disorder (**ARDS**) ~4 fold [134]. Additionally, alcohol increases risk for other acute conditions such as trauma, sepsis, pneumonia, aspiration, pancreatitis, and upper GI bleeding, all of which can lead to ARDS development [135]. In a multi-center prospective study with septic shock patients, the incidence of ARDS was 70% in patients with alcohol abuse vs. 31% in patients with no alcohol abuse. Also, pneumonia was the source of sepsis in 60% of alcoholic subjects and 35% of non-alcoholics [136]. The link between alcohol abuse and pneumonia risk and occurrence has been studied [137-140] and reviewed extensively [141-143] and the mechanisms by which alcohol abuse damages the lung continue to be elucidated.

Alcohol affects the respiratory host immune response at many levels, from mouth to alveolus. Chronic alcohol use impairs salivary excretions and increases bacterial colonization in the mouth and pharynx [144]. Additionally, alcohol exposure impairs mucociliary clearance in the aerodigestive tract and adversely affects the pulmonary innate immune response through impairment of macrophage differentiation and function, decreased surfactant and chemokine production, and decreased neutrophil recruitment and further activation of adaptive immune response [145-149]. The airway epithelium in alcohol abuse is characterized by increased apoptosis of alveolar epithelial type II cells [150, 151], impaired surfactant production [152], activated matrix metalloproteinases [153], decreased liquid clearance and increased permeability [154, 155] all of which render the lung highly vulnerable to acute injury [152, 156]. So far, studied mechanisms include glutathione depletion [150, 152, 157], renin-angiotensin system [158, 159], granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor [160-162], and recently zinc [31, 163].

Glutathione (**GSH**) is synthesized in the liver and is essential for DNA and protein synthesis, detoxification of peroxides, removal of toxic substances, and control of oxidant-mediated induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines [164-166]. In the lung, GSH is concentrated in the fluid

lining the alveolar epithelial/air interface and is transported by alveolar type II cells [167]. Animal and human models show that chronic alcohol decreases GSH levels within the alveolar space and increases gluthathione disulfide resulting in oxidative stress and loss of alveolar macrophage (**AM**) and epithelial cell function [18, 152, 157, 168, 169]. Supplementation with glutathione precursors ameliorates the outcomes of alcohol abuse through reduction of apoptosis, increase of surfactant synthesis and secretion, prevention of matrix metalloproteinases activation, restoration of barrier function and protection against acute lung injury (reviewed in [135]). Another mechanism by which alcohol causes lung injury is through the renin-angiotensin system, mainly through one of its products, angiotensin II, which is increased in chronic ethanol-fed rats [158]. Additionally, alcohol modulates expression of angiotensin II receptors (type 2), which can increase cell cytotoxicity and lead to apoptosis in response to pro-inflammatory mediators such as TNF α , while inhibition of the type 2 receptor blocks TNF α induced apoptosis [159]. Furthermore, deficiency of the enzyme required to make angiotensin II is associated with less lung injury following an acute insult and treatment with an angiotensin II inactivator protects mice from lung injury [170].

In the recent years, granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (**GM-CSF**) has gained attention as a plausible mechanism by which alcohol exerts its negative effects on the lung. GM-CSF is secreted by alveolar epithelial type II cells and is required in growth stimulation of granulocytes and macrophages [171], processes mediated by transcription factor PU.1 [172-174]. Knockout GM-CSF mice display impaired alveolar macrophage function characterized by reduced clearance, phagocytosis, decreased surfactant expression and altered receptor expression [175, 176]. Chronic ethanol ingestion decreases expression of PU.1 and GM-CSF receptors in macrophages and airway epithelium of adult rats, leading to impairment in function of those cells [160, 161]. On the other hand, intranasal treatment with recombinant GM-CSF for 3 days

improves barrier function and fluid transport [162] and restores function in the affected cells [160, 161].

Even newer is the exploration of alcohol abuse and zinc status in the lung. *In vitro* studies with rat alveolar macrophage cell lines exposed to ethanol for 4 weeks show decreased expression of zinc transporters ZIP4 and ZnT1 and of zinc storage protein metallothionein (**MT**) -I in ethanol-exposed AMs [177]. Animal studies extend these findings and show that chronic ethanol ingestion decreases intracellular zinc levels in the alveolar space and reduces gene expression of zinc transporter ZnT4 and MT -I and -II in alveolar macrophages and epithelial type II cells [31]. Furthermore, these changes are associated with impaired phagocytic function in the macrophages [31]. Zinc supplementation to rats fed an ethanol diet (36% of calories) improves intracellular zinc levels, ZnT4 and MT I gene expression, and bacterial clearance, when compared to rats fed ethanol alone [31]. Recent research links zinc to GM-CSF transcription factors PU.1 and Nrf2, which are necessary in the immune response of macrophages. *In vitro* zinc treatments restore PU.1 and Nrf2 binding capacity in AMs, improve bacterial clearance, and restore balance of redox pairs in ethanol-fed rats, suggesting mitigation of oxidative stress in the AM of alcoholic rats [163].

ZINC

Zinc sources and bioavailability

Zinc is present in all body tissues and fluids and approximately 95% is within cells [178]. Majority of zinc is in skeletal muscle (63%) and bone (20%), and in much smaller amounts in liver, lung, skin, gastrointestinal tract and other organs [179, 180]. Plasma zinc accounts for 0.1% of total body zinc content, is replenished daily, and is under tight homeostatic control. Zinc can be obtained from the diet through consumption of red meat, oysters, whole grain cereals, pulses

and legumes, which provide 25-50mg/kg of raw weight [181]. Moderate sources of zinc (10-25mg/kg) are provided from chicken, pork or meat with high fat content, and polished rice, while fruits, green leafy vegetables, fish, roots and tubers provide <10mg/kg [181, 182]. In the United States, meats provide ~50%, pulses and cereals ~30%, and dairy products ~20% of dietary zinc [183] whereas worldwide, pulses and cereals are the major sources of zinc for most people [184, 185]. Fractional zinc absorption is twice as much in a high-meat diet (non-vegetarian) [186, 187] when compared to diet based on rice and wheat flour [188].

Zinc bioavailability is affected by diet composition. Antagonists of zinc absorption include nondigestible plant ligands such as phytates, some dietary fibers, and lignin [189]. Calcium can inhibit absorption of zinc alone, depending on the form administered, or further augment phytate inhibition of zinc absorption [190, 191]. The ratios of phytate:zinc and phytate×calcium:zinc are useful indicators in the reduction of zinc absorption and are thought to aid in identifying zinc deficiency [185, 191]. Phytates are found in whole grain cereals, legumes and in small amounts in some vegetables. They have a strong affinity for binding divalent cations and once they bind to zinc they form a stable and poorly soluble compound that inhibits zinc absorption. When phytate:zinc ratios are above 6-10:1, zinc absorption declines, and at ratios above 15:1, zinc absorption is less than 20% [182]. Protein intake, however, modifies the effects of phytate on the diet and improves zinc absorption. Examples include human milk vs. cow milk (casein rich), animal protein intake [192], and legumes such as phytate-free soybeans, white, and lupin beans [192-194]. Additionally, intestinal zinc absorption can be affected by competitive interactions between zinc and other ions with similar properties [181]. For example, high ferrous iron concentrations in iron supplements [195], copper intake, and intakes of folic acid [196] or ironfolate [197] affect zinc bioavailability. The competitive interaction between zinc and iron depends on the form of iron (administration in water and fasting conditions) and dose where very high iron:zinc ratios inhibit zinc absorption [198]. However, at realistic fortification amounts and levels found naturally in food, zinc absorption is not affected by iron or copper [182].

Zinc metabolism

Zinc is absorbed throughout the length of the small intestine, with the jejenum being the major absorption site, by carrier-mediated and non-regulated diffusional processes [199]. Zinc is transported into the portal circulation through transcellular processes carried out mainly by zinc transporters and through paracellular processes when zinc content exceeds transcellular capacity. Once in the portal circulation, absorbed zinc is primarily metabolized by the liver (30–40%) [180] and is released from the liver for delivery to other tissues, bound to α_2 -macroglobulin [199] and albumin [200]. Relative distribution of circulating zinc at any given time is 57% bound to albumin, 40% bound to α_2 -macroglobulin and 3% bound to other proteins or amino acids, such as cysteine and histidine [199]. Under normal conditions, zinc loss is mainly through fecal excretion (90%) which includes endogenous zinc (pancreatic and intestinal mucosal cell secretions) and unabsorbed dietary zinc, and very little is lost through urinary excretion (<10%). Zinc excretion depends on dietary intake; the higher the intake, the greater the excretion and the lower the absorption [201]. Events such as starvation and muscle catabolism increase zinc loss in urine, while activities like strenuous exercise and high temperatures increase losses through sweat.

Zinc has fixed tissue pools, which vary which vary little with reduced intakes, and a small exchangeable pool which is more vulnerable to the status of the nutrient and needs to be continuously replenished [178]. When zinc intake is decreased, the organism first reduces fecal losses [202, 203] and if the demands are not met, urinary losses also decline [204]. If these mechanisms losses cannot maintain zinc balance and there is continued insufficient zinc intake, metabolic adjustments ensue, such as release of zinc from small pools in tissues and tissue

catabolism. Since majority of zinc is in muscle tissue maintenance of zinc balance in muscle and skin are prioritized over bone, liver, and plasma [205-207]. In animal studies with fluctuating food intakes (starvation and food ingestions), during the anorexia periods muscle catabolism occurs to release protein, potassium, zinc and other components [208] and these events are mostly reversed with zinc repletion (reviewed in [178]). Since there is no readily available zinc stores that can be released in response to dietary variations, the exchangeable zinc pool, which accounts for ~10% of total zinc in the adult [209], becomes crucial and its loss leads to biochemical and clinical signs of zinc deficiency [210].

Zinc functions

Zinc is an important micronutrient that displays catalytic, structural, and regulatory functions [178, 211]. For example zinc is a catalyst for ~100 enzymes [212] such as alkaline phosphatase needed in bone formation, alcohol dehydrogenase required for alcohol metabolism, and carboxypeptidades and proteases needed for protein digestion, among other enzymes. Zinc displays a structural role in zinc finger motifs including those involved in cellular differentiation, proliferation, signal transduction, cellular adhesion or transcription [178]. Additionally, zinc maintains enzymatic structures such as in anti-oxidant enzyme Cu/Zn- superoxide dismutase [213, 214], which breaks down superoxide anion into hydrogen peroxide. Furthermore, zinc can prevent oxidation in zinc-finger transcription factors and reduce generation of free radical formation by inhibiting the binding of iron and copper to membrane and intracellular sites [215]. Zinc regulates gene expression; for example by promoting transcription of metallothionein gene through the metal response element-binding transcription factor 1 (**MTF-1**) [216]. In low zinc conditions, MTF-1 binds to zinc-sensitive inhibitor and in the presence of zinc, the inhibitor dissociates from MTF-1, allowing MTF-1 to interact with metal response elements at the promoter region of the metallothionein gene and activate its transcription. MTF-1 and zinc

regulate expression of some zinc transporters such as ZIP10 and ZnT1. In zinc excess, MTF-1 promotes expression of ZnT1 [217] and suppresses expression of ZIP10 [218] to maintain zinc balance and prevent excess zinc accumulation within the cell.

Zinc deficiency

Zinc deficiency can result from poor intake or from diseases and conditions that impair intestinal absorption or increase intestinal loss of zinc such as acrodermatitis enteropathica (**AE**), cystic fibrosis, inflammatory disease [219], sickle cell anemia [220], among others. Additionally, renal disease [221], liver disease [36, 222], diabetes [215], alcoholism [223], and stress [224] increase zinc losses through urine. Clinical manifestations of severe zinc deficiency include growth retardation, delayed sexual and bone maturation, skin lesions, alopecia, impaired appetite, and impaired immune system [225, 226]. Overt zinc deficiency is rare and mostly observed in conditions such as AE, which displays, among other manifestations, thymic atrophy and increased bacterial, viral, and fungal infections [227]. AE if left untreated results in death within a few years, and zinc supplementation rapidly improves manifestations of the disease [228]. Mild-to-moderate zinc deficiency is more common and can present itself in diverse ways since zinc is widely involved in the general metabolism.

Nutritional status plays a crucial role in the host defense response against an antigen or an environmental insult and it has been well established that zinc is essential for the functioning of the immune system. Even marginal zinc deficiency depresses the immune system response. Zinc deficiency increases susceptibility to infection and augments existing infections by affecting all cells and aspects of the immune system. Zinc deficiency results in skin lesions from damages to epidermal cells and to the linings of gastrointestinal and pulmonary tracts [183, 229]. The innate immune response during zinc deficiency is characterized by decreased neutrophil chemotaxis

[230] and phagocytosis, impaired natural killer cell activity and phagocytosis of macrophages [24, 227, 231].

Zinc deficiency causes atrophy of the thymus, the central organ for T-lymphocyte development and results in impaired T cell development and decreased cell count [25]. Zinc is a cofactor for thymic hormone, thymulin, which is secreted by thymic epithelial cells and in immature T-cells it induces differentiation markers [232], while in mature T-cells it modulates cytokine release and proliferation of CD8 and IL-2 [233]. Thymulin is dependent on plasma zinc concentration and its activity is affected even with marginal zinc changes (reviewed in [229]). In zinc deficiency, Tlymphocyte responses such as delayed hypersensitivity and cytotoxic activity are observed which are reversed with zinc supplementation [229]. Similarly, B-lymphocyte development in the bone marrow is highly affected by zinc deficiency with 50-70% decrease in precursor B-cells [25, 234] and increased apoptosis [235]. On the other hand, mature B-lymphocytes are less affected by zinc deficiency because, when compared to precursor B- and immature lymphocytes, they express higher levels of Bcl-2, a proto-oncogene that inhibits apoptosis when overexpressed [235, 236].

Zinc excess

There has been no report of zinc excess intake from food consumption and it may result from supplement use. Adverse outcomes include suppression of immune system (>300 mg of zinc/day), decrease in HDL cholesterol, reduction of copper, gastrointestinal problems (50-150 mg of zinc/day), diarrhea, loss of appetite, abdominal cramps, vomiting (225-450 mg of zinc/day) [212]. High concentrations of zinc *in vitro* can lead to inhibited cytotoxicity of natural killer cells [237], macrophage activation, mobility and phagocytosis (reviewed in [229]).

Zinc biomarkers

Since zinc is necessary for general metabolic function, it is unlikely that a single specific biomarker of zinc nutrition exists to cover all of its biological functions [178]. Indices for zinc status are debated and include measurement of zinc concentration in plasma, hair, blood cells, urinary excretion, and in physiological functioning of enzymes that require zinc. The most frequently used biomarker of zinc status is plasma or serum zinc, which is a component of the exchangeable zinc pool and is readily available for uptake depending on tissue needs. Confounders for serum zinc include diurnal variations [238-240], gender [241], age [242], food intake [243-246], starvation, pregnancy state [247, 248], steroid use [178, 184, 249], and hemolysis [250]. Additionally, plasma zinc concentrations are sensitive to decreases that occur from metabolic processes induced by infections [251], endotoxemia, carcinoma, malabsorption syndromes and chronic disease states. Plasma zinc concentrations decline rapidly in severe zinc deficiency in a dose-dependent manner – the higher the loss of body zinc, the faster the decline in plasma zinc [178, 252]. However, in low or moderate zinc deficiency, levels may remain in the "normal" range for weeks due to adjustments in excretion and absorption rates that reduce whole body zinc loss [178] despite clinical manifestation of zinc deficiency characteristics [253, 254]. Thus, plasma zinc concentration may not reflect cellular zinc status [255] since values within "normal" range may also include zinc deficiency. Even though plasma zinc is not a useful biomarker at the individual level, at the population level it is widely accepted as a suitable biomarker of zinc status [256-258], where zinc deficiency becomes a major public health problem when the prevalence of low plasma zinc levels exceeds 20%.

Other indices of zinc status include measurement of zinc in erythrocytes, leukocytes and neutrophils, and activity of zinc-dependent enzymes [203, 254, 259, 260]. Concentration of zinc in erythrocytes is 10x higher than plasma however, given that the lifespan of erythrocytes is 120
days, erythrocyte zinc does not reflect short-term changes in dietary intake or recent body zinc store changes [261]. Leukocytes contain higher amounts of zinc (25x more than erythrocytes), have a shorter lifespan than erythrocytes, and therefore could be considered more sensitive to zinc status changes than erythrocytes. However, studies are inconsistent in the usefulness of leukocyte zinc as a biomarker, possibly because of differences in cell type and mixtures of leukocytes measured [262, 263].

A promising biomarker is measurement of metallothionein (MT) concentration in serum, erythrocytes, and monocytes. MT is found in most tissues, with highest concentrations in liver, intestinal mucosa, and kidney and has a high affinity for zinc and other heavy metals, but primarily binds zinc under normal physiological conditions. MT is viewed as a "storage" zinc protein and binds 7 zinc ions at one time, three in its beta domain and four in the alpha domain. MT expression is induced by presence of zinc and its transcription is regulated by MTF-1. Furthermore, concentrations of MT in serum correspond with intake levels and reflect changes in hepatic MT levels [180, 264]. Erythrocyte MT decreases even in moderate zinc deficiency and this association becomes stronger as the period of zinc depletion is extended [265]. Measuring MT in different tissues may aid in differentiating between zinc decreases from redistribution due to infection, trauma or stress or from poor nutrition. As hepatic MT and plasma MT concentrations rise with stress or inflammation [266-268], erythrocyte MT does not [269]; whereas in the event of decreased zinc intake due poor zinc nutrition, both hepatic [270, 271] and erythrocyte MT [269] decrease. Lastly, measurement of monocyte MT mRNA is also promising, as levels may decrease even in mild zinc deficiency [272], increase with supplementation (low or high dose) [273, 274], and return to normal range once supplementation is discontinued [275]. Since there is no agreement for zinc biomarkers at the individual level and one cannot capture a range of deficiency, more than one biomarker should be used in assessing zinc status.

Zinc transporters

Uptake of zinc into the cells is regulated by zinc transporters and to date 24 mammalian zinc transporters have been identified belonging to two families, ZnT and ZIP. There are 14 mammalian ZIP (zinc-responsive transport/iron-responsive transport family; SLC39) transporters that are responsible for zinc movement into the cytoplasm from the extracellular space or from intracellular organelles. Additionally, there are 10 ZnT transporters (cation-diffusion family, SLC30) that export zinc outside of the cell or into cellular compartments [276]. The two families of zinc transporters often display opposite roles in zinc acquisition and intracellular distribution and both families are crucial in the maintenance of zinc homeostasis. Zinc transporters are involved in processes needed to maintain zinc balance such as tight regulation of absorption and reabsorption, excretion, and tissue zinc distribution [277]. Expression of zinc transporters is regulated by zinc dependent or independent pathways at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional level [278] and can be tissue specific.

ZIP family ZIP1 was first identified as a transporter in K562 erythroleukemia cells [279, 280]. Its mRNA is ubiquitously expressed in human tissues and subcellular ZIP1 protein localization varies by cell type. ZIP1 plays housekeeping roles in the cell [276] and is involved in maintenance of cytoplasmic zinc by transport from intracellular vesicles as well as from extracellular space. When zinc is limiting, ZIP1 protein localizes to the plasma membrane and in zinc replete conditions it translocates to intracellular vesicles [276, 281, 282]. ZIP1 protein is highly expressed in prostate cells at the basolateral membrane of prostate epithelia and is thought to be the major zinc uptake transporter in these cells. In fact, progression of prostate cancer is characterized by markedly decreased ZIP1 mRNA expression in prostate cancer tissue when compared to normal tissue [283], and correlates with decreased levels of zinc accumulation [284-286]. ZIP2 protein is highly expressed in prostate epithelia cells and it is downregulated in

prostate cancer as well [287, 288]. Additionally, ZIP2 is expressed in uterus [289], peripheral blood mononuclear cells and monocytes [290], cervical epithelium and is involved in zinc uptake. Regulation of ZIP2 expression by dietary zinc may be tissue and species specific. When human monocytic cell line or peripheral blood mononuclear cells are treated with TPEN (a zinc chelator) intracellular zinc decreases and mRNA ZIP2 expression increases, suggesting an attempt by the cell to restore zinc balance and also that expression of ZIP2 is regulated by zinc [290]. On the other hand, mouse ZIP2 mRNA expression is unresponsive to dietary zinc restrictions in the intestine and visceral yolk sac [280].

Similarly to ZIP1 and ZIP2, ZIP3 is involved in uptake of zinc and highest levels are found in testes [280]. ZIP3 is also expressed at the apical plasma membrane of prostate epithelial cells and is postulated to be involved in reabsorption of zinc from the prostate fluid. Protein expression of ZIP3, but not mRNA expression, responds to changes in zinc status, suggesting posttranslational regulation [282]. Additionally, ZIP3 is required for survival of mammary gland epithelial cells and its deficiency in mice results in altered structure of mammary gland, increased number of apoptotic cells, and reduced mammary gland weight [291, 292]. Homozygous knockout mouse models of ZIP1, 2 and 3 show no overt phenotypes if fed a diet adequate in zinc (reviewed in [293]), however, when dietary zinc is limited during pregnancy, embryos of ZIP1 and ZIP3 knockout mice develop more abnormalities than wild-type embryos [294].

ZIP4 is localized in the apical membrane of enterocytes and visceral endoderm cells in the embryonic visceral yolk [295] during dietary zinc deficiency [296, 297] and under normal zinc levels and repletion, ZIP4 is recycled *via* endocytosis into intracellular compartments [298, 299]. ZIP4 is responsible for zinc uptake from lumen of the gut to the enterocyte and its expression is regulated by zinc at the mRNA [280, 296, 298, 299] and the protein [298] level. Homozygous knockout of ZIP4 in mice is embryonic lethal [297]. In humans, mutations in ZIP4 are associated with acrodermatitis enteropathica (**AE**) [300, 301], a rare autosomal recessive disorder of

intestinal zinc malabsorption that displays the full range of zinc deficiency characteristics, which can be alleviated by oral zinc supplementation.

Given that oral zinc supplementation alleviates AE symptoms, other transporters must be present at the apical membrane of enterocytes involved in dietary zinc absorption from the lumen. Additionally, since not all mutations of AE map on ZIP4 protein, it was postulated that another protein was involved which was later named ZIP5 (reviewed in [293], [301]). ZIP5 is highly expressed in liver, kidney, pancreas, small intestine and colon [302] and unlike ZIP4, it is internalized and degraded in cellular compartments under zinc deprivation [299] and localizes at the basolateral surface in zinc replete conditions (reviewed in [295]). ZIP5 specifically transports zinc from the serosa to the mucosal part of enterocytes and it is suggested that it may be involved in enterocyte sensing of zinc status in the body [303, 304]. ZIP5 is regulated by dietary zinc status at the translational but not at the transcriptional level [295, 299].

ZIP6 is localized at the plasma membrane and is another zinc importer. It is highly expressed in tissues sensitive to steroid hormones such as mammary gland, placenta, and prostate [305] and its expression is stimulated by estrogen. HeLa and lung carcinoma cell lines have abundant expression of ZIP6. ZIP6 has been suggested to play a role in cancer progression [305-307] and has shown to be a reliable marker for estrogen-receptor-positive cancers and in identification of a subtype of breast cancer [308, 309]. ZIP6 is involved in the immune response, where its down-regulation after lipopolysaccharide (LPS) exposure is associated with decreased intracellular zinc levels and increased surface expression of MHC class II molecules in dendritic cells, which are involved in antigen presentation to T cells [310]. Exposure of dendritic cells to TPEN yields similar results as LPS exposure, while zinc supplementation or over-expression of ZIP6 inhibit LPS-induced overexpression of MHC class II molecules [310].

ZIP8 was previously named Bacillus calmette-guerin-induced gene in monocyte clone 103 (BIGM103) because the gene was induced in monocytes after exposure to Bacillus calmetteguerin cell wall skeleton [311]. ZIP8 is a zinc importer and is abundantly expressed in lung, liver, kidney, testis, brain, small intestine, and membrane fractions of RBC [312, 313]. ZIP8 mRNA expression increases during monocyte differentiation into macrophages and dendritic cells [276], upon T cell activation [314], and in the lung by inflammatory mediators such as TNF α and LPS [315] and may aid in zinc sequestration following activation of inflammatory pathway [316]. Knockdown of ZIP8 results in reduced cellular zinc content, impaired mitochondrial function in response to TNF α and increased cell death in lung epithelia [315] while induction of ZIP8 expression results in increased intracellular zinc levels and increased cell survival in presence of TNF α [315].

ZIP10 expression is regulated by MTF-1 and responds to dietary zinc supply [317, 318]. ZIP10 mRNA expression rises in invasive and metastatic breast cancer cell lines and is associated with metastasis of breast cancer to the lymph nodes. On the other hand, knockdown of ZIP10 decreases intracellular zinc levels and migratory activity of metastatic breast cancer cells [319]. Given that breast cancer is associated with zinc accumulation in breast tissue and increased expression of ZIPs 6, 7, and 10, future research should consider these transporters as possible drug targets.

ZIP13 is homologous to ZIP7 and localizes in the Golgi apparatus where it is thought to be responsible for zinc efflux from the Golgi into the cytoplasm [295]. ZIP13 loss causes dysregulation of genes involved in bone, tooth and craniofacial development (reviewed in [295]). Additionally, mutations in ZIP13 are associated with a subtype of Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (**EDS**) [320, 321], a spectrum of connective tissue disorders caused by mutations that affect collagen synthesis and modification [322], and manifest in progressive kyphoscoliosis, hypermobility of joints, and hyperelasticity of skin combined with severe hypotonia of skeletal

muscles [323]. The subtype of EDS associated with ZIP13 loss, in addition to classical characteristics of EDS, involves skeletal dysplasia, especially in the spine and hands [324]. Previously, it was thought that the EDS subtype caused by ZIP13 mutation was a result of excessive zinc accumulation in the endoplasmic reticulum. However, it was recently suggested that this EDS subtype may result from vesicular trapping of zinc and zinc deficiency in the endoplasmic reticulum rather than overload [325]. ZIP13 is also involved in TGF β signaling pathways, which regulate immune function, cell proliferation, epithelial to mesenchymal transition.

Lastly, ZIP14 is the closest homologue to ZIP8 and is highly expressed in liver and small intestine [326, 327]. ZIP14 mRNA expression is stimulated by LPS in mouse liver and accumulation of ZIP14 protein is observed in the plasma membrane of hepatocytes [327]. ZIP14 expression is stimulated during the acute-phase response and can lead to hypoferronemia because ZIP14, in addition to zinc and cadmium transport, has been shown to mediate transferrin-bound and non-transferrin-bound iron uptake into hepatocytes [328]. The acute-phase response is associated with hypozincemia and hypoferronemia in the host [329] possibly to reduce iron and zinc availability for the invading pathogens [330], resulting in zinc redistribution from the circulation to the liver [331].

Less research has been done on ZIP7, 9, 11, and 12. ZIP7 is ubiquitously expressed [308] and localizes in the Golgi apparatus where it transports zinc to the cytoplasm [332]. Protein expression of ZIP7 is suppressed under zinc-rich conditions however mRNA expression is not affected in a yeast mutant strain [332]. Recent research has explored the link between ZIP7 and breast cancer progression [309, 333], where ZIP7 may play an important role in zinc import into the cell, leading to activation of growth factors, and growth and invasion of cancer cells [309]. There is no information on expression, structure, regulation and roles for ZIPs 9, 11 and 12.

ZnT transporters 10 mammalian ZnT transporters have been identified. ZnT1 was the first discovered zinc transporter [334] and is ubiquitously expressed with highest expression in small intestine, kidney, and placenta [335]. ZnT1 is expressed mainly in the plasma membrane of cells where it exports zinc from enterocytes into the bloodstream [295, 336-338], aids in zinc recovery from the glomerular filtrate [336], and possibly participates in maternal zinc transfer to the fetus [217, 336]. In neuronal cell lines, ZnT1 cDNA localizes primarily to the plasma membrane with some punctuate throughout the cell [339]. Its expression is influenced by dietary zinc status with increases in response to zinc treatment or supplementation and decreases in zinc deficiency [337, 340]. Transcription of ZnT1 is regulated by MTF-1 [217], along with MT-I and ZIP10. ZnT1 protein has been detected in different molecular weights in tissues, suggesting post-translational regulation [337, 339]. Loss of function of ZnT1 is embryonic lethal in mice because maternal zinc transfer to the uterine and embryo is impaired (reviewed in [341]).

ZnT2, similar to ZnT1, is regulated by zinc status however, unlike ZnT1, ZnT2 localizes to endosomes and facilitates zinc transport from the cytoplasm into vesicles in response to high zinc conditions [342]. ZnT2 mRNA has been detected in small intestine, kidney, placenta, pancreas, testes, and mammary gland [335]. ZnT2 expression is increased in the small intestine during late gestation until weaning in neonatal pups and in the mammary gland where it is thought to play a role in zinc metabolism during lactation [343].

ZnT3 is exclusively expressed in brain and testes [344]. ZnT3 is required in loading zinc into synaptic vesicles and ZnT3 knockout mice fail to accumulate zinc in brain compartments [345]. Studies exploring outcomes in ZnT3-knockout mice show mixed results. Earlier studies report that ZnT3 knockout mice perform equally in spatial learning, memory, and sensorimotor activities and have no deficiency in fear learning [346]. However, recent research has found age-dependent deficits in learning and memory manifesting at 6 months of age in mice [347], defects

in associative fear memory [348], and complete deficits in contextual discrimination and spatial working memory [349].

ZnT4 was identified as the gene responsible for lethal milk disorder (*lm/lm*) [350] and its mutation results in a 50% decrease in zinc transport in milk [351]. ZnT4 is thought to facilitate zinc transport into secretory vesicles of exocrine glands, such as mammary gland, thus allowing zinc excretion by these glands [295]. ZnT4 mRNA is expressed ubiquitously, with highest concentrations in mammary gland [343] and ZnT4 protein is found in intracellular vesicles in several tissues including mammary gland, brain, small intestine, luminal and epithelial cells of alveolus and duct [350, 352, 353]. Regulation of ZnT4 by zinc is tissue dependent.

ZnT5 has two major splice variants [354]; splice A variant localizes to the Golgi [354] and appears to be involved in the delivery of zinc to enzymes entering the secretory pathway [355, 356] and B-splice variant has been found to be present at the apical side of CaCo-2 intestinal cell line and at the brush border membrane of human intestinal biopsies [298] where it is thought to act as an influx and efflux zinc transporter, unlike other members of the ZnT family [357]. ZnT5 mRNA is expressed ubiquitously in human tissues but is most abundant in pancreas [358], prostate, ovary and testes [359]. In insulin-containing β -cells, which contain zinc at the highest level in the body, ZnT5 localizes in the Golgi apparatus [359]. ZnT5 homozygous knockout mouse displays poor growth, lean phenotype, decreased bone density and weak muscle, and more than 60% of ZnT5-/- male mice die from bradyarrhythmias and have reduced ALP activity [359].

ZnT6 is most closely related to ZnT4 in sequence and may function in transporting zinc from the cytoplasm into the Golgi and vesicular compartments. ZnT6 mRNA is expressed abundantly in brain, liver, and small intestine, but protein has only been detected in brain and lung, suggesting regulation at the translational level with tissue specificity [360]. ZnT5 interacts with ZnT6 to form a complex that can transport zinc into the secretory pathway [361, 362]. Both transporters

are expressed in the trans-Golgi network and the ZnT5/ZnT6 complex is necessary for activation of tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase.

ZnT7, closest in homology to ZnT1, is widely transcribed in mouse tissues including, liver, kidney, spleen, heart, brain, small intestine, and lung with highest concentrations in liver, small intestine and spleen [363]. Protein expression is limited to lung and small intestine [276]. High expression along segments of the small intestine suggests possible involvement of ZnT7 in zinc absorption. ZnT7 localizes in the Golgi and may play an important role of loading zinc into secretory or membrane-bound proteins [363]. ZnT7 knockout mice display poor growth and decreased body fat composition that cannot be corrected with zinc supplementation, suggesting that ZnT7 plays an essential role in dietary zinc absorption and regulation of body adiposity [364]. ZnT8 is expressed in insulin secreting β -cells where it facilitates zinc accumulation into intracellular vesicles from the cytoplasm [365]. Additionally, ZnT8 may be involved in providing zinc for insulin maturation and storage processes in insulin secreting β -cells (reviewed in [295]). Many genome-wide association studies linking ZnT8 to diabetes have been conducted [366, 367] and the relationship continues to be elucidated.

Finally, studies examining the function and regulation of ZnT9 and ZnT1010 are scarce. Both transporters have been associated with fetal expression, with ZnT9 discovered in embryonic lung cells [368] and ZnT10 in fetal liver and brain [369]. ZnT9 may play a role in zinc redistribution during lactation as its protein expression increases 2-fold in lactating mammary gland compared to non-lactating tissue [370]. Contrary to previous belief that ZnT10 is restricted solely to fetal expression [295], a recent publication showed decreased ZnT10 mRNA levels in frontal cortex tissues from adult patients with Alzheimer's disease when compared to control subjects [371].

Zinc transporters in the lung

In the recent years, progress has been made on characterization of zinc transporters in the lung and it has been established that ZIP1, ZnT1, ZnT4 and ZnT7 mRNA and protein are expressed [214]. In human epithelial cell line, under normal conditions 8/10 ZnT members and 11/14 ZIP members are consistently expressed [315] and TNF α stimulation results in marginal changes of some transporters. ZIP8 is not detected in lung under normal conditions but its expression increases during host innate response against stress, LPS challenge or TNFa stimulation, resulting in increased intracellular zinc and cell survival in presence of TNF α , while inhibition of ZIP8 leads to decreased intracellular zinc, impaired mitochondrial function, and cell viability loss [315]. ZIP8 regulation does not appear to depend on zinc status. Similar to ZIP8, ZIP14 mRNA expression is up-regulated in response to LPS challenge and inflammatory stimuli such as IL-6, LPS+IFN γ and TNF α , in murine and human macrophages from the lung and spleen [372]. Additionally, ZIP14 mRNA expression is stimulated by NF- κ B inhibitors, blockers of calcium recapture, immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory drugs, and TPEN, while NF-κB, DNAbinding protein inhibitors (mithramycin A), and extracellular calcium-chelating agents inhibit ZIP14 expression [372]. Among the ZnTs, ZnT4 is the most studied in the lung. ZnT4 mRNA expresses in apical and basal surfaces of the epithelium [373], in alveolar epithelial type II cells, and macrophages [31]. In an allergen-induced airway inflammation, ZnT4 expression of mRNA and protein decrease and are associated with decreased levels of intracellular zinc [373-375]. In animal models of chronic alcohol exposure, mRNA expression of ZnT4 decreases in alveolar epithelial cells and macrophages along with decreased intracellular zinc [31].

MATERNAL OUTCOMES

Zinc requirements during pregnancy

During pregnancy, RDAs for many vitamins and minerals increase and suboptimal nutrition can compromise pregnancy outcomes and enhance teratogenicity of insults such as alcohol [376]. Proper zinc nutrition during pregnancy is essential for fetal development, growth, and immune function [377]. The amount of zinc required for pregnancy changes slightly depending on age group [212]. RDA for zinc in healthy, well-nourished, pregnant female rises ~27% when compared to non-pregnant counterpart [212] and the zinc requirement for pregnant women in developing countries may be greater than 43% when compared to RDA for non-pregnant, non-lactating women [378, 379]. Moreover, zinc requirements may be as much as 50% in vegetarians [212] whose diet is rich in phytates and grains and bioavailability of zinc is low.

Zinc deficiency and supplementation in pregnancy outcomes

It is estimated that zinc deficiency contributes to 0.4 million maternal and child deaths every year [380]. In developing countries, maternal zinc concentrations could be lower because of decreased intake (consumption of cereal rich diet instead of animal based foods) or because of chronic infections that reduce plasma zinc concentrations [215], ultimately resulting in lower feto-placental zinc transfer [381]. Maternal zinc deficiency during pregnancy exerts negative effects on both mother and fetus and may have long-lasting effects postnatally. Zinc-deficient animals have increased incidence of prolonged labor, hemorrhage, obstructed labor, and placental abruption [382-386]. Additionally, induced marginal zinc deficiency during pregnancy is associated with a higher incidence of stillbirths, abortions and delivery complications in rodents [387]. Timing and duration of zinc deficiency in the periconceptional period also influence embryo development. In rodents, severe zinc deficiency prior to pregnancy results in disruption

of estrous cycle and no mating may occur [215]. Furthermore, zinc deficiency in gestational days 0-10 results in 22% fetal malformation, while zinc deficiency in gestation days 0-12 increases the number of abnormal fetuses to 56% [388]. Human studies do not report clear correlations between zinc deficiency and pregnancy complications or maternal outcomes such as hypertension, amnionitis, and post-partum infections [389]. Additionally, studies examining the correlation between maternal plasma zinc levels and fetal outcomes such as premature birth and low birth weight yield contradicting results [389, 390].

Even though poor zinc availability during pregnancy has been established to have negative outcomes for both mother and fetus, human supplementation studies do not show consistent results or strong associations. In a systematic review by Chaffee and King using data from 16 trials, maternal zinc supplementation was associated with a reduced risk of pre-term birth by 14% [381] possibly due to decreased incidence or severity of maternal infections or alteration of circulating hormones that affect the onset of labor [386]. The findings by Chaffee and King support previous findings by Mahomed and colleagues [391, 392].

Zinc biomarkers in pregnancy

Some of the zinc biomarkers used during pregnancy include measurement of zinc concentrations in plasma or serum, leukocytes, erythrocytes, amniotic fluid, red blood cell metallothionein, and assessment of dietary intake [393-397]. Low maternal serum zinc or leukocyte zinc concentrations have been associated with prolonged labor, pre-term delivery, hemorrhage, small for gestational age babies, intrauterine growth retardation, low birth weight, and hypertension [381]. However, plasma zinc is affected by pregnancy state and it is not a good biomarker of zinc status during pregnancy. Plasma zinc concentrations decline throughout pregnancy [398] and at term are 35% lower than non-pregnant women [389], possibly due to hemodilution, decreases in

levels of zinc binding protein, hormonal changes during pregnancy [399], and active transport of zinc from the mother to the fetus [389, 400]. Red blood cell metallothionein has been assessed in pregnancy in several randomized controlled trials and trends toward increase in late pregnancy when compared to non-pregnant women with similar zinc intakes but does not correlate with other indices measured, except for erythrocyte zinc [401, 402]. Dietary zinc intake, often obtained through questionnaires, is another method used to assess zinc status in pregnant women. Caulfield *et al.* using the estimation that pregnant women consume on average 9.6 ± 1.2 mg Zn/d [403] reported that 82% of pregnant women worldwide may have inadequate intakes of zinc during pregnancy [404].

Zinc transporters in pregnancy

In mammals, the placenta is essential for maintenance of pregnancy and zinc is a crucial micronutrient needed not only for placental development but also for fetal growth. The rates of fetal zinc accumulation increase substantially in the last trimester [405] emphasizing the important role zinc transporters play in the maternal-placental-fetal interface. In murine placenta, mRNA expression of some ZnT transporters is observed with ZnTs 1-6 showing no changes and ZnT7 increasing with pregnancy progression [406]. Other animal studies demonstrate protein localization of ZnT1 and ZnT4 in placental regions where fetal and maternal blood circulate and nutrient exchange occurs, indicating involvement of these transporters in zinc transfer to the fetus [343]. Null mutations of ZnT1 result in embryonic lethality [217].

Of importance to the mammary gland is ZnT4 whose mRNA and protein expression increase during lactation [343, 350]. ZnT4 null mutation (*lm/lm*) [350, 407] in mice results in milk with 35% less zinc, decreased mammary gland size, and decreased milk secretion [408] that can be corrected upon supplementation or by fostering pup to a normal dam [341]. Milk from mice with

the *lm* mutation is not completely void of zinc [295] suggesting that other transporters may be involved in zinc transport into breast milk [353]. In fact, in cultured mammary cells and mouse lactating mammary gland, a greater than 2-fold increase is observed in protein expression of 6 ZIP transporters (ZIP3, ZIP5, ZIP7, ZIP8, ZIP10, ZIP11) and ZnT transporters (ZnT2, ZnT4, ZnT9), from which ZIP5, ZIP8 and ZIP10 are thought to be involved in zinc acquisition from maternal circulation [370]. With exposure to physiologically high levels of zinc, ZnT2 protein redistributes from the plasma membrane to intracellular vesicles of mammary gland epithelial cells, possibly contributing to sequestration of excess zinc from the cytoplasm [342, 409, 410]. Mutations in ZnT2 result in > 90% decrease in zinc secretion into the breast milk, leading to transient neonatal zinc deficiency [411].

Alcohol and pregnancy

Alcohol consumption during pregnancy leads to a range of growth and developmental disabilities classified as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (**FASD**) [9, 10, 412] and increases the risk for premature delivery [14, 413] as well as the perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with prematurity [414, 415]. Combined with the physiological changes in pregnancy, the increased nutrient demands can be further worsened by malnutrition, inadequate or lack of prenatal care, or by diseases or conditions that cause malabsorption. Alcohol-related zinc insufficiency or deficiency could be due to a combination of inhibition of absorption and poor diet [33, 41]. Given that 1 in 2 women of childbearing age report alcohol drinking and that nearly 50% of pregnancies are unplanned, alcohol consumption during pregnancy can be detrimental to maternal zinc supplies and to the developing fetus. In human studies, an inverse relationship has been shown between maternal plasma zinc and expression of fetal alcohol syndrome [416] and in animal models, the teratogenicity of ethanol during pregnancy is amplified when combined with a zinc deficient diet [417, 418], possibly due to induction of zinc transfer to the fetus [419, 420].

Alternatively, in metallothionein-knockout mice the negative effects of ethanol are reduced because zinc is not sequestered by maternal tissue and is made available for transfer to the fetus [421]. Additionally, zinc supplementation combined with alcohol exposure during pregnancy may protect against physical abnormalities, cognitive and spatial impairments associated with fetal alcohol exposure, reduce the number of stillbirths, and decrease the risk for postnatal mortality in pups exposed to ethanol during gestation [422-424]. Fetal outcomes will be discussed in detail later.

Alcohol biomarkers during pregnancy

Body water content increases significantly in pregnancy when compared to non-pregnancy state [425], therefore measuring blood alcohol content in pregnant women is not an appropriate indicator of alcohol consumption, which may be diluted as a result of increased body water and may not accurately reflect amount consumed. To date, there is not a laboratory test screening that can accurately identify and quantify prenatal alcohol exposure and clinicians have to still rely on maternal self-report even though it does not accurately depict consumption [426] or patterns of consumption due to difficulty to recall and because of the social stigma associated with drinking [427, 428]. In a study assessing agreement between maternal self-reported drinking and quantification of ethanol metabolites, no agreement was found between reported alcohol intake and FAEE concentrations in meconium (first stool of the newborn) [429]. Detection of alcohol in the breath, skin, urine, blood, and cord blood are inexpensive tests and can be used to detect acute alcohol exposure but because alcohol is rapidly eliminated from the body, these tests are not informative [426]. Similarly, acetaldehyde, a metabolite of alcohol, is removed quickly from the body and is insensitive to recurrent alcohol consumption.

FAEE as markers of prenatal alcohol exposure have gained momentum in the past decades and researchers continue to examine their correlation to alcohol consumption and patterns in different tissues and matrices such as meconium and hair. Measurement of FAEE in blood may not be useful for identification of prenatal alcohol exposure since it has a half-life of 24h [82]. The half-life of FAEE in human tissues such as placenta, hair, cord blood, and meconium is still unknown [426]. In mouse placental tissue, the half-life of FAEE was estimated to be 50-80h [430] and in adipose tissue of rabbits it has been reported to be 16h [431], however human placenta is different than these species and more similar to baboons and macaque [432]. Our group has recently investigated placental FAEEs as potential predictive biomarker of prenatal alcohol exposure and has proposed cutoffs for detection of alcohol-exposed infants in a population of premature newborns born <1500g using a combination of fatty acid ethyl esters (Gauthier 2014; manuscript under review).

FAEE synthase, one of the enzymes responsible for FAEE synthesis, can also provide useful information in regards to FAEE accumulation. In pregnant mouse models of acute ethanol exposure in late gestation, FAEE synthase activity is high in liver, placenta and heart with FAEE accumulation observed in adult, fetal, and placental mouse tissues [430]. In contrast, saline treated animals display complete absence of FAEE in placental tissues suggesting that formation of FAEE occurs only in the presence of ethanol [430]. Looking at specific fatty acids, ethanol-exposed mouse placentas accumulate higher concentrations of ethyl stearate, while the liver and heart accumulate ethyl oleate when compared to non-exposed placentas [430]. On the other hand, animal fetal tissues accumulate ethyl palmitate, ethyl stearate, and ethyl oleate [430]. FAEE synthase activity has been observed in human placenta as well and in the absence of alcohol no FAEE are formed [430]. Studies measuring differences in FAEE synthase activity in pregnant women are scarce [426]. Phosphatidylethanol, a product formed in the non-oxidative pathway of alcohol metabolism, may be a promising biomarker since it can be detected long after alcohol

cessation. Liver enzymes, which are more useful for detection of liver disease rather than alcohol exposure, may not be suitable biomarkers in identifying prenatal alcohol exposure.

FETAL OUTCOMES

Alcohol exposure in utero

As discussed above, 1 in 30 pregnant women consume alcohol on either a frequent (7 or more drinks per week) or binge (5 or more drinks in one occasion) basis [5]. Prenatal alcohol exposure leads to a range of growth and developmental disabilities classified as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (**FASD**) [9, 10] that are estimated to affect 2-5% of births in the United States [433]. Among mothers who consume alcohol, there is a higher risk that the baby will be born premature, hospitalized in the neonatal unit, and diagnosed with FASD when compared to those who do not consume alcohol [434]. The majority of infants exposed to alcohol *in utero* do not display the phenotypic characteristics associated with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (**FAS**) [435] and often are undetected by primary care providers. FAS is the most severe outcome of FASD [7-11] and ranges from 0.5-2 per 1000 live births in the U.S. [12, 13], where Northern Plains American Indians have the highest postulated FAS prevalence at 8.5 per 1000 live births [436]. In the U.S., the annual cost for FAS is estimated at \$3.6 billion/year with a lifetime cost of \$2.9 million/individual [6]. Infants with FAS are hospitalized an average of 30 days during their first year of life, while control infants are hospitalized 4.4 days [437]. The two leading causes of hospitalization for infants with FAS and FASD are otitis media and pneumonia [437].

Infants chronically exposed to alcohol *in utero* have a >34-fold higher risk of extreme prematurity (<32 weeks gestational age) than non-exposed infants [14] increasing the risk of the perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with prematurity [414, 415], however it is unknown what percentage of pre-term births is attributed to alcohol consumption during pregnancy. The

etiology of pre-term labor is complex and in most cases a precise mechanism on its initiation cannot be established [438]. Pre-term birth affects 12% of total births in the U.S. [439] and is the leading cause of perinatal morbidity and mortality in developed countries. In developing countries, the percentage of pre-term births is thought to be substantially higher. One of the major complications of pre-term birth is lung immaturity which contributes up to 75% of early mortality and morbidity in the pre-term infant [440].

Lung development

Lung development is divided into five stages: embryonic, pseudoglandular, canalicular, saccular and alveolar, starting at gestational day 26 in humans (day 9.5 in mouse) and ending in early childhood [440]. The last stage – the alveolar period – can additionally be split into two stages, alveolarization (36 weeks-2 years postnatally) and microvascular maturation (birth-3 years postnatally) [441]. Pre-term infants born at the end of canalicular period (weeks 16-26) are capable of surviving because their lungs are equipped with complete conducting airways and a vascular bed to permit minimal gas exchange [441]. During the saccular stage (weeks 24-38) saccules, alveolar ducts, and air sacs are formed, and surfactant is produced. During alveolarization, secondary crests form, which are essential for proper formation of mature alveoli, where the gas exchange occurs. However, these secondary crests are still thick, contain a capillary bilayer and are still not fully efficient in gas exchange. During microvascular maturation (birth-3 years of age), the intraalveolar septa that contain the capillary bilayer thin into a monolayer with mature blood vessels that increases gas-exchange surface area [441].

Human and mouse lung differ from each other in two aspects, the lung lobe pattern and time frame of lung development. The human lung has two lobes in the left and three lobes in the right, while the mouse lung has one lobe deriving from the left bronchus and four from the right. At birth, the full-term human lungs are mostly complete in development with partial alveolarization and microvascular maturation, which continues postnatally, while the mouse lungs are at the saccular stage at birth and are more primitive in function than human full-term lungs. The mouse lungs provide a suitable model in studying the premature human lungs, which, depending on gestational age of the infant, is similar to lungs of a full-term mouse pup.

Fetal alcohol exposure and lung immune response

The respiratory tract presents a route of exposure to environmental toxins or aeroallergens and can modulate immune maturation. After inhalation of foreign organisms, the response of the lung is coordinated by activation of the pulmonary epithelium and alveolar macrophages, which release cytokines and chemokines to recruit additional inflammatory cells to the airspace [442]. At birth, the newborn lung is not fully developed and its defense systems are immature [15, 16] and the newborn alveolar macrophage (AM), which initiates the first immune response of the lung against foreign particles [443] is not as well equipped as adult macrophages for immune functions such as chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and bacterial killing [15, 444]. Pre-term delivery augments these impairments [445] and further increases the susceptibility of the newborn lung to respiratory syncytial virus which can cause lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI). LRTI are further associated with an increased risk of respiratory morbidities such as pneumonia and bronchiolitis [446], resulting in more frequent hospitalizations and longer and more severe episodes of infections than term infants, and even death. Additionally, severe LRTI in infancy is thought to be associated with wheezing [447-449] and asthma [450-452] in childhood and in adulthood by mechanisms that are still being explored. Fetal alcohol exposure not only increases the risk for premature birth, it further exacerbates an already dysfunctional lung through alteration of lung development [453, 454] and induction of oxidative stress which results in arrested alveolarization and vascular development [455]. This additional impairment of AM function [17,

456, 457] increases the risk of pulmonary infections [19] in animal models of fetal alcohol exposure. The AM impairments observed in animal models are supported by clinical studies where alcohol exposure *in utero* increases risk of infection in both pre-term [21] and term [20] infants.

Zinc deficiency and neonatal outcomes

A balanced nutrition during pregnancy is necessary for a successful pregnancy and extensive studies have addressed the importance of nutrition in proper fetal growth and development. In general, the fetus adapts for survival taking most nutrients it needs, regardless of maternal nutrition status and stores, except in severe nutrient deficiencies when maternal stores are already depleted. Chronic alcohol consumption, as previously mentioned, affects the status of many nutrients directly through inhibition of absorption from the small intestine and indirectly through poor diet and alcohol-induced conditions that affect the liver and pancreas. Therefore, chronic alcoholics that are pregnant are at great risk for complications and adverse fetal outcomes because the demands for many nutrients are higher during pregnancy and the maternal stores may be inadequate for the extra demands [22]. During the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} trimesters, there is fetal accumulation of fat, iron, calcium and phosphorus and the shorter the gestational age at birth, the higher the nutrient deficiencies will be. Deficiencies in protein and energy in the pre-term infant accumulate fast since parenteral and enteral nutrition do not match placental nutrient delivery [458, 459]. Cord blood of pre-term infants is characterized by decreased total protein and fat, ferritin, iron, selenium, calcium, magnesium and zinc [458]. Complete nutrition is crucial for proper fetal development and in human populations, deficiency of one nutrient is often associated with deficiencies in other nutrients, however the overall vitamin and mineral requirements for proper birth and development, aside from zinc, are out of the scope of this study and will not be discussed extensively.

Zinc is the most widely studied microelement in infant feeding because it is an essential cofactor in approximately 300 enzyme-dependent processes involved in immunity, growth, cell differentiation, and metabolism [215, 460]. In studies of global disease burden for 2010, one of the key risk factors for death in early infancy was serious bacterial infections with links to zinc insufficiency [461-464]. Another leading risk factor was alcohol use [461], which is also a known risk factor for zinc insufficiency. Alcohol-related zinc deficiency is exacerbated and becomes deleterious during pregnancy when nutrient demands are high [22, 376]. Furthermore, a poor diet results in a maternal-fetal environment in which the teratogenicity of insults such as alcohol become amplified and the risk of FASD and prematurity is increased [376, 416].

Zinc nutriture has been linked with the development of the nervous system because zinc is critical for zinc-finger proteins required for neurotransmission, zinc-dependent neurotransmitters [465, 466], and productions of thyroid hormones [467]. Offspring of rhesus monkeys deprived of zinc during the third trimester have alterations in structure and migration of neuronal cells, and as a result, are not as active and explore less in early weaning period when compared to control offspring [468]. Additionally, marginal or moderate zinc deficiency in rhesus monkeys has adverse outcomes on fetal activity pattern, leads to lower growth rate and impairments in development of motor and reflex patterns in the first year of life, and also in altered behavior patterns during infancy and adolescence [469-472]. Epidemiological studies indicate a correlation between zinc deficiency and congenital malformations, which can be ameliorated with oral zinc supplementation [400, 473, 474]. However, controlled clinical studies exploring a causal relationship between zinc deficiency and occurrence of malformations such as neural tube defects are few and often report conflicting results [475, 476].

Additionally, the link between maternal zinc status and fetal growth and development parameters such as birth weight, prematurity, head circumference, crown-heel length yield contradictory results with some studies finding an association, and others not [395, 477-479]. In rhesus

monkeys, maternal zinc deficiency during pregnancy is associated with increased occurrence of still-births, abortions, delivery complications, and lower birth weight [387]. Furthermore, marginal zinc deprivation during pregnancy in rhesus monkeys leads to growth retardation at birth or at one month of age [471] and lower body weight during juvenile period [480] that continues into adolescence [470]. In humans, perinatal zinc deficiency is not well studied, however many supplementation studies have been conducted and will be discussed in further sections.

Zinc deficiency and neonatal immunity

It is well established that zinc deficiency suppresses the immune system and lack of zinc can be especially harmful during gestation, where even marginal perturbations in maternal zinc status and in the maternal immune system can have profound effects for development and specifically for the fetal immune system [229, 481], which starts to develop *in utero* and continues to mature through infancy and childhood. Environmental factors such as malnutrition, infection, or alcohol can have enormous consequences for the fetal immune system particularly if exposure occurs during critical periods when precursor cells are forming (4-7 weeks gestation for myeloid-derived cells such as macrophages) [482]. Prenatal zinc deficiency is associated with depression of the innate immune response characterized by decreased chemotaxis and phagocytosis of neutrophils [483]. Moreover, gestational zinc deficiency in animal models leads to reduced growth of spleen, thymus and lung, at a greater extent than other organs such as heart, kidney, liver, or brain, while cross-fostering zinc deprived progeny to control dams improves growth of most organs, including lung [484].

Zinc deprivation leads to decreased gamma-globulin production, depressed mitogenesis of peripheral blood monocytes, and reduced neutrophil function [485]. Not all studies of gestational

zinc deficiency report similar patterns in reduction of immunoglobulin production. In some studies, IgM is decreased by prenatal zinc deficiency, but not IgA [485], while others report decreases in IgA, IgM and IgG2a that persist into adulthood [24, 28, 229, 481]. During development of fetal immunity, certain B-lymphocytes produce antibodies of IgA and IgM isotypes that recognize bacterial polysaccharides and other common pathogens [229] and are thought to provide an early line of defense for the naïve neonatal immune system. Consequently, suppression of IgA and IgM may lead to an altered antibody response against bacteria that can continue for generations [229]. Another study reported that even though IgM numbers did not differ between adult mice whose mothers had been moderately zinc deprived, the repertoire of the antigens the antibodies recognized was altered [229]. Also, zinc deficiency may affect placental transfer of antibodies during last trimester of pregnancy, which unlike natural antibodies, recognize a greater diversity of antigens with high specificity [229].

Zinc supplementation and neonatal outcomes

Randomized controlled trials studying the effects of prenatal zinc supplementation on birth weight do not always agree. In one systematic review, 13/17 studies found no association, 3/17 reported a positive association, and 1/17 negative association between prenatal supplementation and birth weight [486]. Others report no significant associations between prenatal zinc supplementation and head circumference, birth weight and length [381, 391, 400]. Additionally, fetal growth does not consistently show improvement with zinc supplementation in human studies [381, 391, 400].

In a randomized controlled trial in Bangladeshi women, zinc supplementation during pregnancy did not improve growth and neurobehavioral development at 13 month of age [487]. However, the intervention did not involve an adequate diet to meet lactation and infant needs and it cannot

be concluded that zinc supplementation was not beneficial when the overall nutritional status of the infant was poor. In contrast, a randomized controlled trial in Peruvian women concluded that prenatal zinc supplementation at 28 weeks gestation to zinc deficient pregnant women improved fetal neurobehavioral development *in utero* [488, 489], suggesting that timing of supplementation and when neurobehavioral development is measured may yield different results. Other studies have found no association between zinc supplementation and visual or auditory scores, sequential memory, or gross motor scale scores at 4-5 years of age [490, 491]. In the aforementioned randomized controlled trial in Bangladeshi women [487], zinc supplementation to zinc deficient mothers decreased risk of diarrhea in low birth weight infants but not in normal weight infants [492]. Other studies support that prenatal zinc supplementation may reduce diarrhea incidence in infants 6-13 months of age [492-494] suggesting that, *in utero*, neonatal immunity development may be favored over fetal growth [381].

Alcohol, zinc and FASD

The outcomes of fetal alcohol exposure can differ in each infant since differences in amount, pattern, duration of alcohol exposure, ethnicity, and diet may differ in each pregnant woman consuming alcohol. Alcohol affects the status of many nutrients such as folate, cobalamin, iron, vitamin A, and zinc, all of which are needed for proper fetal brain development and overall growth, and the teratogenic effects of alcohol *in utero* are more severe when the diet is poor [376]. Zinc deficiency during embryonic development leads to abnormal nucleic acid metabolism and protein synthesis, impaired cell migration and signaling, and increased oxidative stress, among other derangements [376]. Animal models show an increase in apoptotic cells in zinc-deficiency is supported by animal and human studies [376, 417, 418]. Additionally, an inverse relationship between maternal plasma zinc and FAS expression has been reported [416].

One of the mechanisms by which alcohol exposure *in utero* results in fetal toxicity is hypothesized to be mediated through the induction of the acute-phase response which triggers maternal hepatic metallothionein synthesis leading to maternal liver zinc sequestration and decreased feto-placental zinc transfer [419, 420]. In animal models, ethanol-treated dams with normal metallothionein expression (MT+/+) have higher liver zinc sequestration and decreased plasma zinc when compared to metallothionein-null (MT -/-) ethanol-treated dams [421]. Consequently, MT +/+ ethanol-treated dams transfer less zinc to their fetus when compared to saline groups (MT +/+ and MT -/-) or ethanol-fed MT -/- [421]. Offspring exposed to ethanol *in utero* form MT +/+ dams [495].

Zinc supplementation combined with alcohol exposure during pregnancy may protect against physical abnormalities, cognitive and spatial impairments associated with fetal alcohol exposure, reduce the number of stillbirths, and decrease the risk for postnatal mortality in offspring exposed to ethanol during gestation [422-424]. In mouse models, even a subcutaneous injection of zinc mid-gestation in conjunction with ethanol administration protects from external abnormalities and the negative pregnancy outcomes seen in ethanol-fed mice with no zinc treatment [496]. However, even though this finding is exciting, it is hardly applicable in a clinical setting.

Animal models of alcohol exposure

In most non-pregnant animal adult models of chronic ethanol ingestion where blood alcohol level (**BAC**) reaches 0.08% [18] (legal intoxication level in the USA), ethanol comprises 36% of calories, which is comparable to the alcohol calories consumed by otherwise healthy alcoholics. Ethanol can be administered in the diet [31, 457] or water [497, 498], by injection [453, 499, 500], or abomasal cannulation [501], mostly in rodent [17, 456, 457, 502] and sheep [501, 503,

504] models. Many animal models of fetal alcohol exposure have been established, which range from partial [453, 499, 501, 503, 505] to full ethanol exposure throughout gestation [457] with most studies initiating fetal alcohol exposure after conception [17, 502]. In order to maintain the pregnancy, ethanol-derived calories constitute 25% rather than 36% of total calories consumed, resulting in a blood alcohol concentration of $0.05 \pm 0.01\%$ [17]. Our laboratory has shown that this level of ethanol ingestion during gestation results in compromised pulmonary immune function in the newborn pups without pregnancy loss or distress [19, 457].

Our model of fetal alcohol exposure

Alcohol consumption pre-conception is strongly associated with drinking during pregnancy [506]. In most studies of *in utero* ethanol exposure, the models involve initiation of ethanol ingestion at the point of breeding. However, this model does not recapitulate the zinc insufficiency that occurs with chronic ethanol ingestion prior to conception. Women who abuse alcohol prior to pregnancy could have decreased zinc homeostasis at the time of conception when compared to women who do not consume alcohol. Continued alcohol consumption during pregnancy may then exacerbate maternal zinc insufficiency. In order to develop a better understanding of the effects of alcohol-induced zinc insufficiency prior to conception, we established a mouse model where chronic ethanol ingestion by the dams started prior to conception and continued for the duration of pregnancy.

Newborn biomarkers of fetal alcohol exposure

Since newborns exposed to alcohol *in utero* have a high risk of being born pre-term and experiencing post-natal complications, it is important to develop markers that are non-invasive yet have high sensitivity and specificity. In the recent years, measurement of FAEE in meconium has been validated in humans as a sensitive biomarker of heavy alcohol exposure in second and

third trimesters of pregnancy [427]. Maternal FAEEs do not cross the placenta but alcohol can easily cross the placenta and FAEE synthesized in neonatal matrices represent fetal production [507]. FAEE accumulate in tissues and fluids [508] and meconium, which begins to form in the fetal intestine with the swallowing of amniotic fluid at 15 weeks [508] and accumulates FAEE, providing a wide window of detection for prenatal alcohol exposure [426]. Meconium FAEEs have also been detected in infants from abstaining mothers however, concentrations are much lower than exposed infants and high sensitivity and specificity of detection can be obtained when excluding certain FAEEs (lauric and myristic acid ethyl esters) that are present at measurable amounts in non-exposed infants and after adjusting the positive cutoff value to 2nmol total FAEE/mg [428]. The link between meconium FAEE and *in utero* alcohol exposure continues to be elucidated and since pregnant women that consume alcohol during pregnancy are not likely to admit to drinking, the positive predictive value between the self-report and biomarker being tested is low [429]. Differences such as uneven accumulation of FAEE in meconium, genetic variations in alcohol metabolism, and illnesses or conditions that may affect FAEE, may all contribute to the differences observed between prenatal alcohol exposure and meconium FAEE concentrations [426]. On the other hand, meconium FAEEs have shown to be useful biomarkers in identifying infants not exposed to alcohol with a negative predictive value as high as 99% between self-report and FAEE [509].

In animal studies of late ethanol exposure, total meconium FAEE (palmitate, linoleate, oleate, and stearate) is significantly higher in ethanol-exposed pre-term fetuses when compared to controls, at a much lower positive cutoff value than in human studies and a higher specificity and sensitivity of fetal ethanol exposure detection, further supporting that maternal self-report is a poor indicator of alcohol consumption in pregnancy [508]. Ethyl oleate, linoleate, linolenate, palmitate and sterate are among the most used fatty acid ethyl esters [427, 428, 430, 509-512]. High concentrations of FAEE in meconium of ethanol-exposed fetuses correspond with other

derangements often observed in ethanol-exposed animals such as collagen deposition in the lung and decreased number of nephrons in the kidney [508]. Additionally, meconium FAEE levels have been associated with decreased mental and psychomotor development at 6, 12, and 24 months of age [511]. To date, most human studies examining FAEE as biomarkers of alcohol exposure *in utero* are done in full-term infants [507, 509, 513] while limited research has focused on the premature infant.

Additional neonatal biomarkers include measurement of other ethanol metabolites in meconium such as EtG and EtS. The methods for EtG and EtS measurements in meconium have been recently validated [514, 515] and studies show that EtG in meconium can identify true cases of prenatal alcohol exposure while EtS has less sensitivity [516, 517]. Further studies are needed to establish EtG as a marker for heavy alcohol exposure *in utero*.

INFLAMMATION AND PREGNANCY

Placental development and the effect of alcohol

The placenta acts primarily to protect and transport nutrients and oxygen to the fetus [518]. Human placenta starts to develop at day 6 or 7 post-conception, but the fetal-placental-maternal circulation is not established until the 10th week of pregnancy [518]. When compared to animal models, the human placenta resembles certain primate species such as macaque and baboons [432, 519] and differs substantially from mouse placenta in mode of implantation, presence of a prominent yolk sac placenta in the mouse, placental hormones, gestational period (19 days in mouse vs. 270 days in humans), and pup development at birth [519]. However, mouse and human placentas share similar cell types and genes that control placental development [519, 520] and some anatomical similarities and analogous functions have been found between these two species [521].

Nutrient transport across the placenta can be through passive or facilitated diffusion, active transport, or pinocytosis, and the amount and speed of transport of different compounds is dependent on compound characteristics, such as weight, charge, and lipid-solubility and also on composition of the maternal-fetal circulation, including surface area of the exchange membrane, maternal blood flow, and blood pressure in fetal capillaries [518]. Additionally, it has been established that placenta can metabolize a variety of active molecules as it contains several cytochrome P450s that are responsible for detoxification of drugs and toxins [522]. It is well recognized that alcohol passes through the placenta and affects fetal growth, development, and the fetal immune system [420, 523]. Placenta can metabolize alcohol via oxidative pathways, however its cytosol enzyme activity for acetaldehyde is nearly 100-fold less than the liver [524]. Placenta also metabolizes alcohol through non-oxidative pathways where ethanol conjugates with free fatty acids. In animal models, chronic ethanol exposure compromises placental circulation and nutrient exchange by preventing expansion of maternal uterine blood vessels and by impairing placentation and placental development [525]. Additionally, alcohol exposure induces oxidative stress, reduces placental weight and birth weight, and increases risk for small-forgestational age [524].

The decrease in zinc availability in the newborn alveolar macrophage can be a result of complications on the maternal side, placental interface, or neonatal end. Additionally, alcohol may affect maternal-placental-fetal transfer by altering zinc transporter expression in the placental surface or by inducing an inflammatory state in the placenta that impairs zinc movement to the fetus. In this study we focused in characterization of cytokine profiles in human placental tissues from a pre-term population exposed to alcohol *in utero*.

Cytokines and pregnancy

A successful pregnancy is characterized by a balance of pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines which play an integral role in implantation, placental growth and development, and pregnancy maintenance [526]. Cytokines are mainly, but not exclusively, immunoregulatory proteins produced by immune cells in response to an external stimulus and they affect immune cell differentiation and function [526]. The placenta and its membranes produce a variety of cytokines throughout gestation. During the pre-implantation period, the conceptus secretes an abundant variety of cytokines, hormones, and other unknown molecules [527] while upon maternal recognition of pregnancy, there is a shift to a predominantly T-helper 2 (Th2)- cells profile [528] mediated in part by secretion of IL-10 by decidual leukocytes, which inhibits proliferation and secretion of T-helper 1 (Th1), and production of IL-4 by human cytotrophoblasts, which promotes Th2 differentiation [527]. In early pregnancy, human chorionic gonadotropin and human placental lactogen are important polypeptides indicative of trophoblast differentiation and their production is stimulated by IL-1β, IL-6, TNFa and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor, respectively [529]. On the other hand, labor is characterized by an increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and a reduction in anti-inflammatory cytokines, to facilitate inflammatory processes associated with parturition [529].

Maintaining the Th1/Th2 ratio is of outmost importance as disruptions in this balance lead to maternal and fetal complications, such as pre-term labor, preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. In extraplacental membranes of pre-term deliveries, increases in IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8 compared to term deliveries have been reported [530], while IL-4 abundance in fetal membranes and uterine lining does not differ from term deliveries [531]. Preeclampsia is characterized by edema, hypertension, proteinuria and an increased placental production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-2, TNF α , and superoxide production, and decreases in placental IL-10 and IL-8 production (reviewed in [529]). Additionally, maternal conditions such as obesity

and gestational diabetes are associated with dysregulation of metabolic, vascular and cytokine pathways and result in increased local production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and $TNF\alpha$ [532].

Alcohol and cytokines during pregnancy

Exposure to high levels of alcohol can disrupt cytokine functions and delay onset of humoral and cell-mediated immunity [533]. In pregnancy, exposure to alcohol can increase pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in first trimester human-derived trophoblast cell line leading to fetal immune dysfunction which is further exacerbated by addition of lipopolysaccharides [534]. Additionally, chronic alcohol pregnant users and their infants have significantly increased cytokine concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α in blood and cord blood, respectively, while moderate alcohol consumption does not significantly alter cytokine levels [533].

Placental transfer of nutrients largely impacts fetal growth and has been linked with lifelong health outcomes for the fetus [535], who relies heavily on the placenta for nutrient transfer, including zinc. Maternal alcohol consumption impairs placental transport of nutrients (reviewed in [524]). In mouse models, acute ethanol exposure causes placental malfunction by increasing permeability, decreasing thickness of barrier, and interfering with placental barrier interaction, suggesting a route for alcohol-induced decrease of nutrient transfer [536]. In human trophoblast cell lines or in a single cotyledon human term placental models, ethanol exposure for 48h and 4h, respectively, did not reduce zinc transfer or uptake [537] however, given the short exposure time in this study it cannot be ruled out that chronic alcohol exposure may impair placental zinc transfer *via* direct alteration of zinc transporter expression or by inducing an inflammatory state in the placenta which then leads to stimulation of certain zinc transporters and inhibition of others.

CHAPTER 3: ZINC INSUFFICIENCY MEDIATES ETHANOL-INDUCED ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE DYSFUNCTION IN THE PREGNANT FEMALE MOUSE

Juna V. Konomi^{1, 2}, Frank L. Harris², Xiao-Du Ping²,

Theresa W. Gauthier² and Lou Ann S. Brown²

¹ Nutrition and Health Sciences, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Laney Graduate School ²Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Emory University, Emory + Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology,

Atlanta, GA 30322

Provisionally accepted with minor revisions in ALCOHOL AND ALCOHOLISM

Abstract

Aims: 1) Establish the minimum number of weeks of chronic ethanol ingestion needed to perturb zinc homeostasis, 2) Examine zinc pool status in the alveolar macrophages (AMs) when ethanol ingestion is combined with pregnancy, 3) Investigate whether *in vitro* zinc treatment reverses the effects of ethanol ingestion on the AM.

Methods: C57BL/6 female mice were fed a liquid diet (\pm 25% ethanol derived calories) during preconception and pregnancy. The control group was pair-fed to the ethanol group. In the isolated AMs, we measured intracellular AM zinc levels, zinc transporter expression, and phagocytic index. Some cells were treated prior to analysis with or without zinc acetate.

Results: AM zinc pools were decreased within 3 weeks of ethanol ingestion. After ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy, zinc transporter expression, intracellular zinc levels, and bacterial clearance were decreased in the AMs when compared to controls. *In vitro* zinc treatment reversed these effects of ethanol.

Conclusion: Ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy perturbed AM zinc balance resulting in impaired bacterial clearance, but these effects were ameliorated by *in vitro* zinc treatments.

Introduction

Alcohol consumption during pregnancy leads to a range of growth and developmental disabilities classified as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders [9, 10, 412], increases risk for premature delivery [14, 413], and the perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with prematurity [414, 415]. Proper zinc nutrition during pregnancy is essential for fetal development, growth, and immune function [538] and zinc requirements in pregnancy increase ~30% when compared to recommended daily allowance for non-pregnant, non-lactating women [539]. Zinc is an important micronutrient that displays catalytic, structural, and regulatory functions [178, 211] and is particularly crucial for the function of highly proliferative systems such as the immune system. Zinc balance is maintained through tight regulation of absorption and reabsorption, excretion, and distribution to tissues, processes that are carried out primarily by zinc transporters [277]. Zinc transporters are classified into two families that often display opposite roles in regulation of zinc homeostasis. Zip (SLC39) family transporters are responsible in zinc movement into the cytoplasm from the extracellular space or intracellular organelles. In contrast, the ZnT (SLC30) family transporters move zinc from the cytoplasm into cellular compartments or outside the cell [276]. Because there is no readily available zinc stores that can be released in response to dietary variations, the exchangeable zinc pool, which accounts for $\sim 10\%$ of total zinc in the adult [226], becomes crucial and its loss leads to manifestation of biochemical and clinical signs of zinc deficiency [210].

Overt zinc deficiency is rare and mostly observed in conditions such as acrodermatitis enteropathica, which displays, among other manifestations, thymic atrophy and increased bacterial, viral, and fungal infections [227]. Mild-to-moderate zinc deficiency is more common and can present itself in diverse ways since zinc is widely involved in the general metabolism. [41]. Marginal zinc deficiency results in depression of the immune response, even if clinical manifestations such as skin lesions and alopecia, among others, are not observed. Animal studies

show that zinc levels in the alveolar space decrease even when ethanol ingestion is combined with a well-balanced diet [31]. Given that 1 in 2 women of childbearing age report routine alcohol abuse [4], zinc insufficiency could be initiated prior to pregnancy. Since nearly 50% of pregnancies are unplanned [502], this zinc insufficiency could become exacerbated if alcohol consumption is coupled with pregnancy, leading to further compromised maternal zinc stores and zinc availability to the developing fetus.

In most non-pregnant animal adult models of chronic ethanol ingestion where blood alcohol concentrations reach 0.08% [18] (legal intoxication levels in the USA), ethanol comprises 36% of calories, which is comparable to the alcohol calories consumed by otherwise healthy alcoholics. Ethanol can be administered in the diet [31, 457] or water [497, 498], by injection [453], or abomasal cannulation [501, 505], mostly in rodent [17, 456, 457] and sheep [501, 503, 504] models. Many animal models of fetal alcohol exposure have been established, which range from partial [453, 501, 503, 505] to full ethanol exposure throughout gestation [457] with most studies initiating fetal alcohol exposure after conception. In order to maintain pregnancy, ethanol-derived calories constitute 25% rather than 36% of total calories consumed, resulting in blood alcohol concentrations of 0.05 \pm 0.01% [17]. Our laboratory has shown that this level of ethanol ingestion during gestation results in compromised pulmonary immune function in the newborn pups, without loss or distress of pregnancy [19, 457] but the mechanisms of altered immune functions are unknown.

Current models initiating fetal alcohol exposure after conception do not represent the typical societal patterns where alcohol abuse occurs before recognition of the pregnancy. In order to develop a better understanding of the effects of alcohol prior to conception, we established a mouse model where chronic ethanol ingestion by the dams started prior to conception and continued for the duration of pregnancy. The goal was to establish the minimum number of weeks of chronic ethanol ingestion needed to perturb zinc homeostasis. Since chronic ethanol

ingestion perturbs zinc homeostasis in the lung and increases the risk of respiratory infections [31], we chose the lung and the AM as the particular site for monitoring effects on zinc homeostasis. Additionally, we wanted to examine if the zinc pools in the AMs would be lower when alcohol consumption was combined with the demands of pregnancy and whether *in vitro* zinc treatment would reverse the effects of alcohol exposure on the AM.

Materials and Methods

Mouse model of ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy. Female C57BL/6 mice shipped from the vendor (Charles River, Burlington, MA) were allowed to acclimate in the Emory Pediatrics facilities for a week. After acclimatization, the mice were introduced to the liquid diet for an additional week and then randomized to receive an isocaloric liquid diet $\pm 25\%$ ethanol derived calories. For the ethanol group, the ethanol content of the diet was ramped from 0% (7 days) to 12.5% (3 days) and 25% (2 days) where they were maintained throughout the study. The control group was pair-fed to the ethanol group and 25% of the calories came from maltose-dextrin. The nutritional content of the liquid diet used is especially designed for experimentation in pregnant rodents, including adequate dietary zinc (Bioserv, Frenchtown, NJ). First, we needed to establish the time period of ethanol ingestion at 25% of total calories that would result in zinc insufficiency in the alveolar space. Non-pregnant mice were assigned to different time point groups, 2 weeks, 3 weeks and 6 weeks. Some mice were fed their assigned diet (± ethanol) and then maintained on the appropriate diet throughout mating and pregnancy. Food consumption was recorded daily and the liquid food was changed every day. The assigned experimental liquid diet was the only access to food and water. Mice were weighed during the diet acclimation period to ensure no weight loss occurred and once a week upon the start of the experiment. Once pregnancy occurred, the mice were not disturbed except for food and cage changes and weights during days 8-20 of pregnancy (mouse equivalent to 2nd and 3rd trimester)
were not recorded. All animals were used with protocols reviewed and approved by the Emory University Institutional Animal Care Committee in accordance with NIH Guidelines (*Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*).

Alveolar macrophage (AM) isolation. After anesthesia with intraperitoneal pentobarbital sodium, the trachea was identified and cannulated with a 19-G catheter. The lungs were serially lavaged with 1.5 mL sterile saline (5X) to obtain samples of the alveolar lining fluid. The initial lavage from each mouse was centrifuged (1200 rpm for 8 min), and the supernatant [designated bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (**BAL**)] was saved for further analysis. The subsequent lavages from each mouse were pooled and similarly centrifuged. The cell pellet obtained from the initial and subsequent lavages was resuspended in RPMI 1640 1X media with 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics. Cell viability and count were determined with Trypan Blue stain (0.4%; Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). The cells obtained from the lavage were predominantly AMs (>94%). Cells were incubated overnight in a 10% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. Some wells of the isolated AMs were treated with 25 μ M (final concentration) sterile zinc acetate and were incubated overnight, similar to the cells that received no zinc treatment.

Zinc levels in AMs. Intracellular zinc levels in the isolated AMs were measured using a membrane permeable zinc specific dye, FluoZin-3AM (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). FluoZin-3AM has a high affinity for zinc ($K_d \sim 15$ nM) and minimal interfering calcium sensitivity. FluoZin-3 is suitable for detection of zinc in the 1-100 nM range and is the most sensitive and zinc-specific of the different FluoZin fluorescent dyes. This dye detects small changes in intracellular zinc and has previously been shown to be an effective strategy to measure zinc pools in monocytes and macrophages [31, 540]. AMs were incubated with FluoZin-3AM (45 min; 37°C) and then incubated in medium free of the dye to allow for complete de-esterification of the intracellular acetoxymethyl esters of the fluorophore. Cells were then washed and fixed with 3.7%

paraformaldehyde and fluorescence was quantified using fluorescent microscopy (Olympus Corp, Melville, NY) and ImagePro Plus software for Windows. Data are presented as mean relative fluorescent unit (\mathbf{RFU}) / field ± S.E.M.

Zinc transporter protein expression. After isolation and fixation with 3.7% paraformaldehyde, immunostaining was used to evaluate protein expression of the zinc transporters Zip1, ZnT1 and ZnT4. AMs were incubated with the primary antibody in a 1:100 dilution (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA) for 1 h, washed (3X; PBS; 5 min) and then treated with the secondary antibody (anti-goat IgG) (1:200 dilution; 45 min). Zinc transporter expression was quantified using fluorescent microscopy and ImagePro Plus for Windows. Data are presented as mean RFU / field \pm S.E.M.

AM phagocytic index. Isolated AMs were incubated overnight, after which, pHrodo *Staphylococcus aureus* bioparticles conjugates (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) were added to the wells for an additional 4 h incubation. Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed with 3.7% paraformaldehyde. Fluorescence of phagocytosed TRITC-*S.aureus* was quantified by fluorescent microscopy (Olympus Corp, Melville, NY) and ImagePro Plus for Windows. Background fluorescence of unstained macrophages was used to account for autofluorescence. The phagocytic index was calculated as previously described [541] with the percentage of cells positive for internalized fluorescence × mean RFU per field, as tallied from at least 10 experimental fields per set. Values are expressed as PI mean RFU / field \pm S.E.M.

Statistical analysis. GraphPad software (LaJolla, CA) and IBM SPSS Statistics (Armonk, NY) were used for generation of graphs and statistical analysis, respectively. ANOVA was used to detect overall differences between groups and *post-hoc* analysis was conducted (Tukey's) for group comparisons. Where data was not normally distributed, non-parametric tests were done

followed by pair-wise comparisons. A p < 0.05 was deemed as statistically significant. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M where each mouse represents an *n* of 1.

Results

Study demographics

Chronic ethanol ingestion by dams: Published data from our laboratory group demonstrated in diverse animal models that a lower ethanol content (25% vs. 36%) is safely tolerated by pregnant dams with minimal negative pregnancy outcomes. Similarly, in this study the liquid diet was well tolerated by the dams at all exposure period: 2-6 weeks preconception, during mating, and throughout pregnancy, without significant loss of pregnancy or distress. Mice that were not pregnant differed significantly in diet intake when compared to pregnant mice (p = 0.016 vs. pregnant control, p = 0.003 vs. pregnant ethanol) (**Table 3-1**). There were no statistical differences between pregnant control and ethanol groups (p = 0.817) and between non-pregnant control and ethanol groups (p = 1.00) in diet consumption. Additionally, there were no statistical differences in initial (p = 0.52) and final weight (p = 0.054) between groups (pregnant and nonpregnant) or within groups (control and ethanol). The period required to establish pregnancy was ~ 2.5 weeks resulting in female mice fed the appropriate liquid diet for 3 weeks prior to conception, 2.5 weeks for mating and 3 weeks of pregnancy yielding a total of 8.5 weeks. There were no significant differences between control and ethanol-fed groups on diet exposure duration or in the number of successful pregnancies (Table 3-1). Additionally, there were no significant differences in litter viability or number of abnormal fetuses.

<u>Macrophage profile</u>: In the BAL fluid, the isolated cells from control and ethanol-fed dams were predominantly AM (\geq 94%). Total cell counts in pregnant groups (control and ethanol) were lower only when compared to non-pregnant ethanol group, however there were no significant differences in cell viability between not pregnant and pregnant groups or within those groups, control vs. ethanol (**Table 3-2**).

Chronic ethanol ingestion prior to pregnancy by the dam decreased zinc availability in the AMs and bacterial clearance. Our first goal was to establish a model where dams, fed a diet containing 25% of calories derived from ethanol, entered pregnancy with zinc insufficiency in the AM pool. In previous studies with adult male rats, chronic ethanol ingestion (36% of calories) for 6 weeks decreases zinc pools in the alveolar lining fluid and the AM phagocytic index [31]. In the current study, zinc pools of AMs from non-pregnant ethanol group were not significantly lower than the control group after two weeks of ethanol ingestion (**Figure 3-1A**). However, ethanol ingestion for 3 and 6 weeks resulted in significant decreases in the intracellular zinc pools of AMs when the ethanol non-pregnant group was compared to the control non-pregnant group (**Figure 3-1B, C**). Additionally, three weeks of ethanol ingestion was associated with a trend towards decreased AM bacterial clearance but did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.06) (**Figure 3-2A**). For the non-pregnant group, continued ethanol ingestion for 6 weeks significantly decreased bacterial clearance when compared to the control non-pregnant group (**Figure 3-2B**). There were no significant differences between control or ethanol groups of different exposure lengths in the variables measured and groups were pooled for further analysis.

Chronic ethanol ingestion decreased zinc availability and AM immune function in pregnant mice that ingested alcohol prior to and during pregnancy. We next determined if the zinc insufficiency associated with drinking prior to pregnancy was exacerbated if the dam was maintained on the ethanol diet throughout pregnancy. AM zinc pools in ethanol + pregnancy group had significantly lower intracellular zinc levels when compared to pair-fed control + pregnancy group (**Figure 3-3**). AM intracellular zinc pools of control + pregnancy group had, on average, slightly higher, but not significant, increases in intracellular zinc levels when compared to the control non-pregnant group (**Figure 3-3**). Similarly, bacterial clearance in pregnant mice fed an ethanol diet prior to and during pregnancy was decreased by 54% from control pregnant group (**Figure 3-4**). There were no significant differences between control groups, CTRL-P vs. CTRL-NP, or between ethanol groups, EtOH-P vs. EtOH-NP, in AM intracellular zinc levels or phagocytic index (**Figure 3-3 and 3-4**).

In vitro zinc treatments reversed ethanol-induced effects on the zinc pool and bacterial clearance in the AMs from the pregnant dams. In a subgroup of pregnant mice, we examined whether changes in the zinc pool and bacterial clearance were related to the availability of zinc to the AM. In an adult male rat model, the impaired AM bacterial clearance associated with chronic ethanol ingestion could be improved by zinc supplements [31]. In the current subgroup, chronic ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy resulted in a 60% decrease in AM phagocytic functions but this was reversed to control levels by *in vitro* zinc treatments (Figure 3-5A). Additionally, *in vitro* zinc treatments restored the intracellular zinc pool in the AMs from ethanol-fed dams to control values without zinc treatment (Figure 3-5B). No statistical significant differences were observed between control groups.

Chronic ethanol ingestion is associated with decreased expression of zinc transporters and in vitro zinc treatments reversed ethanol-induced effects on the zinc transporters in the AMs from the pregnant dams. Since zinc pools were decreased, we next examined whether this was due to altered expression of the zinc transporters. For Zip1, one of the transporters that imports zinc into the cell, chronic ethanol ingestion prior to and throughout the pregnancy significantly decreased AM protein expression (p < 0.001) when compared to controls (Figure 3-6A). Thus, the reduction in zinc levels was congruent with decreased Zip1 protein expression. We also examined the zinc transporter ZnT protein family, which also contribute to the cytoplasmic zinc balance by exporting cytoplasmic zinc out of the cell or by sequestrating cytoplasmic zinc into intracellular compartments [276]. When zinc levels are high, these zinc exporters are up-regulated in order to

increase export and thereby prevent intracellular zinc toxicity. In the current study, AMs isolated from ethanol-fed dams had an ~75% decrease in the protein expression of both ZnT1 (**Figure 3-6B**) and ZnT4 (**Figure 3-6C**) when compared to all other groups. This is in agreement with the aforementioned study in rats which saw a 80% decrease in ZnT4 mRNA expression in AMs of ethanol-fed rats (36% of calories) for 6 weeks [31].

As expected, *in vitro* zinc treatments of the AMs from ethanol-fed dams restored Zip1 protein expression when compared to the ethanol group without zinc treatments (**Figure 3-6A**). Likewise, *in vitro* zinc treatments of AMs from ethanol-fed dams normalized the expressions of ZnT1 and ZnT4 (**Figure 3-6**). Taken together, these results suggest that chronic ethanol ingestion prior to conception and during pregnancy decreased protein expression of Zip1 leading to decreased zinc influx into the AM. Furthermore, expression of zinc efflux proteins, ZnT1 and ZnT4, were also decreased which would prevent zinc transport out of the cell or into subcellular compartments. This further supports the concept that the ethanol-induced decreases in these transporters were related to decreased zinc availability.

Discussion

Most animal models of fetal ethanol exposure rely on initiation of ethanol ingestion after conception. However, this is unlikely to represent the typical exposure where alcohol abuse occurs before recognition of pregnancy. Therefore, we established a fetal ethanol model where chronic ethanol ingestion by the dams started prior to conception and continued for the duration of pregnancy. Our model of fetal alcohol exposure aimed to mimic societal patterns, where women who routinely abuse alcohol have a zinc pool composition that is most likely decreased compared to women who do not drink prior to pregnancy. In this study, we demonstrated that chronic ethanol ingestion prior to pregnancy (\geq 3 weeks) decreased zinc pools and AM immune

function of the dams when compared to the control group. Continued ethanol ingestion during pregnancy was associated with perturbations in zinc homeostasis in the AM despite adequate zinc and other nutrients in the diet.

Zinc is a cofactor in approximately 300 enzyme-dependent processes involved in immunity, growth, cell differentiation, and metabolism [178, 542] and it is essential for proper fetal growth and development. Zinc homeostasis is tightly regulated through intestinal absorption, fecal excretion, renal reabsorption and mobilization of zinc pools, carried out *via* trans-cellular processes primarily by zinc transporters [277]. Zinc transporters are categorized into two classes, the Zip (SLC39) family transporters that move zinc into the cytoplasm from the extracellular space or intracellular organelles, and the ZnT (SLC30) family transporters that transport zinc from the cytoplasm into cellular compartments or outside the cell [211, 276].

During pregnancy, nutrient demands increase and zinc requirements rise 27% from RDA of nonpregnant, non-lactating women [539], however zinc intake requirements are often higher in women who follow a non-meat based diet [181] and women in developing countries [543]. Alcohol consumption leads to nutrient deficiency through a combination of a poor diet and through inhibition of nutrient absorption [34, 41], which could have deleterious consequences during periods of increased nutrient demands. An animal-based study showed that ethanol ingestion (36% of calories) decreases zinc levels in the alveolar space, zinc transporter mRNA expression and phagocytic index in AMs from rats despite a well-balanced diet [31]. Our studies demonstrating that the AMs from mice fed 25% ethanol-derived calories had decreased phagocytic function (54% of control) verify this earlier observation. Furthermore, the current study demonstrated that dams with chronic ethanol ingestion during pregnancy, while being fed a well-balanced diet designed to meet pregnancy requirements, still displayed reductions in zinc pools and zinc transporter expression when compared to unexposed dams. However, when pregnant groups were compared with non-pregnant groups in each exposure, there were no statistical significant differences observed in intracellular zinc levels. This could be partly explained by differences in diet intake. All groups, irrespective of pregnancy state, consumed the same type of diet designed for pregnant rodents however, pregnant groups were, on average, consuming more than non-pregnant groups. Control groups were only pair-fed to the ethanol-fed groups within a pregnancy state. Alternatively, the increased zinc demands due to pregnancy were minimal when compared to the effects of ethanol.

In summary, this study suggests that chronic ethanol abuse in adult female mice decreased protein expression of zinc transporter, Zip1, which in turn, decreased intracellular zinc availability and led to impaired bacterial clearance by AMs. In an effort to preserve zinc within the cell, AMs decreased expressions of ZnT transporters, which export zinc away from cytoplasm. Additionally, *in vitro* zinc treatments normalized the negative effects of chronic ethanol ingestion on zinc transporter protein expression, zinc levels and phagocytic function. In this study, we focused on AMs and it is unclear if other immune cells are similarly affected and further studies are warranted. In the United States, 1 in 2 women of childbearing age (18-44) consume alcohol, and 15 percent report binge drinking among those who drink in this group [4]. Nearly 50% of all pregnancies are unplanned [502] and alcohol consumption pre-conception is strongly associated with drinking during pregnancy [506]. Therefore, many women may begin their pregnancies with zinc insufficiencies, thereby increasing the likelihood that the newborn will also have zinc insufficiency. Additional studies are needed to determine if these negative effects of chronic ethanol ingestion on the maternal zinc pools extend to the newborn.

Table 3-1. Study Demographics

	Control	Ethanol	р		
DIET CONSUMED (ml/day)			<0.001		
Not pregnant	11.6 ± 0.5*' †	11.6 ± 0.5*' †			
Pregnant	16.2 ± 0.9	17.2 ± 0.97			
Total weeks on diet					
Not pregnant	8.3 ± 0.74	8.6 ± 0.67			
Pregnant	8.7 ± 0.4	8.5 ± 0.4			
WEIGHT (g)					
Initial dam weight			0.52		
Not pregnant	21.8 ± 0.47	21.8 ± 0.48			
Pregnant	20.8 ± 0.57	20.9 ± 0.62			
Final dam weight			0.054		
Not pregnant	23.0 ± 0.66	24.6 ± 0.76			
Pregnant	25.2 ± 0.59	25.8 ± 0.54			
PREGNANCY					
Weeks on diet pre-conception	5.7 ± 0.4	5.5 ± 0.4	0.657		
Successful pregnancies (%)	76 ± 8.7	73.7 ± 10.4	0.864		
Litter viability (%)	82 ± 5.6	93 ± 4.4	0.085		
Values represent mean \pm S.E.M.					
*p = 0.003 vs. pregnant ethanol					
$\dagger p = 0.016$ vs. pregnant control					

Table 3-2. Macrophage characteristics

	Control	Ethanol	р		
Total cell count (cells/ml)			0.003		
Not pregnant	$5.94e5 \pm 1e5$	$7.24e5 \pm 1.4e5$			
Pregnant	$4.52e5 \pm 6.9e4*$	$3.63e5 \pm 3.7e4 **$			
Cell viability (%)			0.326		
Not pregnant	70 ± 6.0	67 ± 4.8			
Pregnant	66 ± 5.3	76 ± 3.3			
Values represent mean \pm S.E.M.					
* $p < 0.05$ vs. not pregnant ethanol					
** $p < 0.01$ vs. not pregnant ethanol					

Figure legends

Figure 3-1. Chronic ethanol ingestion for 3 weeks, or more, prior to conception decreased intracellular zinc in the adult AM.

Intracellular zinc concentrations in the AM were determined using the zinc-specific, cellpermeable fluorescent dye, FluoZin-3AM. Bar heights represent mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 dams/group. CTRL = control and EtOH = ethanol. Intracellular zinc levels in AMs from mice exposed to ethanol in diet for (A) 2 weeks, p = 0.09 (B) 3 weeks, *denotes p = 0.025 (C) 6 weeks, **denotes p = 0.009.

Figure 3-2. Chronic ethanol ingestion for 3 weeks or more prior to conception decreased phagocytic function in the adult AM.

Isolated AMs from experimental groups were incubated with inactivated TRITC-labeled *Staphylococcus aureus* for 4 h. Internalization of TRITC-labeled *S. aureus* was determined using fluorescent analysis. Phagocytic index (**PI**) was calculated as the percentage of cells with internalized fluorescence × the mean RFU per field. Bar heights represent PI (mean RFU/field) \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 dams/group. CTRL = control and ETOH = ethanol. Phagocytic index of AMs from mice exposed to ethanol in diet for (**A**) 3 weeks, p = 0.06 (**B**) 6 weeks, **denotes p = 0.004

Figure 3-3. Intracellular AM zinc in non-pregnant and pregnant mice.

Intracellular zinc concentrations in the AM were determined as previously described. Bar heights represent mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 dams/group. CTRL-NP = non-pregnant control, EtOH-NP = non-pregnant ethanol, CTRL-P = pregnant control and ETOH-P = pregnant ethanol. Non-pregnant mice that ingested ethanol in diet for 2-6 weeks had significantly lower AM zinc levels when compared to non-pregnant and pregnant controls. **denotes p < 0.01 for CTRL-NP vs. EtOH-NP, ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-NP. Pregnant mice that

ingested ethanol prior to and during pregnancy had significantly lower intracellular AM zinc levels when compared to pregnant controls only. ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P. There were no significant differences between control groups, CTRL-NP vs. CTRL-P or between ethanol groups, EtOH-NP vs. EtOH-P.

Figure 3-4. Phagocytic index in non-pregnant and pregnant mice.

Isolated AMs from experimental groups were incubated with inactivated TRITC-labeled *Staphylococcus aureus* for 4 h. Internalization of TRITC-labeled *S. aureus* was determined using fluorescent analysis. Phagocytic index (**PI**) was calculated as the percentage of cells with internalized fluorescence × the mean RFU per field. Bar heights represent PI (mean RFU/field) \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 dams/group. CTRL-NP = non-pregnant control, EtOH-NP = non-pregnant ethanol, CTRL-P = pregnant control and ETOH-P = pregnant ethanol. Bacterial clearance was lower in AMs isolated from ethanol mice (EtOH-NP and EtOH-P) when compared to control groups. *denotes *p* < 0.05 vs. CTRL-NP, ***denotes *p* < 0.001 vs. CTRL-P. There were no significant differences between control groups CTRL-NP vs. CTRL-P, or between ethanol groups, EtOH-NP vs. EtOH-P.

Figure 3-5. Zinc treatments restore AM intracellular zinc and bacterial clearance in mice fed an ethanol diet prior to and during gestation.

Freshly isolated AMs from dams were incubated overnight in media with some containing 25μ M zinc acetate. At the end of this incubation, AMs were treated with FluoZin-3AM, a cell-permeable, zinc specific dye. Additionally, inactivated TRITC-labeled *Staphylococcus aureus* was added to the cells and incubated for another 4 h. Internalization of TRITC-labeled *S. aureus* was determined using fluorescent analysis. Phagocytic index (**PI**) was calculated as the percentage of cells with internalized fluorescence × the mean RFU per field. Bar heights represent mean RFU/ field ± S.E.M. CTRL-P = pregnant control group; CTRL-P + Zn = AMs

from pregnant control group treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH-P = pregnant ethanol group; and EtOH-P + Zn = AMs from pregnant ethanol group treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate (**A**) Phagocytic index *** denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn groups (p > 0.05). (**B**) Intracellular AM zinc, *denotes p < 0.05 for EtOH-P + Zn vs. EtOH **denotes p < 0.01 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P, ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P. †denotes p < 0.05 for CTRL-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P + Zn. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P vs. CTRL-P + Zn, or between CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P + Zn (p > 0.05).

Figure 3-6. Chronic ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy decreased protein expression of zinc transporters in the pregnant dam but was restored by zinc treatment.

After delivery, protein expressions of the zinc transporters Zip1 (**A**), ZnT1 (**B**), and ZnT4 (**C**) were determined in the AMs from the dams *via* immunostaining and quantified using fluorescent microscope and ImagePro Plus analysis. Data were expressed relative to the control AMs and bar heights represent mean RFU ± S.E.M. from at least 5 different dams. CTRL-P = pregnant control group; CTRL-P + Zn = AMs from pregnant control group treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH-P = pregnant ethanol group; and EtOH-P + Zn = AMs from pregnant ethanol group treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. For Zip1 (**A**), ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P, **denotes p < 0.01 for EtOH-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P, and * denotes p < 0.05 for CTRL-P, CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn. No significant differences were observed between control groups (p > 0.05). For ZnT1 (**B**), **denotes p = 0.001 for CTRL-P + Zn, EtOH-P, + Zn vs. EtOH-P, ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P. No significant differences were observed between control groups (p > 0.05). For ZnT1 (**B**), **denotes p = 0.001 for CTRL-P + Zn, EtOH-P, + Zn vs. EtOH-P, ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P. No significant differences were observed between control groups (p > 0.05). For ZnT1 (**B**), **denotes p = 0.001 for CTRL-P + Zn, EtOH-P + Zn vs. EtOH-P, ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P vs. EtOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn (p > 0.05). For ZnT4 (**C**), ***denotes p < 0.001 for CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn, and EtOH-P + Zn vs. ETOH-P. No significant differences were observed between control group CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn, and EtOH-P + Zn vs. ETOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn vs. ETOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn vs. ETOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-P + Zn and EtOH-P + Zn vs. ETOH-P. No significant differences were observed between CTRL-P, CTRL-

Figure 3-1. Intracellular zinc in AMs from non-pregnant mice















A. 3 weeks

B. 6 weeks







Figure 3-4. Phagocytic index in pregnant and non-pregnant mice



Figure 3-5. *In vitro* zinc treatments improve phagocytic function and intracellular zinc levels in AMs of pregnant mice that ingested ethanol prior to and during pregnancy



A. Phagocytic index

B. Intracellular zinc



Figure 3-6. *In vitro* zinc treatments improve zinc transporter expression in AMs of pregnant mice that ingested ethanol prior to and during pregnancy



A. ZIP1









CHAPTER 4: ZINC INSUFFICIENCY MEDIATES THE FETAL ALVEOLAR MACROPHAGE DYSFUNCTION ASSOCIATED WITH FETAL ETHANOL EXPOSURE

Juna V. Konomi^{1,2}, Frank L. Harris², Xiao-Du Ping²,

Theresa W. Gauthier² and Lou Ann S. Brown²

¹Nutrition and Health Sciences, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Laney

Graduate School, Emory University

²Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Emory University, Emory +

Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology, Atlanta, GA 30322

Provisionally accepted with minor revisions in

Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research

Abstract

Background: Our laboratory has previously established that prenatal alcohol exposure impairs viability, differentiation and function of the newborn alveolar macrophage. Alveolar macrophages (**AM**) orchestrate the primary immune defense response in the lung against inhaled antigens, microorganisms and environmental toxins. With fetal ethanol exposure, the phagocytic and microbicidal AM functions are suppressed and the risk of infections is increased *via* pathways that are not well explored. In adults, alcohol abuse results in zinc deficiency, which could be detrimental to the developing fetus if maternal zinc stores are inadequate. Zinc is essential for the immune system and its deficiency increases susceptibility to infection and exacerbates existing infections.

Methods: C57BL/6 female mice were randomized to a liquid diet (\pm 25% ethanol derived calories) for three weeks before conception and then throughout pregnancy. The control group received 25% of their calories as maltose-dextrin and was pair-fed to the ethanol group. At delivery, AMs from pups were isolated and treated with or without zinc acetate. After an overnight incubation, intracellular zinc levels, zinc transporter expression and phagocytic index, were measured using fluorescence microscopy.

Results: In the AMs from newborn pups, *in utero* ethanol exposure was associated with decreased expression of zinc transporters, intracellular zinc levels, and bacterial clearance when compared to unexposed pups. *In vitro* zinc treatments increased expression of zinc transporters and this was concomitant with restored intracellular zinc levels and AM bacterial clearance.

Conclusion: These studies suggest that zinc insufficiency is a critical component in the impaired AM immune functions associated with fetal alcohol exposure. Future studies are warranted to explore the effects of *in vivo* zinc supplementation - prenatally to the dam or postnatally to the pup - on the ethanol-exposed newborn AM.

Introduction

Prenatal alcohol exposure leads to a range of growth and developmental disabilities classified as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders [9, 10], which affect 2-5% of births in the United States [433]. The majority of infants who are exposed to alcohol *in utero* do not display the phenotypic characteristics associated with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome [435] and as a result, exposure often goes undetected by primary care providers. Infants chronically exposed to alcohol *in utero* have a >34fold higher risk of extreme prematurity (<32 weeks gestational age) than non-exposed infants [14], increasing the risk of the perinatal morbidity and mortality associated with prematurity [414, 415].

At birth, the newborn lung is not fully developed and its defense systems are immature [15]. The newborn alveolar macrophage (**AM**), which initiates the first immune response of the lung against foreign particles [443], is not as well equipped as adult AMs for immune functions such as chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and bacterial killing [15]. Pre-term delivery augments these impairments [445] and further increases the susceptibility of the newborn lung to respiratory syncytial virus, which can cause lower respiratory tract infections. Fetal alcohol exposure not only increases the risk for premature birth, it further exacerbates an already dysfunctional lung [17], independently impairs AM function [17, 456, 457], and increases risk of infection [19] in animal models of fetal alcohol exposure. These findings are further supported by clinical studies that show that alcohol exposure *in utero* leads to an increased risk of infection in both pre-term [21] and term [20] infants.

Zinc is the most widely studied microelement in infant feeding because it is an essential cofactor in approximately 300 enzyme-dependent processes involved in immunity, growth, cell differentiation, and metabolism [215, 460]. In studies of global disease burden for 2010, one of the key risk factors for death in early infancy was serious bacterial infections with links to zinc insufficiency [461, 463]. Another leading risk factor was alcohol use [461], which is also a known risk factor for zinc insufficiency. Alcohol-related zinc deficiency is exacerbated and becomes deleterious during pregnancy when nutrient demands are high [22, 376]. Furthermore, a poor diet results in a maternal-fetal environment in which the teratogenicity of insults such as alcohol become amplified and the risk of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders is increased [376]. The impact of maternal alcohol consumption and the resulting fetal zinc insufficiency in derangements of newborn AM immune functions remain to be explored.

Zinc homeostasis is regulated by zinc transporters which are categorized into two families, the Zip (SLC39) family transporters that import zinc from the extracellular space or intracellular organelles, and the ZnT (SLC30) family transporters that transport zinc away the cytoplasm into cellular compartments or outside the cell [211, 276, 295]. Because there are no readily available zinc stores that can be released in response to dietary variations, the exchangeable zinc pool, which accounts for ~10% of total zinc in the adult [209], becomes crucial and its loss leads to manifestation of biochemical and clinical signs of zinc deficiency [210].

In an adult rat model, chronic ethanol ingestion decreased AM zinc levels, zinc transporter expression, and impaired bacterial clearance but these events were reversed by zinc supplements [31]. Neither zinc transporter expression and function in the newborn lung nor the response of zinc transporters to *in utero* alcohol exposure have been explored. In most studies of *in utero* ethanol exposure, the models involve initiation of ethanol ingestion at the point of breeding. However, this model does not recapitulate the zinc insufficiency that occurs with chronic ethanol ingestion prior to conception. We speculated that the combination of alcohol-induced zinc insufficiency prior to conception and the zinc requirements that occur during pregnancy would exacerbate zinc insufficiency in the newborn with fetal ethanol exposure. Specifically, we hypothesized that fetal ethanol exposure would decrease expression of zinc transporter proteins, disrupt zinc homeostasis, and AM bacterial clearance in the lungs of pups, but these negative

effects could be restored by *in vitro* zinc treatments. In this study, we used a mouse model with three weeks of chronic ethanol ingestion prior to pregnancy with continued ethanol ingestion throughout the pregnancy. In this model, zinc availability, zinc transporter expression, and bacterial clearance in the newborn AMs was depressed when compared to the appropriate controls. However, *in vitro* zinc treatments restored zinc levels, zinc transporters, and bacterial clearance in the AMs isolated from newborn pups.

Materials and Methods

Mouse model of in utero ethanol exposure prior to and during development. Our model of fetal alcohol exposure is based on a continuous presentation of ethanol in a liquid diet (BioServ, Frenchtown, NJ), especially prepared for experimentation in pregnant mice. Female C57BL/6 mice shipped from the vendor (Charles River, Burlington, MA) were allowed to acclimate in the Emory Pediatrics facilities for a week. After acclimatization, the mice were introduced to the liquid diet for an additional week and then randomized to receive an isocaloric liquid diet $\pm 25\%$ ethanol derived calories. For female mice assigned to the ethanol group, the ethanol content of the diet was ramped from 0% to 12.5%, and then 25% of ethanol-derived calories over a 1 week timeframe. The control group was pair-fed to the ethanol group with 25% of the calories from maltose-dextrin. Mice remained on their assigned diet for at least three weeks prior to conception, during mating, and throughout pregnancy. Food consumption was recorded daily and the liquid food was changed every day. The assigned experimental liquid diet was the only access to food. Mice were weighed once a week prior to pregnancy. Pregnant mice were not disturbed except for food and cage changes and weights during days 8-20 of pregnancy (mouse equivalent to 2nd and 3rd trimester) were not recorded. At delivery, pups were checked for physical abnormalities and weighed. All animals were used with protocols reviewed and approved by the Emory University

Institutional Animal Care Committee in accordance with NIH Guidelines (*Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*).

Alveolar macrophage isolation. After delivery and anesthesia with pentobarbital sodium intraperitoneally, the trachea of the pup was identified under a dissecting microscope and cannulated with a 27-G catheter. The lungs were serially lavaged with 40 µl sterile saline (5X) to obtain samples of the alveolar lining fluid. The initial lavage from each pup in a litter was pooled and centrifuged (402 g for 8 min), and the supernatant [designated bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (**BAL**)] was saved for further analysis. The subsequent lavages from each pup within a litter were pooled and similarly centrifuged. The cell pellet obtained from the initial and subsequent lavages was resuspended in RPMI 1640 1X media with 2% fetal bovine serum and antibiotics and pooled. Cell viability and count were determined with Trypan Blue stain (0.4%; Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). The cells obtained from the lavage were predominantly AMs (>95%). Cells were incubated overnight in a 10% CO₂ incubator at 37 °C. Some wells of the isolated pup AMs were treated with 25 μ M (final concentration) sterile zinc acetate and were incubated overnight, similar to the cells that received no zinc treatment.

Zinc levels in AMs. Intracellular zinc levels in the isolated pup AMs were measured using a membrane permeable zinc specific dye, FluoZin-3AM (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). FluoZin-3AM has a high affinity for zinc ($K_d \sim 15$ nM) and minimal interfering calcium sensitivity. FluoZin-3 is suitable for detection of zinc in the 1-100 nM range and is the most sensitive and zinc-specific of the different FluoZin fluorescent dyes. The cell permeable acetoxymethyl ester form of the fluorophore is useful for detecting low concentrations and small changes of intracellular zinc. This dye has previously been shown to be an effective strategy to measure intracellular zinc pools in monocytes and macrophages [31, 540]. After isolation, the AMs were incubated overnight and treated with FluoZin-3AM for 45 min at 37°C. This was followed by a 30 min incubation with

medium free of the fluorophore to allow for complete de-esterification of the intracellular acetoxymethyl esters. Cells were then washed and fixed with 3.7% paraformaldehyde and fluorescence was quantified using fluorescent microscopy (Olympus Corp, Melville, NY) and ImagePro Plus software for Windows. Data are presented as mean relative fluorescence units (**RFU**) per field \pm S.E.M.

Zinc transporter protein expression. After isolation and fixation with 3.7% paraformaldehyde, the AMs were evaluated for protein expression of the zinc transporters Zip1, ZnT1 and ZnT4 *via* immunostaining. Cells were incubated with the primary antibody in a 1:100 dilution (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA) for 1 h. Slides were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline over 5 min and the secondary antibody (anti-goat IgG) was added in 1:200 dilution and further incubated for 45 min. Zinc transporter expression was quantified using fluorescent microscopy and ImagePro Plus for Windows. Data are presented as mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M.

AM phagocytic index. AMs isolated from pups were incubated overnight for 16 h, after which, pHrodo *Staphylococcus aureus* bioparticles conjugates (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) were added to the wells followed by an additional 4 h incubation. Cells were then washed with phosphate buffered saline and fixed with 3.7% paraformaldehyde. Fluorescence of phagocytosed TRITC-*S.aureus* was quantified by fluorescent microscopy (Olympus Corp, Melville, NY) and ImagePro Plus for Windows. Background fluorescence of unstained AMs was used to account for autofluorescence. The phagocytic index was calculated as previously described [541] with the percentage of cells positive for internalized fluorescence × mean relative fluorescent unit per field, as tallied from at least 10 experimental fields per set. Values are expressed as mean PI RFU/field \pm S.E.M.

Statistical analysis. GraphPad software (LaJolla, CA) and IBM SPSS Statistics (Armonk, NY) were used for graph generation and statistical analysis, respectively. ANOVA was used to detect overall differences between groups and *post-hoc* analysis was conducted (Tukey's) for group comparisons. A p < 0.05 was deemed as statistically significant. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M where each litter represents an n of 1.

Results

<u>Chronic ethanol ingestion by dams</u>: The liquid diet was well tolerated by the dams prior to conception, during mating, and throughout pregnancy, without significant loss of pregnancy or distress. As outlined in **Table 4-1**, there were no statistical differences between the control and ethanol groups in food consumption before and during pregnancy, the number of successful pregnancies, or body weights of the dams before and after pregnancy. For the pups, there were no statistical differences between the two groups on the number of pups per litter, litter viability, or pup body weight (**Table 4-1**). Fetal alcohol abnormalities were observed in some pups from one ethanol litter and no abnormalities were observed in the control group.

Fetal ethanol exposure decreased zinc availability in the AMs of the newborn pups but these effects were reversed by in vitro zinc treatments. In our model of fetal alcohol exposure, dams fed an ethanol diet for at least 3 weeks entered pregnancy with insufficient zinc pools in the AM when compared to non-pregnant control group (unpublished data), despite *ad lib* access to a liquid diet designed especially to meet the nutritional needs of pregnant rodents. In the pup AMs, the intracellular zinc pools were decreased ~70% with fetal ethanol exposure (**Figure 4-1**) when compared to unexposed pups. For the AMs with *in utero* ethanol exposure, *in vitro* zinc treatments restored zinc pools to control levels (**Figure 4-1**). For the control group, *in vitro* zinc treatment did no alter the AM zinc pools. Fetal ethanol exposure decreased protein expression of AM zinc transporters but in vitro zinc treatments ameliorated these effects. Since zinc pools were decreased, we next examined whether this was due to altered expression of the zinc transporters. Chronic ethanol exposure in utero was associated with significantly decreased protein expression of Zip1, one of the transporters that imports zinc into the cell, when compared to controls (Figure 4-2). The reduction in zinc import supported the observed decrease in intracellular zinc levels. Additionally, we examined transporters of the ZnT family, which contribute to cytoplasmic zinc balance by exporting zinc out of the cell or into intracellular compartments. [276]. AMs isolated from pups exposed to ethanol in utero had $\geq 60\%$ decrease in protein expression of ZnT1 and ZnT4 when compared to all other groups (Figures 4-3 and 4-4). These results suggested that decreased zinc availability in the AM associated with fetal ethanol exposure correlated with decreased protein expression of the zinc transporters Zip1, ZnT1, and ZnT4. Additionally, in vitro zinc treatments to the newborn AMs restored zinc pools and protein expression of Zip1, ZnT1, and ZnT4 (Figures 4-2 - 4-4), further supporting the concept that the reductions observed in protein expression of zinc transporters were related to the ethanol-induced decrease in fetal lung zinc pools.

Ethanol-induced decreases in zinc availability was associated with decreased AM bacterial clearance but was reversed with in vitro zinc treatments. In earlier studies, we demonstrated an association between fetal ethanol exposure and impaired AM phagocytic function [17, 456, 457]. In an adult male rat model, the impaired AM bacterial clearance associated with chronic ethanol ingestion could be reversed by zinc supplements [31]. In the current study, ethanol exposure *in utero* was associated with decreases in phagocytosis, which were improved by *in vitro* zinc treatments (**Figure 4-5**), suggesting that the impaired bacterial clearance associated with fetal ethanol exposure was secondary to the effects of ethanol on zinc availability. The decreased AM phagocytic index associated with fetal ethanol exposure was due to decreases in the number of

cells that internalized bacteria and the overall mean fluorescence per cell when compared to all other groups. With *in vitro* zinc treatments of the *in utero* ethanol-exposed AMs, the improvement was seen in the overall fluorescence per field and in the percent of cells that internalized bacteria. For the control group, *in vitro* zinc treatment did not affect phagocytosis (**Figure 4-5C**).

Discussion

It is well established that *in utero* alcohol exposure has negative outcomes for the developing fetus. Previously, it was believed that alcohol did not affect the lung but growing evidence shows that the developing lung is also vulnerable to alcohol-induced toxicity [17, 453, 456, 457, 503, 505]. Extensive research from our laboratory group has shown that the newborn lung exposed to alcohol *in utero* has fewer and less mature AMs, decreased pools of the major AM antioxidant glutathione, and impaired AM phagocytic function. The mechanisms by which alcohol impairs the newborn AM are under continued investigation. In an experimental adult rat model, six weeks of chronic ethanol ingestion decreased AM zinc levels, expressions of zinc transporters, and impaired bacterial clearance [31]. The purpose of this study was to investigate whether the impaired AM bacterial clearance associated with fetal ethanol exposure is also related to decreased zinc availability.

Most animal models of fetal ethanol exposure rely on initiation of ethanol ingestion after conception. However, this is unlikely to represent the typical exposure where alcohol abuse occurs before recognition of pregnancy. Therefore, we established a fetal ethanol model where chronic ethanol ingestion by the dams started prior to conception and continued for the duration of pregnancy. Our model of fetal alcohol exposure aimed to mimic societal patterns, where women who routinely abuse alcohol have a zinc pool composition that is most likely different than that of women who do not drink prior to pregnancy. In the current study, the goal was to determine if fetal zinc pools and zinc transporter expression were similarly altered with fetal ethanol exposure or be maintained. In theses studies, fetal ethanol exposure decreased Zip1 protein expression in the AMs of the newborn pup and this was accompanied by corresponding decreases in the zinc pool. The observed decreases in the protein expressions of ZnT1 and ZnT4 in the AMs of the ethanol-exposed pup would attenuate zinc efflux and preserve the remaining cytosolic and subcellular zinc pools. The central role of zinc availability was further demonstrated by the capacity of *in vitro* zinc treatments to restore expressions of the zinc transporters, zinc pools, as well as bacterial clearance in the AMs of ethanol-exposed pups to control values. These results suggest that *in utero* ethanol exposure impaired AM phagocytosis in part by decreasing zinc availability, presumably because of zinc insufficiency in the pregnant dam with ethanol ingestion despite adequate zinc in the diet.

In the United States, it is estimated that only ~ 60% of pregnant women meet zinc requirements during pregnancy [544] and mild to moderate zinc deficiency is not restricted to women of low socioeconomic status. Although the zinc deficiency during pregnancy may be mild to moderate, it is sufficient to cause deleterious short- and long- term effects on the neonatal immune system which starts to develop *in utero* and continues to mature through infancy and childhood. Studies from animal models show that gestational zinc deficiency leads to reduced lymphoid organ size, decreased neutrophil function, and suppression of immunoglobulin production, such as IgA and IgM, that persists into adulthood [24, 28, 460, 481]. Persistent suppression of IgA and IgM has serious ramifications since these molecules are critical to immune function because of their interactions with bacterial polysaccharides and other common pathogens. IgA and IgM provide an early line of defense for the naïve neonatal immune system and continuous suppression may lead to an altered antibody response against bacteria, even later in life [229].

Alcohol-related zinc insufficiency or deficiency could be from a combination of absorption inhibition and poor diet [34, 41]. However, alcohol decreases zinc levels and zinc transporter mRNA expression in AMs from rats, despite a well-balanced diet [31]. The current study further demonstrated that pups exposed to ethanol *in utero* displayed reductions in zinc pools, zinc transporter expression and AM function when compared to unexposed pups suggesting that maternal zinc supplies were insufficient to meet fetal requirements. With alcohol abuse, zinc transfer to the fetus may be compromised due to altered zinc transporter expression in the maternal-placental-fetal interface. Given that placental development requires zinc, improper development of the placenta could lead to impaired fetal acquisition of maternal antibodies that are crucial for neonatal immunity in the first six months of life [229].

In summary, this study suggests that fetal alcohol exposure decreased protein expression of zinc transporter, Zip1, in the newborn alveolar macrophage. This, in turn, decreased intracellular zinc availability and led to impaired bacterial clearance by AMs. In an effort to preserve zinc within the cell, AMs decreased expressions of ZnT transporters, which export zinc away from cytoplasm. A casual role for decreased zinc availability in the ethanol-induced suppression of neonatal AM functions was further demonstrated by the ability of *in vitro* zinc treatments to restore zinc transporter protein expression, zinc levels and phagocytic function of AMs to control levels. In this study, we focused on AMs and it is unclear if other immune cells are similarly affected. It is also unclear if these effects of fetal ethanol exposure on zinc homeostasis or AM bacterial clearance improve with maturation. Future studies can investigate whether zinc insufficiency is corrected postnatally when the ethanol- exposed pup is cross-fostered to a control dam. Additionally, *in vivo* zinc supplementation needs to be explored. Realistically, pregnant women consuming alcohol during pregnancy are less likely to take prenatal supplements or eat healthy, thus it is important to explore if postnatal zinc supplementation to the pup can reverse the

negative effects of alcohol on the newborn lung. Dietary zinc supplementation could be an effective intervention in reducing risk and severity of lower respiratory tract infections in the highly vulnerable pre-term infant with fetal alcohol exposure. Novel strategies such as zinc supplements may become particularly important in this era of antibiotic-resistant bacterial infections.

Figure 4-1. Fetal ethanol exposure decreased intracellular zinc levels in the AMs from newborn pups but was restored by zinc treatment. After birth, AMs from the pups (\pm fetal ethanol exposure) were isolated by BAL and cultured overnight. During that incubation, some AMs were treated with 25 μ M zinc acetate. After 16 h of the incubation, FluoZin-3AM was added to the incubation. RFUs were quantified by computerized analysis and expressed relative to the values for the control group. Bar heights represent the mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 6 different litters. CTRL = control group; CTRL + Zn = control AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. (A) *** denotes p = 0.001 for CTRL, CTRL + Zn, and EtOH + Zn vs. the EtOH group. No significant differences were observed between CTRL, CTRL + Zn and EtOH + Zn groups (p > 0.05). (B) Fluorescence microscopy images of cells taken at 40x magnification.

Figure 4-2. Fetal ethanol exposure decreased Zip1 protein expression in the AMs from newborn pups but expression was restored by zinc treatment. After birth, AMs from the pups (\pm fetal ethanol exposure) were isolated by BAL and cultured overnight. Protein expression of zinc transporters in AMs was determined *via* immunostaining and quantified using fluorescent microscope and ImagePro Plus analysis. Bar heights represent mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 different litters per group. CTRL = control group; CTRL + Zn = control AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH = ethanol group; and EtOH + Zn = ethanol AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. (A) *** denotes *p* < 0.001 CTRL, CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH, ** denotes *p* = 0.001 EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH. No significant differences were observed between CTRL, CTRL + Zn and EtOH + Zn (*p* > 0.05). (B) Fluorescence microscopy images of cells taken at 40x magnification.

Figure 4-3. Fetal ethanol exposure decreased ZnT1 protein expression in the AMs from newborn pups but was restored by zinc treatment. Protein expression of zinc transporter, ZnT1 in AMs was determined *via* immunostaining and quantified using fluorescent microscope and ImagePro Plus analysis. Bar heights represent mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 different litters per group. CTRL = control group; CTRL + Zn = control AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH = ethanol group; and EtOH + Zn = ethanol AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. (A) *** denotes p < 0.001 CTRL, CTRL + Zn, EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH. * denotes p < 0.05CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn. No significant differences were observed between control groups and CTRL vs. EtOH + Zn (p > 0.05). (B) Fluorescence microscopy images of cells taken at 40x magnification.

Figure 4-4. Fetal ethanol exposure decreased ZnT4 protein expression in the AMs from newborn pups but expression was restored by zinc treatment. Protein expression of zinc transporter ZnT4 was determined and quantified similar to other transporters. Bar heights represent mean RFU/field \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 different litters per group. CTRL = control group; CTRL + Zn = control AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH = ethanol group; and EtOH + Zn = ethanol AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. (A) ** denotes *p* < 0.01 for CTRL, CTRL + Zn, and EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH. No significant differences were observed between CTRL, CTRL + Zn and EtOH + Zn (*p* > 0.05). (B) Fluorescence microscopy images of cells taken at 40x magnification.

Figure 4-5. The phagocytic index in the AMs from the newborn pups was decreased by ethanol but was improved by zinc treatment. Inactivated TRITC-labeled *Staphylococcus aureus* was added to the cells and incubated for another 4 h. Internalization of TRITC-labeled *S. aureus* was determined using fluorescent analysis. Phagocytic index (**PI**) was calculated as the percentage of cells with internalized fluorescence × the mean RFU per field. Bar heights represent mean PI relative to the control \pm S.E.M. from at least 5 separate litters. CTRL = control group; CTRL + Zn = control AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate; EtOH = ethanol group; and EtOH + Zn = ethanol AMs treated *in vitro* with zinc acetate. (A) *** denotes p < 0.001 for

CTRL, CTRL + Zn, and EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH and ** denotes p < 0.01 for CTRL and CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn. No significant differences were observed between CTRL, CTRL + Zn (p > 0.05). (**B**) Fluorescence microscopy images of cells taken at 40x magnification. (**C**) Summary of bacterial clearance by AMs. * denotes p < 0.05 CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn in mean RFU/field category, ** denotes p < 0.01 CTRL, CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn in phagocytic index, *** denotes p < 0.001 CTRL, CTRL + Zn, EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH in mean RFU/field, percent positive cells, and phagocytic index categories.

Table 4-1. Fetal data

	Control	Ethanol	р		
DAMS					
Diet consumed (ml/day)					
Prior to mating	10.1 ± 0.1	10.3 ± 0.1	0.218		
Prior to pregnancy	12.0 ± 0.2	11.4 ± 0.4	0.212		
Mating + 3 wks	11.0 ± 0.4	10.8 ± 0.3	0.685		
During pregnancy	18.0 ± 1.1	19.0 ± 0.5	0.433		
Dam weight (g)					
Initial weight	19.5 ± 0.2	19.0 ± 0.3	0.138		
Prior to pregnancy	20.5 ± 0.4	21.2 ± 0.5	0.272		
After delivery	25.9 ± 0.4	25.1 ± 0.3	0.101		
PUPS					
Successful pregnancies	85.7%	87.5%			
Total pups per litter	8.7 ± 0.5	7.4 ± 0.5	0.08		
Live only	7.3 ± 0.8	6.6 ± 0.8	0.493		
Litter viability (%)	84 ± 1%	90 ± 1%	0.591		
Average pup weight (g)	1.3 ± 0.06	1.3 ± 0.04	0.521		
Live only	1.3 ± 0.04	1.3 ± 0.04	1		
Number of abnormal fetuses*	0	3			
Litters with abnormal fetuses	0	1			
Values represent mean ± S.E.M.					
*Dead pups in controls were fully developed, mom delivered past due date					
Dead pups in ethanol group came from one litter and had the following abnormalities (frequency):					
Cleft palate (1)					
One eye (1)					
Eyes didn't migrate (1)					
Very small size (2)					





В.






Figure 4-2. In vitro zinc treatments improved ZIP1 protein expression in AMs of ethanolexposed pups





EtOH



+ Zinc

















– Zinc

+ Zinc











	CTRL	CTRL+Zn	EtOH	EtOH+Zn	р	
Mean RFU /field	110.7	114	52.5 ***	92.4 *	< 0.001	
% of positive cells	99.3	98.9	83.0 ***	97.4	< 0.001	
Phagocytic index	109.9	112.7	43.2 ***	89.7 **	< 0.001	
RFU = relative fluorescence units						
Phagocytic index = mean RFU/field × % of positive cells						
Values represent mean from at least 5 litters/group						
ANOVA was performed for multiple comparisons followed by post-hoc tests (Tukey's) for						
pairwise comparisons						
* <i>p</i> < 0.05 CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn						
** <i>p</i> < 0.01 CTRL, CTRL + Zn vs. EtOH + Zn						
***p < 0.001 CTRL, CTRL + Zn, EtOH + Zn vs. EtOH						

CHAPTER 5: FETAL ALCOHOL EXPOSURE IS ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE PLACENTA OF THE PREMATURE NEWBORN

Juna V. Konomi ^{1,2}, Frank L. Harris², Sowmya S. Mohan², Mojgan Zavareh² Theresa W. Gauthier² and Lou Ann S. Brown²

¹Nutrition and Health Sciences, Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, Laney Graduate School, Emory University

²Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine, Emory University, Emory +

Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Center for Developmental Lung Biology, Atlanta, GA 30322

Abstract

Background: High levels of alcohol exposure can disrupt cytokine functions and delay immune responses. Maternal self-report of alcohol consumption during pregnancy is unreliable. Recently, placental FAEEs have been investigated as a potential negative predictive biomarker of prenatal alcohol exposure in a population of premature newborns born <1500g. In the current study, we investigated whether the balance between pro- and anti- inflammatory placental cytokines in this population differed in the presence of prenatal alcohol exposure.

Methods: This cross-sectional study evaluated 86 placentas from 80 women after premature delivery. Subjects were interviewed for alcohol intake using an extensive standardized questionnaire. After informed consent, placental FAEEs were quantified via GC/MS. Cytokine concentrations were quantified using a cytokine multiplex kit and samples were classified as exposed and not exposed to alcohol by placental FAEE combination of oleic, linoleate, linolenate (**OLL**) and stearate.

Results: There was low agreement between maternal self-report and placental FAEE in classification of subjects as exposed or not exposed to alcohol *in utero*. Using OLL + Stearate as a biomarker of fetal alcohol exposure, placental tissue pro-inflammatory cytokine levels were higher in pre-term placentas with exposure (OLL+ Stearate above cutoff) when compared to unexposed placentas. Additionally, anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-2 and IL-10 were significantly increased in exposed placentas while no significant differences were observed in IL-4 levels.

Conclusions: Fetal alcohol exposure was associated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines in the placenta. Whether fetal alcohol exposure leads to a fetal inflammatory response or exacerbates that associated with pre-term delivery remains to be determined.

Introduction

Prenatal alcohol exposure leads to a range of growth and developmental disabilities classified as Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders [9, 10], which affect 2-5% of births in the United States [433]. The majority of infants who are exposed to alcohol *in utero* do not display the phenotypic characteristics associated with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome [435] and, as a result, exposure often goes undetected by primary care providers. Early identification of infants exposed to alcohol *in utero* allows for early intervention which has shown to reduce secondary disabilities including neurocognitive and attention deficits often observed during the childhood years [545, 546]. Maternal self-report is widely used to identify affected infants; however, it is well-known that mothers consuming alcohol during pregnancy underreport the amount and frequency of consumption. To date, there is not a laboratory test screening that can accurately identify and quantify prenatal alcohol exposure and clinicians have to still rely on maternal self-report even though they do not accurately depict consumption [426] or patterns of consumption [427, 428].

Alcohol is metabolized through oxidative and non-oxidative pathways with the latter resulting in formation of fatty acid ethyl esters (**FAEE**) and phosphatidylethanol. FAEE are synthesized in almost all tissues and are transported in the blood bound to albumin or incorporated in the core of lipoproteins. The use of FAEE as markers of prenatal alcohol exposure has gained a lot of momentum in the past decades and researchers continue to examine their correlation to alcohol consumption in different tissues and in matrices such as meconium and hair. Measurement of FAEE in meconium has been validated in term newborns as a sensitive biomarker of heavy alcohol exposure in second and third trimesters of pregnancy [427]. However, in a study assessing agreement between maternal self-reported drinking and quantification of ethanol metabolites, no agreement was found between reported alcohol intake and FAEE concentrations in meconium [429]. Furthermore, most studies to date have studied FAEE concentrations in full-term infant populations and limited research has focused on the premature infant given the many

complications this population suffers from due to premature delivery. Cut-offs established for full-term models may not be sensitive for the premature infant who has less fat deposition which occurs in late pregnancy [547] and reduced enzyme activity [548]. Since newborns exposed to alcohol *in utero* have a high risk of being born pre-term and experiencing post-natal complications, it is important to develop markers of fetal alcohol exposure in the premature born that are non-invasive yet have high sensitivity and specificity.

The placenta acts primarily to protect and transport nutrients and oxygen to the fetus [518]. Placental transfer of nutrients largely impacts fetal growth and has been linked with lifelong health outcomes for the fetus [535, 549]. It is well recognized that alcohol passes through the placenta and affects fetal growth, development, and the fetal immune system [523]. In animal models, chronic ethanol exposure compromises placental circulation and nutrient exchange by preventing expansion of maternal uterine blood vessels and by impairing placentation and placental development [525]. Our group has recently investigated placental FAEEs as potential negative predictive biomarker of prenatal alcohol exposure and has proposed cutoffs for detection of alcohol-exposed infants in a population of premature newborns born <1500g using a combination of fatty acid ethyl esters (ethyl oleate, linoleate, linolenate, and stearate) (Gauthier 2014; manuscript under review).

Cytokines are mainly, but not exclusively, immunoregulatory proteins produced by immune cells in response to an external stimulus that modulate immune cell differentiation and function [526]. A successful pregnancy is characterized by a balance of pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines which play an integral role in implantation, placental growth and development, and pregnancy maintenance [526]. Disruptions in the pro- and anti- inflammatory balance lead to maternal and fetal complications such as pre-term labor, preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction. Exposure to high levels of alcohol can disrupt cytokine functions and delay onset of humoral and cell-mediated immunity [533]. In the current study, we investigated whether the balance between pro- and anti- inflammatory placental cytokines from a vulnerable population of preterm infants born under 1500g differed in the presence of prenatal alcohol exposure. We hypothesized that placental pre-term tissues exposed to alcohol during pregnancy would display an imbalance of Th-1 and Th-2 cytokines characterized by increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines when compared to unexposed pre-term placental tissues.

Materials and Methods

Study participants. Subjects were enrolled from Emory University Hospital Midtown and Grady Memorial Hospital in Atlanta, GA, after approval from Emory IRB (Emory IRB 00000976, Gauthier, PI) from 11/2009-12/2012. Eligibility for the study included mothers of all neonates born weighing less than 1500g who were admitted to the Newborn Intensive Care Unit at either Emory University Midtown or Grady Memorial Hospital. Exclusion criteria included refusal to participate, multiple congenital anomalies on physical exam, and clinically suspected or confirmed chromosomal aberrations in the infant. Mothers whose babies were deemed not viable by the attending neonatologist were not approached for study enrollment. Mothers with HIV history were excluded due to the potential risk on laboratory personnel handling and processing the samples. Informed consent was obtained prior to maternal questionnaire administration and placental collection.

Placental collection. Placentas were harvested after delivery using the Human Tissue Procurement Service (Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University). A tissue sample was uniformly collected as a full thickness section from the edge of the placenta, approximately 5 cm from the point of umbilical cord insertion. The sample was frozen at -80°C until batched analysis via gas-chromatography mass spectrometry (**GC/MS**) (Emory + Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Biomarker Core) in the Brown laboratory.

Maternal questionnaire. The subjects were interviewed using a structured, extensive questionnaire administered by trained research staff. The questionnaire was modeled after those used in previous studies focusing on maternal alcohol use and outcomes of pregnancy [550, 551], as we have previously standardized and reported [20]. During the interview, the subjects were asked about lifestyle and behaviors including alcohol consumption (beer, wine or liquor) three months before conception and in each trimester. A calendar was used to assist in maternal timing of alcohol consumption before and during pregnancy. Data on subject education, marital status, income, tobacco smoking and illicit drug usage were also obtained. Subjects were identified with a study number and strict confidentiality was maintained. The subject's medical record was reviewed for maternal demographics and delivery room information. Data were abstracted by study staff into a secure de-identified electronic database (Emory Alcohol Lung Biology Center, Guidot PI) and then to a SPSS database for analyses.

Fatty acid ethyl ester measurement. After collection, the placental samples were labeled with a de-identified study number and stored at -80°C until batch analysis by GC/MS using methods mirroring those first described by Bearer *et al.* [430]. Thawed placental samples (0.01-1.0g) were homogenized and spiked with a surrogate standard (**SS**) of pentadecanoic acid ethyl ester (MP Biomedicals, LLC, Santa Ana, CA). FAEEs were extracted using methanol (3000 rpm, 15 min) (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). The samples were filtered across extraction columns (UCT, Bristol, PA), dried under nitrogen gas, and then reconstituted in 200 μl of methanol prior to analysis. Samples were analyzed across a single column GC/MS using a Hewlett-Packard 5890 Series II GC and a Hewlett-Packard 5972A Mass Selective Detector with analysis via Chemstation Productivity Software G1701BA (Version B.01/.01). An internal standard (**IS**, heptadecanoic acid ethyl ester, 100 μg/ml, Nu-Chek-Prep, Inc., Elysian, MN) was added to all samples and standards before analysis by GC/MS. Individual FAEEs were identified *via* their unique retention times with confirmation by a calibration standard of a mixture of all FAEEs of

interest (final concentration of 1000 μ g/ml in methanol, Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, Michigan). The calibration curve of each FAEE standard of interest displayed a linear fit with a mean (± SD) coefficients of determination (r^2) of 0.972 ± 0.027. Final concentration of each sample (ng) was normalized to dry weight of the placenta (g). The inter-assay coefficient of variation of the SS was 16.7% while the intra-assay coefficients of variation of the IS was 7.5 ± 2.1%. The mean recovery rate (± SD) was 98.5 ± 2.1%. The lower limit of detection was 0.003 ng/g and the limit of quantification was 0.01nM.

Cytokine measurement. Cytokine profiles in placental homogenates were measured using Human Cytokine 10-Plex panel (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and BioPlex Manager 4.0 (BioRad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) following provided protocol with kit. Briefly, antibody-conjugated beads tagged with a specific fluorophore were plated in a 96-well plate along with filtered placental supernatants and known protein standards and incubated for 2 hrs. After washing the beads, protein-specific biotinylated detector antibodies were added to the plate and incubated for an additional hour, to allow for detector antibodies to bind to the appropriate immobilized proteins. After the wells were washed to remove excess biotinylated detector antibodies, the streptavidin conjugated to fluorescent protein, R-Phycoerythrin (**streptavidin-RPE**), was added and wells were incubated for 30 min to allow binding of streptavidin-RPE to biotinylated cytokine complex. Beads were washed again and the concentration of the target proteins was measured using BioPlex Manager 4.0. Analytes quantified in placental homogenates included human IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, GM-CSF, IFN γ , and TNF α .

Statistical analysis. Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 21 (IBM, Armonk, NY). Cytokines in placental homogenates were not normally distributed and non-parametric tests were performed to examine differences between groups. Values represent median and interquartile range. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Study demographics

For this study, 86 placental samples from 80 mothers were evaluated for cytokine concentration where 31.2% of mothers (n = 25) admitted to drinking during pregnancy (**Figure 5-1**) while 51.3% (n = 41) fell above the OLL + Stearate positive cutoff (**Table 5-1**). There was a 68% positive percent agreement in identification of exposed newborns between maternal reported alcohol use during pregnancy and detected OLL + Stearate (kappa = 0. 239) in the placental tissues and a 56.3% negative percent agreement (**Table 5-1**). For the analyses, samples that fell above the positive cutoff value for OLL + Stearate were classified as "alcohol-exposed" during pregnancy while those below the cutoff as "non-exposed".

The majority of subjects in the study were African-American (86%), with Caucasians and other races contributing to 9% and 5%, respectively. No differences were observed between "alcohol-exposed" and "non-exposed" groups in race, education, income distribution, maternal age at delivery, prenatal care, delivery mode, weight gain and prevalence of diabetes, and drug or cigarette use (**Table 5-2**). Additionally, no statistical significant differences were observed in gestational age or birth weight between infants with or without fetal alcohol exposure.

Cytokine concentrations were higher in alcohol-exposed pre-term placentas when compared to non-exposed pre-term placentas. Placental tissue pro-inflammatory cytokine levels were higher in alcohol-exposed pre-term placentas when compared to unexposed pre-term placentas (**Table 5-3**). Additionally, anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-2 and IL-10 were significantly increased in alcohol-exposed placentas while no significant differences were observed in IL-4 levels (**Table 5-3**).

Cytokine concentrations in placental tissues of patients that self-reported "NO" to drinking during pregnancy were different when OLL + Stearate cutoffs were used to classify exposure. Based on the questionnaire, 55 mothers (68.8%) self-reported "NO" to drinking during pregnancy. When OLL + Stearate cutoffs were used to classify placentas of the newborns *within* this "NO" group, 24 newborns (44%) were identified as alcohol-exposed, while 31 newborns (56%) as non-exposed. Comparison of cytokine profile between the classified groups revealed statistically significant differences in pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, GM-CSF, and IFN γ with higher concentrations in the alcohol-exposed vs. non-exposed pre-term placental tissues (**Table 5-4**). On the other hand, 25 mothers self-reported "YES" to drinking during pregnancy and further classification within this group based on the placental OLL + Stearate values showed no statistically significant differences in cytokine profile (data not shown).

Discussion

The etiology of premature delivery is complex and is often associated with an increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8 [530]. Prenatal alcohol exposure also impairs fetal growth and development *in utero*, increases the risk for pre-term birth and postnatal morbidity and mortality associated with prematurity, among other complications [14, 414, 415]. High levels of alcohol exposure can disrupt cytokine functions and delay onset of humoral and cell-mediated immunity [533], and are also associated with increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines during pregnancy [533, 534]. Given the social stigma associated with alcohol use during pregnancy, women often underreport or do not report alcohol use during pregnancy [426, 552], making it challenging to identify infants that do not display the characteristics of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome but are still highly vulnerable to complications from alcohol exposure *in utero*.

In recent decades, fatty acid ethyl esters (FAEE), non-oxidative metabolites of alcohol, have attracted attention as a useful and cost-effective screening method for prenatal alcohol exposure [553, 554] and have been measured in blood, tissues, and other matrices such as meconium and hair. Maternal self-report cannot be considered a reference standard due to its unreliability, therefore, calculating specificity and sensitivity estimates will produce biased results [555]. In the current study, estimates of agreement measures (kappa value, overall percent agreement, positive and negative percent agreement) between maternal self-report and a panel of placental FAEEs were calculated. Maternal self-report for alcohol consumption the selected panel of FAEEs agreed on classification 60% of the time. The low overall agreement and (Cohen's) kappa agreement between maternal self-report and FAEE is not surprising given the poor reliability of maternal self-report for alcohol use.

Most studies with FAEE measurements are conducted in full-term models and it is unknown whether the same cutoffs apply to pre-term infants. Our laboratory has examined placental FAEE as biomarkers of prenatal alcohol exposure in a pre-term, low birth weight population (Gauthier, manuscript under review). In the current study, we first examined the placental cytokine profiles stratified by maternal self-report of alcohol use during pregnancy but observed no statistical differences (data not shown). Within the group that self-reported "NO" to alcohol use during pregnancy, we next stratified the samples based on the OLL + Stearate concentrations and observed significant differences in pro-inflammatory cytokines. IL-1 β , IL-6, GM-CSF and IFN γ were increased in those placental tissues above the OLL + Stearate cutoff. We next categorized fetal alcohol exposure solely based on the OLL + Stearate cutoff. We next categorized fetal alcohol exposure solely based on the OLL + Stearate cutoff. IL-1 β , IL-5, IL-6, TNF α , IFN γ , and GM-CSF were statistically increased in alcohol-exposed placentas when compared to unexposed placentas. Additionally, levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-2 and IL-10, increased in alcohol-exposed placental tissues when compared to unexposed placental.

was not statistically different. Even though premature delivery is associated with increased proinflammatory cytokines in placental tissues, the results from this study suggested that fetal alcohol exposure exacerbated the increased cytokine production associated with premature delivery. Limitations in this study include small sample size and, consequently, less power, inability to ascertain "true" exposed cases since due to low agreement between maternal selfreport and placental FAEE, and a high number of undetected cytokine concentrations for both exposed and non-exposed groups. Additionally, the estimate of agreement measures between maternal self-report and FAEE concentrations cutoffs should be interpreted with caution, as agreement does not mean correct and agreement will change as the prevalence in the self-report groups changes [555].

It is important to address that FAEE exist naturally in food flavorings, beverages, lotions, hair care products [556], and in some omega-3 fish oil supplements [557]. However, these ethyl esters are rapidly removed from the body and have not shown to produce any toxic effects [558]. Furthermore, basal FAEE concentrations are low or undetected in those that abstain from alcohol use [428]. Animal studies of mid-gestation acute alcohol exposure have shown accumulation of FAEE in maternal and fetal tissues, while saline-treated animals show complete absence of FAEE [430]. Placental FAEEs as biomarkers of fetal alcohol exposure have not been extensively explored and future research to refine and validate placental FAEE as indicative of alcohol exposure *in utero* is warranted. Additionally, the correlation and estimate of agreement between meconium and placental FAEE should be investigated since meconium FAEE is a more established marker of prenatal alcohol exposure and the combination of the two markers may aid in earlier and more accurate identification of infants exposed to alcohol during gestation.

In summary, these studies suggested that fetal alcohol exposure was associated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines in the placenta. Placental inflammation is often associated with a fetal inflammatory response as defined by increased systemic inflammatory cytokine concentrations. Clinical and epidemiological studies have demonstrated that a fetal inflammatory response leads to poor cardiorespiratory, neurological, and renal outcomes [559]. Whether fetal alcohol exposure leads to a fetal inflammatory response or exacerbates that associated with preterm delivery remains to be determined.



Table 5-1. Agreement between maternal self-report alcohol use during pregnancy anddetected fatty acid ethyl esters above positive cutoff in placenta of 80 subjects

Maternal self-report	OLL + Stearate	Number			
Positive	Detected	17			
Positive	Undetected	8			
Negative	Detected	24			
Negative	undetected	31			
Kappa = 0.239, overall percent agreement: 60 %					
positive percent agreement: 68 %					
negative percent agreement: 56.3 %					

Figure 5-1. Summary of subject recruitment

Table 5-2. Study demographics

	Non-exposed	Exposed	р
	(n=38)	(n=42)	
Maternal race			0.108^{b}
African-American	29 (76.3%)	38 (90.5%)	
Caucasian	7 (18.4%)	2 (4.8%)	
Other	2 (5.3%)	2 (4.8%)	
Maternal age at delivery (Years ± SD)	28.1 ± 7.4	28.6 ± 6.8	0.706^{a}
Marital status			0.173 ^b
Married	10 (26.3%)	6 (14.3%)	
Separated	20 (52.6%)	35 (83.3%)	
Undetermined	8 (21.1%)	1 (2.4%)	
Maternal education			0.499 ^b
High school or less	18 (47.4%)	16 (38.1%)	
Technical school/Jr. college	9 (23.7%)	19 (45.2%)	
Finished college	3 (7.9%)	5 (11.9%)	
Graduate or other post college degree	2 (5.3%)	2 (4.8%)	
No answer	6 (15.8%)	NA	
Maternal Income			0.175^{b}
< 25,000	13 (34.2%)	23 (54.8%)	
25,000 - 54,999	7 (18.4%)	14 (33.3%)	
55,000 - 70,000	1 (2.6%)	1 (2.4%)	
> 70,000	5 (13.2%)	2 (4.8%)	
No answer	12 (31.6%)	2 (4.8%)	
Delivery mode			0.302 ^b
Cesarean	25 (65.8%)	27 (64.3%)	
Vaginal	9 (23.7%)	15 (35.7%)	
No answer	4 (10.5%)	NA	h
Maternal fever	2 (5.3%)	1 (2.4%)	0.463 ^b
Drug Use during pregnancy			
Antibiotic use during pregnancy	12 (31.6%)	16 (38.1%)	0.921 ^b
Illicit drugs	4 (10.5%)	3 (7.1%)	0.465 ^c
Smoking during pregnancy	4 (10.5%)	9 (21.4%)	0.144 ^b
Weight gain in pregnancy (lbs)	18.4 ± 2.07	18.07 ± 1.84	0.899 ^a
Prevalence of diabetes	2	5	0.454 ^c
Infant demographics			
Male	18 (47.4%)	27 (64.2%)	0.165 ^b
Gestational age (weeks ± SD)	28.2 ± 2.7	27.9 ± 2.4	0.597 ^a
Birth weight (g)	1038.4 ± 283.3	1041.2 ± 251.0	0.962 ^a
a t-test			
b Chi- square			
C FISHEL S EXACT LEST			

Pro-inflammatory	Alcohol-exposed	n	Non-exposed	n	<i>p</i> *
IL-1β	0.055 (2.426)	44	0.000 (0.000)	31	0.003
IL-5	0.022 (0.409)	27	0.000 (0.000)	15	0.005
IL-6	0.085 (1.380)	30	0.000 (0.000)	22	0.001
IL-8	1.483 (9.211)	12	0.000 (0.063)	11	0.079
GM-CSF	0.480 (3.754)	43	0.000 (0.287)	29	0.003
ΙΓΝγ	0.503 (7.337)	33	0.000 (0.048)	26	< 0.001
ΤΝFα	0.352 (1.021)	30	0.000 (0.291)	24	0.011
Ant-inflammatory					
IL-2	0.031 (30.277)	22	0.000 (0.000)	18	0.019
IL-4	0.000 (10.401)	14	0.000 (0.000)	11	0.202
IL-10	2.773 (13.839)	30	0.000 (2.201)	21	0.003
Values represent median (interquartile range)					
*Data was not normally distributed and non-parametric tests were used for statistical analysis					

Table 5-3. Cytokine concentrations in all placental tissues

 Table 5-4. Cytokine concentrations in placental tissues from patients that reported "NO" to

 drinking during pregnancy classified by OLL + Stearate cutoff

Pro-inflammatory	Alcohol-exposed	n	Non-exposed	n	p *
IL-1β	0.000 (2.304)	25	0.000 (0.000)	27	0.014
IL-5	0.011 (0.467)	14	0.000 (0.000)	15	0.123
IL-6	0.044 (0.910)	17	0.000 (0.000)	18	0.049
IL-8	0.059 (17.214)	7	0.000 (0.032)	9	0.299
GM-CSF	0.000 (13.695)	25	0.000 (0.258)	26	0.038
ΙΓΝγ	0.196 (9.351)	17	0.000 (0.055)	24	0.038
ΤΝFα	0.350 (1.111)	18	0.000 (0.284)	21	0.069
Ant-inflammatory					
IL-2	0.000 (53.656)	14	0.000 (0.000)	17	0.109
IL-4	0.000 (7.011)	11	0.000 (0.000)	8	0.206
IL-10	2.902 (18.090)	15	0.000 (2.444)	18	0.086
Values represent median (interquartile range)					

*Data was not normally distributed and non-parametric tests were used for statistical analysis

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS, LIMITATIONS, FUTURE DIRECTIONS, PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

Experimental studies

Ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy perturbed maternal AM zinc balance resulting in impaired bacterial clearance, but these effects were improved by *in vitro* zinc treatments

Our goal was to mimic societal patterns where pregnant women who routinely abuse alcohol probably were drinking prior to pregnancy recognition and may therefore have decreased zinc pools compared to women who do not drink prior to pregnancy. To model this, we established a fetal ethanol model where chronic ethanol ingestion by the dams started prior to conception and continued for the duration of pregnancy. We demonstrated that chronic ethanol ingestion prior to pregnancy (\geq 3 weeks) decreased maternal zinc pools in the AM and its immune functions when compared to the control group. *A priori*, we expected that zinc insufficiency would be exacerbated when chronic ethanol ingestion was superimposed on pregnancy. However, comparison of non-pregnant with pregnant dams with ethanol exposure showed no statistical significant differences in intracellular zinc levels. The failure to observe an effect could be due to increased calorie intake by the pregnant groups.

Continued ethanol ingestion (25% of calories) during pregnancy was associated with perturbations in zinc homeostasis and zinc transporter protein expression (ZIP1, ZnT1, ZnT4) in

the maternal AM despite adequate zinc and other nutrients in the diet. Moreover, chronic ethanol ingestion prior to and during pregnancy resulted in decreased AM phagocytic function (54% of control) when compared to pair-fed control group. A central role for zinc availability in the ethanol-induced suppression of phagocytosis was validated by the ability of *in vitro* zinc treatments to restore phagocytosis to control levels. As expected, *in vitro* zinc treatment to AMs isolated from ethanol-fed dams normalized intracellular zinc pools presumably through the restoration of protein expression of the zinc transporters ZIP1, ZnT1 and ZnT4. The control group maintained normal zinc balance in the maternal AM and the dams consumed equivalent amounts of chow, independent of ethanol ingestion. Therefore, chronic ethanol ingestion resulted in depletion of the zinc pool and transporters in the maternal AM despite adequate nutritional intake. Furthermore, the data suggested that the increased risk of respiratory infections due to impaired AM bacterial clearance can be reversed by the simple addition of zinc supplements, however additional studies are necessary.

Zinc availability, zinc transporter expression, and bacterial clearance in the newborn AMs were depressed with fetal alcohol exposure but *in vitro* zinc treatments ameliorated these effects

In the newborn lung, the expression of zinc transporters has received little attention. Although studies in the adult model demonstrated that chronic ethanol ingestion suppresses expression of zinc transporters [31], the effects of fetal ethanol exposure have not been explored. To address this question, we examined the effects on zinc homeostasis in pups born to dams that ingested ethanol \geq 3 weeks prior to conception and during pregnancy. We speculated that the combination of ethanol-induced zinc insufficiency prior to conception and the zinc requirements that occur

during pregnancy would exacerbate zinc insufficiency in the newborn with fetal ethanol exposure.

Pups exposed to chronic ethanol exposure *in utero* displayed ~70% decrease in AM intracellular zinc when compared to the AMs from unexposed pups. Additionally, chronic fetal ethanol exposure was associated with significantly decreased protein expression of Zip1, ZnT1, and ZnT4 when compared to unexposed pups. These results suggested that decreased zinc availability in the AM associated with fetal ethanol exposure correlated with decreased protein expression of the zinc transporters Zip1, ZnT1, and ZnT4. Furthermore, ethanol exposure *in utero* was associated with decreases in phagocytosis, characterized by decreases in the number of cells that internalized bacteria as well as the overall mean fluorescence per cell when compared to control groups.

In vitro treatment with zinc not only normalized the zinc pool and transporters in the AM, it also restored phagocytosis to the AMs derived from the pups with fetal ethanol exposure, as reflected by the increases in mean fluorescence and the percent of cells that internalized bacteria. This data demonstrated that fetal ethanol exposure resulted in decreased expression of zinc transporters and the subsequent decrease in zinc pools in the fetal AMs despite adequate maternal nutritional intake. Additionally, these studies suggested that the impaired immune functions and capacity to clear infectious microbes associated with fetal ethanol exposure may be reversed by zinc supplements however *in vivo* studies are needed.

Clinical study

Cytokine concentrations were higher in alcohol-exposed pre-term placental tissues when compared to unexposed pre-term placental tissues

Several mechanisms may explain the decrease of zinc availability in the newborn pulmonary AM and may derive from complications on the maternal side, placental interface, or neonatal end. It is

known that alcohol exposure impairs placental transfer of nutrients and may affect maternalplacental-fetal transfer by altering zinc transporter expression in the placental surface or by inducing an inflammatory state in the placenta that impairs zinc movement to the fetus. Since placental inflammation is associated with fetal inflammation and the zinc status of the fetus, we first wanted to establish whether fetal alcohol exposure exacerbated placental inflammation, independent of premature birth. To address this question, we focused on characterization of cytokine profiles in human placental tissues from a pre-term population where the in utero alcohol exposure was known. Using a panel of fatty acid ethyl esters as biomarkers of alcohol exposure, we demonstrated that placental pre-term tissues exposed to alcohol during pregnancy had increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines when compared to unexposed placental preterm tissues. Additionally, levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-2 and IL-10, increased in alcohol-exposed placental tissues when compared to non-exposed, while IL-4 did not change. Results from this study suggested that fetal alcohol exposure exacerbated placental inflammation beyond that associated with premature delivery.

LIMITATIONS

Experimental studies

One of the limitations of isolating AMs from newborn mouse pups is the low number of AMs obtained which limits the types and number of assays one can do. In these studies, after plating the cells needed to measure protein expression of zinc transporters, intracellular zinc levels, and AM function, few cells remained and it was not feasible to extract RNA to measure mRNA expression of zinc transporters. Additionally, the low number of AMs isolated at birth limited us in the number of zinc transporters we could measure. Moreover, the amounts of AMs isolated from newborn pups do not allow for exploration of dose-response experiments with zinc

treatments. It is unclear if the observed effects of fetal ethanol exposure on zinc homeostasis and AM bacterial clearance improve with maturation. Furthermore, while AMs are the primary immune response in the lung, other cells display anti-microbial activity and it is unclear if they are similarly affected by ethanol exposure *in utero*.

Experimental models portray controlled scenarios and may not translate as clearly in human studies where compliance may be poor and alcohol consumption is underreported. Additionally, even though zinc deficiency is a cause of disease and can affect disease progression, single nutrient deficiencies are rare and it is necessary to study nutrient deficiencies that often occur together in human population studies. Pregnant women that are consuming a diet deficient in one element, most likely are consuming suboptimal amounts of other nutrients because of food disparity or insufficient availability, among others.

Clinical study

Limitations in our clinical study include small sample size and consequently less power, inability to ascertain "true" exposed cases due to low agreement between maternal self-report and placental FAEE, and a high number of undetected cytokine concentrations for both exposed and non-exposed groups. The estimate of agreement measures between maternal self-report and FAEE concentrations cutoffs should be interpreted with caution, as agreement does not mean correct and agreement will change as the prevalence in the self-report groups changes [555]. Furthermore, more studies are required to establish placental FAEE as biomarkers for fetal alcohol exposure and to explore whether a dose-response curve exists between placental FAEE accumulation and amounts of alcohol consumed during pregnancy.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In the United States 1 in 2 women of child-bearing age use alcohol and 15% of women who drink alcohol in this age group binge drink [4]. Since nearly 50% of pregnancies are unplanned, many women may unintentionally expose their developing fetus to continuous or acute high levels of alcohol exposure until pregnancy recognition and possibly beyond that. The effects of different alcohol patterns on zinc homeostasis and lung immune defense in the newborn have not been well-explored and animal models of binge ethanol ingestion and trimester exposures may provide some insight. Additionally, *in vivo* maternal zinc supplementation in combination with ethanol exposure during pregnancy could be explored to see if fetal derangements are inhibited when zinc is administered alongside ethanol.

Realistically, pregnant women consuming alcohol during pregnancy are less likely to take prenatal supplements or eat healthy, thus it is important to explore if postnatal zinc supplementation to the infant can reverse the negative effects of alcohol on the newborn lung. The premature infant exposed to alcohol *in utero* is at risk for zinc deficiency from a combination of alcohol exposure and premature birth since alcohol may impair zinc transfer and since nearly 60% of fetal zinc is acquired during third trimester of pregnancy [560] and can often display AE-like symptoms, such as skin lesions [561]. In exploring a safe and effective dose in treatment of the premature infant, factors such as interference with absorption of other metals, toxicity, and mode of administration need to be taken into account. Zinc may interfere with absorption of copper and iron, and mode and time of supplementation matter, where administration levels absorption should not be inhibited [181].

The American Society for Clinical Nutrition recommends zinc supplementation at 400 µg/kg/day for premature infants [562]. In a case report study, zinc supplementation at 146%-195% from the

recommended amounts of 400ug/kg/day, given with parenteral nutrition to infants born at 24-31weeks with a birth weight of 650-940g and at risk for zinc deficiency, improved skin lesions with no signs of toxicity displayed [561]. Another case study reported that oral zinc supplementation (3mg zinc gluconate/kg/day) healed skin lesions in an infant born 29 weeks gestation with no apparent toxicity [563]. Future studies examining the effects of zinc supplementation on immune function of the premature infant exposed to alcohol *in utero* can start with doses 800 µg/kg/day of elemental zinc added to parenteral nutrition.

The ability of oral zinc supplementation to decrease the risk of respiratory infections in the alcohol-exposed newborn could be determined by bacterial challenge *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro* experiments would involve isolation of AMs from pups and incubation with fluorescent-tagged inactivated bacteria, as demonstrated in current analyses of this dissertation. *In vivo* experiments would involve administration of group B streptococcus (**GBS**) *pneumonia* intratracheally [564] or intranasally [18] to the pups, followed by a recovery period, after which AMs would be isolated as described in **Chapter 4**. Measurement of ingested GBS would be done by incubating isolated AMs with antibodies, and analyses would be conducted with fluorescent microscopy. In these studies we focused on AMs and it is unclear if other immune cells are similarly affected and further studies are warranted. Also, other zinc transporters that express in the lung such as ZIP8 and ZIP14, could be examined.

Further investigations can explore the relationship between zinc and anti-inflammatory regulator, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (**Nrf2**). Nrf2 plays a crucial role in resistance to oxidative stress, with Nrf2 target genes regulating drug metabolism and disposition, antioxidant defense, and oxidant signaling (reviewed in [565]). In the anti-oxidant defense Nrf2 is involved 1) in induction of catabolism of superoxides and peroxides through superoxide dismutases, peroxiredoxins, and glutaredoxins, 2) in reduction of glutathione disulfide (**GSSG**) and synthesis

of glutathione (**GSH**), 3) and induction of stress response, among others [565]. Nrf2 knockout mice display heightened inflammation and susceptibility to chemical toxicity [565] while overexpression of Nrf2 protects from ethanol-induced oxidative stress and lipid accumulation in the liver of ethanol treated mice [566]. In the lung, experimental models show that alcohol causes alveolar epithelial oxidative stress by down-regulation of Nrf2 pathways [567] and zinc supplementation improves binding of Nrf2 in AMs and decreases oxidative stress [163]. Our laboratory has extensively shown that alcohol-induced depletion of major anti-oxidant GSH in the lung results in alveolar macrophage and epithelia cell dysfunction in adult and fetal models [17, 18, 150, 168]. Nrf2 modulates GSH pathways by transcriptional regulation of glutathione reductase [568], which reduces GSSG to GSH. Future studies can explore whether ethanol exposure *in utero* alters Nrf2 expression in the newborn AM and whether zinc supplementation can restore Nrf2 expression, GSH levels, and bacterial clearance in the alcohol-exposed newborn pulmonary AMs.

Furthermore, Nrf2 may be necessary for placental development and protection against oxidative damage [569]. Pregnancy complications such as preeclampsia are often characterized by increased oxidative stress in the placenta and Nrf2 mRNA expression is significantly decreased in preeclamptic placentas when compared to placentas from normal pregnant women [570]. It would be important to investigate how alcohol exposure *in utero* alters Nrf2 expression in the placenta and whether zinc supplementation can neutralize alcohol-induced derangements through restoration of Nrf2 and its target genes.

As it pertains to biomarkers of prenatal alcohol exposure, more studies are needed to examine placental FAEE not only as biomarkers of chronic alcohol exposure but also as biomarkers of partial alcohol exposure *in utero*. Additionally, the correlation and estimate of agreement between meconium and placental FAEE should be investigated since meconium FAEE is a more

established marker of prenatal alcohol exposure and the combination of the two markers may aid in earlier and more accurate identification of infants exposed to alcohol during gestation. As it pertains to zinc, future studies can examine the relationship between zinc status and placental transfer in response to inflammatory stimuli and how alcohol affects zinc transporter expression in the placenta. Of importance may be measurement of ZIP8 and ZIP14 which are known to be up-regulated in response to inflammatory stimuli such as TNF α or LPS challenge.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH

To date there is no conventionally accepted biomarker of long-term fetal alcohol exposure. Early identification of infants exposed to alcohol *in utero* allows for early intervention which has shown to reduce secondary disabilities including neurocognitive and attention deficits often observed during the childhood years [545, 546]. Maternal self-report is widely used to identify infants that have been exposed to alcohol during gestation however, it is well-known that mothers consuming alcohol during pregnancy underreport the amount and frequency of consumption possibly due to difficulty to recall and due to the social stigma associated with alcohol use during pregnancy [426]. Further research refining placental FAEEs as biomarkers of alcohol exposure will aid clinicians in promptly identifying infants exposed to ethanol *in utero* and immediately intervening with zinc supplementation to prevent pulmonary infections. Modification of immune responses with zinc supplementation can also prove beneficial in the alcohol-exposed placenta, where there is an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines and a decrease in anti-inflammatory cytokines with alcohol exposure. Even though zinc supplementation will not solve all problems created by fetal alcohol exposure, it will ameliorate some alcohol-induced lung injury of affected infants.

Our findings could have implications outside the alcohol-exposed infant. Zinc deficiency is linked with pulmonary conditions such as cystic fibrosis (**CF**) and asthma [571, 572]. In CF, zinc supplementation appears to be promising as an adjuvant therapy to antibiotic treatment, which has been increasingly ineffective due to the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria [573]. A small study in pediatric CF patients showed reduction of oral antibiotic use, marginal reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokine production, and increased anti-inflammatory cytokine levels with zinc supplementation (30mg/day) [574].

REFERENCES

- Mokdad Ah Fau Marks, J.S., et al., *Actual causes of death in the United States*, 2000. (1538-3598 (Electronic)).
- 2. Bouchery Ee Fau Harwood, H.J., et al., *Economic costs of excessive alcohol consumption in the U.S.*, 2006. (1873-2607 (Electronic)).
- 3. Rehm J Fau Mathers, C., et al., *Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders*. (1474-547X (Electronic)).
- CDC, C.f.D.C.a.P., Alcohol Use and Binge Drinking Among Women of Childbearing Age
 United States, 2006–2010. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2012. 61: p. 534-538.
- 5. (CDC), C.f.D.C.a.P.; Available from: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/alcohol-use.htm</u>.
- Lupton, C., L. Burd, and R. Harwood, *Cost of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders*. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet, 2004. 127c(1): p. 42-50.
- 7. Koren, G., et al., *Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder*. Cmaj, 2003. **169**(11): p. 1181-5.
- Sokol, R.J., V. Delaney-Black, and B. Nordstrom, *Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder*. JAMA, 2003. 290(22): p. 2996-9.
- 9. Hoyme, H.E., et al., A practical clinical approach to diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: clarification of the 1996 institute of medicine criteria. Pediatrics, 2005.
 115(1): p. 39-47.
- Jones, K.L. and D.W. Smith, *Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy*.
 Lancet, 1973. **302**(7836): p. 999-1001.
- Clarren, S.K. and D.W. Smith, *The fetal alcohol syndrome*. N Engl J Med, 1978. 298(19):p. 1063-7.
- May, P.A. and J.P. Gossage, *Estimating the prevalence of fetal alcohol syndrome*. A summary. Alcohol Res Health, 2001. 25(3): p. 159-67.

- Alcohol use among pregnant and nonpregnant women of childbearing age United States, 1991-2005. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2009. 58(19): p. 529-32.
- Sokol, R.J., et al., *Extreme prematurity: an alcohol-related birth effect*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2007. **31**(6): p. 1031-7.
- Bellanti, J.A. and B.J. Zeligs, *Developmental aspects of pulmonary defenses in children*.
 Pediatr Pulmonol Suppl, 1995. 11: p. 79-80.
- Sherman, M.P. and T. Ganz, *Host defense in pulmonary alveoli*. Annu Rev Physiol, 1992.
 54: p. 331-50.
- 17. Gauthier, T.W., et al., *Fetal alcohol exposure impairs alveolar macrophage function via decreased glutathione availability*. Pediatr Res, 2005. **57**(1): p. 76-81.
- Brown, L.A., et al., *Glutathione availability modulates alveolar macrophage function in the chronic ethanol-fed rat.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2007. 292(4): p. L824-32.
- 19. Gauthier, T.W., et al., *In utero ethanol exposure impairs defenses against experimental group B streptococcus in the term Guinea pig lung*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2009. 33(2):
 p. 300-6.
- Gauthier, T.W., et al., *Maternal alcohol abuse and neonatal infection*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2005. 29(6): p. 1035-43.
- 21. Gauthier, T.W., M.H. Manar, and L.A. Brown, *Is maternal alcohol use a risk factor for early-onset sepsis in premature newborns?* Alcohol, 2004. **33**(2): p. 139-45.
- 22. Picciano, M.F., *Pregnancy and lactation: physiological adjustments, nutritional* requirements and the role of dietary supplements. J Nutr, 2003. **133**(6): p. 1997s-2002s.
- 23. Allen, J.I., et al., *Alterations in human natural killer cell activity and monocyte cytotoxicity induced by zinc deficiency*. J Lab Clin Med, 1983. **102**(4): p. 577-89.
- Keen, C.L. and M.E. Gershwin, *Zinc deficiency and immune function*. Annu Rev Nutr, 1990. 10: p. 415-31.

- 25. Fraker, P.J., et al., *Possible roles for glucocorticoids and apoptosis in the suppression of lymphopoiesis during zinc deficiency: a review.* J Am Coll Nutr, 1995. **14**(1): p. 11-7.
- 26. Osati-Ashtiani, F., L.E. King, and P.J. Fraker, *Variance in the resistance of murine early bone marrow B cells to a deficiency in zinc*. Immunology, 1998. **94**(1): p. 94-100.
- Ibs, K.H. and L. Rink, *Zinc-altered immune function*. J Nutr, 2003. 133(5 Suppl 1): p. 1452S-6S.
- Rink, L. and P. Gabriel, *Zinc and the immune system*. Proc Nutr Soc, 2000. **59**(4): p. 541-52.
- Rink, L. and P. Gabriel, *Extracellular and immunological actions of zinc*. Biometals, 2001. 14(3-4): p. 367-83.
- 30. Chua, J.S., A.M. Rofe, and P. Coyle, *Dietary zinc supplementation ameliorates LPS-induced teratogenicity in mice*. Pediatr Res, 2006. **59**(3): p. 355-8.
- 31. Joshi, P.C., et al., *Zinc deficiency mediates alcohol-induced alveolar epithelial and macrophage dysfunction in rats.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2009. **41**(2): p. 207-16.
- 32. Lieber, C.S., *Relationships between nutrition, alcohol use, and liver disease.* (1535-7414 (Print)).
- 33. Gloria, L., et al., *Nutritional deficiencies in chronic alcoholics: relation to dietary intake and alcohol consumption.* (0002-9270 (Print)).
- 34. Dinsmore, W., et al., *Zinc absorption in alcoholics using zinc-65*. Digestion, 1985. 32(4):p. 238-42.
- 35. C., B.J.a.B., *Alcohol malnutrition and the gastrointestinal tract*, in *Nutrition and Alcohol*,
 W.B. Watson RR, Editor. 1990, CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL. p. 403-428.
- McClain Cj Fau Su, L.C. and L.C. Su, *Zinc deficiency in the alcoholic: a review*. (0145-6008 (Print)).

- Zidenberg-Cherr, S., C.L. Rosenbaum J Fau Keen, and C.L. Keen, *Influence of ethanol consumption on maternal-fetal transfer of zinc in pregnant rats on day 14 of pregnancy.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 38. Gonzalez-Reimers, E., et al., *Relative and combined effects of ethanol and protein deficiency on zinc, iron, copper, and manganese contents in different organs and urinary and fecal excretion.* (0741-8329 (Print)).
- 39. Bode, J.C., *Alcohol and the gastrointestinal tract*. Ergeb Inn Med Kinderheilkd, 1980.
 45: p. 1-75.
- 40. Dinsmore, W.W., et al., *The effect of alcohol on zinc absorption : Studies using rat small intestinal perfusion*. (0163-4984 (Print)).
- Lieber, C.S., *ALCOHOL: its metabolism and interaction with nutrients*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2000. 20: p. 395-430.
- 42. Bode, C. and J.C. Bode, *Effect of alcohol consumption on the gut*. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol, 2003. **17**(4): p. 575-92.
- 43. Cancer, I.A.f.R.o., Acetylaldehyde, in IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. 1999, IARC, World Health Organization: Lyon, France.
- 44. Cancer, I.A.f.R.o., *Aldehydes*, in *IARC monographs on the Evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans. Allyl compounds, aldehydes, epoxides and peroxides.* 1985, World Health Organization: Lyon, France. p. 101-32.
- 45. Clemens, D.L., et al., *Relationship between acetaldehyde levels and cell survival in ethanol-metabolizing hepatoma cells.* (0270-9139 (Print)).
- 46. Molina, P.E., et al., *Mechanisms of alcohol-induced tissue injury*. (0145-6008 (Print)).
- 47. el Ghissassi, F., et al., *Formation of 1,N6-ethenoadenine and 3,N4-ethenocytosine by lipid peroxidation products and nucleic acid bases.* (0893-228X (Print)).

- 48. Zhou, L., et al., *Oxidative stress-induced 1, N6-ethenodeoxyadenosine adduct formation contributes to hepatocarcinogenesis.* (1791-2431 (Electronic)).
- 49. Werner, J., et al., *Linkage of oxidative and nonoxidative ethanol metabolism in the pancreas and toxicity of nonoxidative ethanol metabolites for pancreatic acinar cells.* Surgery, 2001. **129**(6): p. 736-44.
- Kaphalia, B.S. and G.A. Ansari, *Fatty acid ethyl esters and ethanol-induced pancreatitis*.
 Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand), 2001. 47 Online Pub: p. Ol173-9.
- 51. Niemela, O. and P. Alatalo, *Biomarkers of alcohol consumption and related liver disease*.
 Scand J Clin Lab Invest, 2010. **70**(5): p. 305-12.
- 52. Maenhout, T.M., M.L. De Buyzere, and J.R. Delanghe, *Non-oxidative ethanol metabolites as a measure of alcohol intake*. Clin Chim Acta, 2013. **415**: p. 322-9.
- 53. Niemela, O., *Biomarkers in alcoholism*. Clin Chim Acta, 2007. **377**(1-2): p. 39-49.
- 54. Ingall, G.B., *Alcohol biomarkers*. Clin Lab Med, 2012. **32**(3): p. 391-406.
- 55. Joya, X., et al., Determination of maternal-fetal biomarkers of prenatal exposure to ethanol: A review. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 2012. 69(0): p. 209-222.
- Golka, K. and A. Wiese, *Carbohydrate-deficient transferrin (CDT)--a biomarker for long-term alcohol consumption*. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev, 2004. 7(4): p. 319-37.
- 57. Savage, D.G., et al., *Etiology and diagnostic evaluation of macrocytosis*. Am J Med Sci, 2000. **319**(6): p. 343-52.
- 58. Hietala, J., et al., IgAs against acetaldehyde-modified red cell protein as a marker of ethanol consumption in male alcoholic subjects, moderate drinkers, and abstainers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2006. 30(10): p. 1693-8.

- 59. Hazelett, S.E., et al., Evaluation of acetaldehyde-modified hemoglobin and other markers of chronic heavy alcohol use: effects of gender and hemoglobin concentration. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 1998. 22(8): p. 1813-9.
- 60. Hurme, L., et al., *Chromatographically identified alcohol-induced haemoglobin adducts as markers of alcohol abuse among women*. Eur J Clin Invest, 1998. **28**(2): p. 87-94.
- Brinkmann, B., et al., *ROC analysis of alcoholism markers--100% specificity*. Int J Legal Med, 2000. 113(5): p. 293-9.
- 62. Politi, L., et al., *Bioanalytical procedures for determination of conjugates or fatty acid esters of ethanol as markers of ethanol consumption: a review.* Anal Biochem, 2007.
 368(1): p. 1-16.
- 63. Schmitt, G., et al., *Ethyl glucuronide concentration in serum of human volunteers*, *teetotalers, and suspected drinking drivers.* J Forensic Sci, 1997. **42**(6): p. 1099-102.
- 64. Dahl, H., et al., *Comparison of urinary excretion characteristics of ethanol and ethyl glucuronide*. J Anal Toxicol, 2002. **26**(4): p. 201-4.
- 65. Wurst, F.M., et al., *On sensitivity, specificity, and the influence of various parameters on ethyl glucuronide levels in urine--results from the WHO/ISBRA study.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2004. **28**(8): p. 1220-8.
- 66. Costantino, A., et al., *The effect of the use of mouthwash on ethylglucuronide concentrations in urine*. J Anal Toxicol, 2006. **30**(9): p. 659-62.
- 67. Rohrig, T.P., et al., *Detection of ethylglucuronide in urine following the application of Germ-X*. J Anal Toxicol, 2006. **30**(9): p. 703-4.
- Karch, S.B., *Ethanol-based hand cleansers*. Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine, 2009. 16(8): p. 497-498.
- 69. Thierauf, A., et al., *Urine tested positive for ethyl glucuronide and ethyl sulphate after the consumption of "non-alcoholic" beer*. Forensic Sci Int, 2010. **202**(1-3): p. 82-5.
- 70. Thierauf, A., et al., *Urine tested positive for ethyl glucuronide after trace amounts of ethanol.* Addiction, 2009. **104**(12): p. 2007-12.
- 71. Thierauf, A., et al., *Urine tested positive for ethyl glucuronide and ethyl sulfate after the consumption of yeast and sugar*. Forensic Sci Int, 2010. **202**(1-3): p. e45-7.
- 72. Wurst, F.M., et al., *Ethyl sulphate: a direct ethanol metabolite reflecting recent alcohol consumption*. Addiction, 2006. **101**(2): p. 204-11.
- 73. Gustavsson, L. and C. Alling, *Formation of phosphatidylethanol in rat brain by phospholipase D.* Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 1987. 142(3):
 p. 958-963.
- 74. Varga, A., et al., *Normalization rate and cellular localization of phosphatidylethanol in whole blood from chronic alcoholics*. Clinica Chimica Acta, 2000. **299**(1–2): p. 141-150.
- 75. Hansson, P., et al., *Blood Phosphatidylethanol as a Marker of Alcohol Abuse: Levels in Alcoholic Males during Withdrawal*. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 1997. 21(1): p. 108-110.
- 76. Wurst, F.M., et al., *Ethyl Glucuronide Discloses Recent Covert Alcohol Use Not Detected by Standard Testing in Forensic Psychiatric Inpatients*. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 2003. 27(3): p. 471-476.
- Szczepiorkowski, Z.M., G.R. Dickersin, and M. Laposata, *Fatty acid ethyl esters decrease human hepatoblastoma cell proliferation and protein synthesis*.
 Gastroenterology, 1995. 108(2): p. 515-22.
- Hungund, B.L., et al., Formation of fatty acid ethyl esters during chronic ethanol treatment in mice. Biochem Pharmacol, 1988. 37(15): p. 3001-4.
- 79. Beckemeier, M.E. and P.S. Bora, *Fatty acid ethyl esters: potentially toxic products of myocardial ethanol metabolism.* J Mol Cell Cardiol, 1998. **30**(11): p. 2487-94.
- 80. Laposata, E.A. and L.G. Lange, *Presence of nonoxidative ethanol metabolism in human organs commonly damaged by ethanol abuse*. Science, 1986. **231**(4737): p. 497-9.

- Doyle, K.M., et al., *Fatty acid ethyl esters in the blood as markers for ethanol intake*.
 Jama, 1996. **276**(14): p. 1152-6.
- 82. Soderberg, B.L., et al., *Preanalytical variables affecting the quantification of fatty acid ethyl esters in plasma and serum samples.* Clin Chem, 1999. **45**(12): p. 2183-90.
- 83. Soderberg, B.L., et al., *Fatty acid ethyl esters*. *Ethanol metabolites that reflect ethanol intake*. Am J Clin Pathol, 2003. **119 Suppl**: p. S94-9.
- Kaphalia, B.S., et al., *Fatty acid ethyl esters: markers of alcohol abuse and alcoholism*.
 Alcohol, 2004. **34**(2-3): p. 151-8.
- 85. DePergola, G., et al., *The metabolism of ethyl esters of fatty acids in adipose tissue of rats chronically exposed to ethanol.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 1991. **15**(2): p. 184-9.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Gender differences in risk factors and consequences for alcohol use and problems. Clin Psychol Rev, 2004. 24(8): p. 981-1010.
- 87. (NIAAA), N.I.o.A.A.a.A.; Available from:
 <u>http://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/brochurewomen/Woman_English.pdf</u>.
- Coronado, G.D., J. Beasley, and J. Livaudais, *Alcohol consumption and the risk of breast cancer*. Salud Publica Mex, 2011. 53(5): p. 440-7.
- Wheeler, M.D., *Endotoxin and Kupffer cell activation in alcoholic liver disease*. Alcohol Res Health, 2003. 27(4): p. 300-6.
- 90. Kono, H., et al., *Gender differences in early alcohol-induced liver injury: role of CD14, NF-kappaB, and TNF-alpha.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2000. 278(4): p.
 G652-61.
- 91. Corrao G Fau Bagnardi, V., et al., *A meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and the risk of 15 diseases*. (0091-7435 (Print)).
- 92. Rehm, J., et al., *Alcohol-related morbidity and mortality*. Alcohol Res Health, 2003.
 27(1): p. 39-51.

- 93. Rehm, J.T., et al., *Alcohol consumption and coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality*. Am J Epidemiol, 1997. **146**(6): p. 495-501.
- 94. Patra, J., et al., Alcohol consumption and the risk of morbidity and mortality for different stroke types--a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health, 2010. 10: p. 258.
- 95. Baliunas, D.O., et al., *Alcohol as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis.* Diabetes Care, 2009. **32**(11): p. 2123-32.
- 96. Wei, M., et al., *Alcohol intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes in men*. Diabetes Care, 2000. 23(1): p. 18-22.
- 97. Hodge, A.M., et al., *Alcohol intake, consumption pattern and beverage type, and the risk of Type 2 diabetes.* Diabet Med, 2006. **23**(6): p. 690-7.
- 98. Conigrave, K.M., et al., A prospective study of drinking patterns in relation to risk of type
 2 diabetes among men. Diabetes, 2001. 50(10): p. 2390-5.
- 99. Pietraszek, A., S. Gregersen, and K. Hermansen, *Alcohol and type 2 diabetes. A review*.
 Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2010. 20(5): p. 366-75.
- Feuerlein, W., *Neuropsychiatric disorders of alcoholism*. Nutr Metab, 1977. 21(1-3): p. 163-74.
- Boden, J.M. and D.M. Fergusson, *Alcohol and depression*. Addiction, 2011. 106(5): p. 906-14.
- 102. Fergusson, D.M., J.M. Boden, and L.J. Horwood, *Tests of causal links between alcohol abuse or dependence and major depression*. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 2009. **66**(3): p. 260-6.
- 103. Gea, A., et al., *Alcohol intake, wine consumption and the development of depression: the PREDIMED study.* BMC Med, 2013. **11**: p. 192.
- 104. Samokhvalov, A.V., et al., *Alcohol consumption, unprovoked seizures, and epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Epilepsia, 2010. **51**(7): p. 1177-84.
- 105. Osiezagha, K., et al., Thiamine deficiency and delirium. (2158-8333 (Print)).

- Ng, S.K., G.C. Kabat, and E.L. Wynder, *Oral cavity cancer in non-users of tobacco*. J
 Natl Cancer Inst, 1993. 85(9): p. 743-5.
- Fioretti, F., et al., *Risk factors for oral and pharyngeal cancer in never smokers*. Oral Oncol, 1999. 35(4): p. 375-8.
- 108. Turati, F., et al., *A meta-analysis of alcohol drinking and oral and pharyngeal cancers: results from subgroup analyses.* Alcohol Alcohol, 2013. **48**(1): p. 107-18.
- Huang, W.Y., et al., Alcohol concentration and risk of oral cancer in Puerto Rico. Am J
 Epidemiol, 2003. 157(10): p. 881-7.
- Wu, A.H., P. Wan, and L. Bernstein, A multiethnic population-based study of smoking, alcohol and body size and risk of adenocarcinomas of the stomach and esophagus (United States). Cancer Causes Control, 2001. 12(8): p. 721-32.
- Hardikar, S., et al., *The role of tobacco, alcohol, and obesity in neoplastic progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma: a prospective study of Barrett's esophagus*. PLoS One, 2013. 8(1): p. e52192.
- 112. Matsuo, K., et al., *The aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2) Glu504Lys polymorphism interacts with alcohol drinking in the risk of stomach cancer*. Carcinogenesis, 2013.
 34(7): p. 1510-5.
- 113. Everatt, R., et al., Alcohol consumption and risk of gastric cancer: a cohort study of men in Kaunas, Lithuania, with up to 30 years follow-up. BMC Cancer, 2012. **12**: p. 475.
- D'Avanzo, B., C. La Vecchia, and S. Franceschi, *Alcohol consumption and the risk of gastric cancer*. Nutr Cancer, 1994. 22(1): p. 57-64.
- Mizoue, T., et al., Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer risk: an evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence among the Japanese population. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2006. 36(9): p. 582-97.
- 116. Franceschi, S. and C. La Vecchia, Alcohol and the risk of cancers of the stomach and colon-rectum. Dig Dis, 1994. 12(5): p. 276-89.

- 117. Corrao, G., et al., *A meta-analysis of alcohol consumption and the risk of 15 diseases*.
 Prev Med, 2004. **38**(5): p. 613-9.
- Herreros-Villanueva, M., et al., *Alcohol consumption on pancreatic diseases*. World J Gastroenterol, 2013. **19**(5): p. 638-47.
- 119. Wakai, K., et al., Alcohol drinking and lung cancer risk: an evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence among the Japanese population. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2007. 37(3): p. 168-74.
- Bandera, E.V., J.L. Freudenheim, and J.E. Vena, *Alcohol consumption and lung cancer: a review of the epidemiologic evidence*. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2001. 10(8): p. 813-21.
- 121. Hamajima, N., et al., *Alcohol, tobacco and breast cancer--collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 58,515 women with breast cancer and 95,067 women without the disease.* Br J Cancer, 2002. **87**(11): p. 1234-45.
- 122. Tanaka, K., et al., Alcohol drinking and liver cancer risk: an evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence among the Japanese population. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2008. 38(12): p. 816-38.
- 123. Grewal, P. and V.A. Viswanathen, *Liver cancer and alcohol*. Clin Liver Dis, 2012. 16(4):p. 839-50.
- Boffetta, P. and M. Hashibe, *Alcohol and cancer*. The Lancet Oncology, 2006. 7(2): p. 149-156.
- 125. Lilla, C., et al., Alcohol dehydrogenase 1B (ADH1B) genotype, alcohol consumption and breast cancer risk by age 50 years in a German case-control study. Br J Cancer, 2005.
 92(11): p. 2039-41.
- 126. Gu, H., et al., *A variant allele of ADH1B and ALDH2, is associated with the risk of esophageal cancer.* Exp Ther Med, 2012. **4**(1): p. 135-140.

- 127. Wang, Y., et al., *Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and ALDH2 and ADH1B polymorphisms in Chinese females*. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 2011. 12(8): p. 2065-8.
- 128. Yokoyama, A., T. Omori, and T. Yokoyama, *Alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenase* polymorphisms and a new strategy for prevention and screening for cancer in the upper aerodigestive tract in East Asians. Keio J Med, 2010. **59**(4): p. 115-30.
- 129. Yokoyama, A. and T. Omori, Genetic Polymorphisms of Alcohol and Aldehyde Dehydrogenases and Risk for Esophageal and Head and Neck Cancers. Alcohol, 2005.
 35(3): p. 175-185.
- Beier, J.I. and C.J. McClain, *Mechanisms and cell signaling in alcoholic liver disease*.Biol Chem, 2010. **391**(11): p. 1249-64.
- Day, C.P., *Who gets alcoholic liver disease: nature or nurture?* J R Coll Physicians Lond, 2000. 34(6): p. 557-62.
- Mann, R.E., R.G. Smart, and R. Govoni, *The epidemiology of alcoholic liver disease*.Alcohol Res Health, 2003. 27(3): p. 209-19.
- Rehm, J., et al., Alcohol as a risk factor for liver cirrhosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Drug Alcohol Rev, 2010. 29(4): p. 437-45.
- 134. Moss, M., et al., *The role of chronic alcohol abuse in the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome in adults.* (0098-7484 (Print)).
- 135. Joshi, P.C. and D.M. Guidot, *The alcoholic lung: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and potential therapies.* (1040-0605 (Print)).
- 136. Moss, M., et al., Chronic alcohol abuse is associated with an increased incidence of acute respiratory distress syndrome and severity of multiple organ dysfunction in patients with septic shock. Crit Care Med, 2003. 31(3): p. 869-77.
- 137. de Roux, A., et al., *Impact of alcohol abuse in the etiology and severity of communityacquired pneumonia.* (0012-3692 (Print)).

- 138. Fernandez-Sola, J., et al., *High alcohol intake as a risk and prognostic factor for community-acquired pneumonia*. Arch Intern Med, 1995. **155**(15): p. 1649-54.
- 139. Jong, G.M., et al., *Rapidly fatal outcome of bacteremic Klebsiella pneumoniae pneumonia in alcoholics*. (0012-3692 (Print)).
- 140. Perlino Ca Fau Rimland, D. and D. Rimland, *Alcoholism, leukopenia, and pneumococcal sepsis.* (0003-0805 (Print)).
- 141. Happel, K.I. and S. Nelson, *Alcohol, immunosuppression, and the lung.* (1546-3222 (Print)).
- 142. Gamble, L., S. Mason Cm Fau Nelson, and S. Nelson, *The effects of alcohol on immunity and bacterial infection in the lung.* (0399-077X (Print)).
- 143. Mehta, A.J. and D.M. Guidot, *Alcohol abuse, the alveolar macrophage and pneumonia*.Am J Med Sci, 2012. **343**(3): p. 244-7.
- 144. Fuxench-Lopez, Z. and C.H. Ramirez-Ronda, *Pharyngeal flora in ambulatory alcoholic patients: prevalence of gram-negative bacilli*. Arch Intern Med, 1978. **138**(12): p. 1815-6.
- 145. Brown, S.D., T.W. Gauthier, and L.A. Brown, *Impaired terminal differentiation of pulmonary macrophages in a Guinea pig model of chronic ethanol ingestion*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2009. **33**(10): p. 1782-93.
- 146. Standiford, T.J. and J.M. Danforth, *Ethanol Feeding Inhibits Proinflammatory Cytokine Expression from Murine Alveolar Macrophages Ex Vivo*. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 1997. **21**(7): p. 1212-1217.
- Boe, D.M., et al., *Alcohol-induced suppression of lung chemokine production and the host defense response to Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2003. 27(11):
 p. 1838-45.

- 148. Zhang, P., et al., *Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor modulates the pulmonary host response to endotoxin in the absence and presence of acute ethanol intoxication.* J Infect Dis, 1999. **179**(6): p. 1441-8.
- Zhang, P., et al., Acute alcohol intoxication suppresses the CXC chemokine response during endotoxemia. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2002. 26(1): p. 65-73.
- Brown, L.A., et al., *Effect of chronic ethanol ingestion on alveolar type II cell: glutathione and inflammatory mediator-induced apoptosis*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2001. **25**(7): p. 1078-85.
- 151. Brown, L.A., F.L. Harris, and D.M. Guidot, *Chronic ethanol ingestion potentiates TNF-alpha-mediated oxidative stress and apoptosis in rat type II cells*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2001. **281**(2): p. L377-86.
- 152. Holguin, F., et al., *Chronic ethanol ingestion impairs alveolar type II cell glutathione homeostasis and function and predisposes to endotoxin-mediated acute edematous lung injury in rats.* J Clin Invest, 1998. **101**(4): p. 761-8.
- Lois, M., et al., *Ethanol ingestion increases activation of matrix metalloproteinases in rat lungs during acute endotoxemia*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1999. 160(4): p. 1354-60.
- 154. Bechara, R.I., et al., *Transforming growth factor beta1 expression and activation is increased in the alcoholic rat lung.* (1073-449X (Print)).
- 155. Guidot, D.M., et al., *Ethanol ingestion via glutathione depletion impairs alveolar epithelial barrier function in rats.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2000. 279(1): p. L127-35.
- Brown, L.A., et al., *Alveolar type II cells from ethanol-fed rats produce a fibronectinenriched extracellular matrix that promotes monocyte activation*. Alcohol, 2007. **41**(5):
 p. 317-24.
- Moss, M., et al., *The effects of chronic alcohol abuse on pulmonary glutathione homeostasis*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2000. 161(2 Pt 1): p. 414-9.

- Wright, J.W., et al., *Elevations in plasma angiotensin II with prolonged ethanol treatment in rats*. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 1986. 24(4): p. 813-8.
- 159. Bechara, R.I., et al., Chronic ethanol ingestion increases expression of the angiotensin II type 2 (AT2) receptor and enhances tumor necrosis factor-alpha- and angiotensin IIinduced cytotoxicity via AT2 signaling in rat alveolar epithelial cells. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2003. 27(6): p. 1006-14.
- 160. Joshi, P.C., et al., *GM-CSF receptor expression and signaling is decreased in lungs of ethanol-fed rats.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2006. **291**(6): p. L1150-8.
- 161. Joshi, P.C., et al., Chronic ethanol ingestion in rats decreases granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor expression and downstream signaling in the alveolar macrophage. J Immunol, 2005. 175(10): p. 6837-45.
- 162. Pelaez, A., et al., Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor treatment improves alveolar epithelial barrier function in alcoholic rat lung. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2004. 286(1): p. L106-11.
- 163. Mehta, A.J., et al., Zinc supplementation restores PU.1 and Nrf2 nuclear binding in alveolar macrophages and improves redox balance and bacterial clearance in the lungs of alcohol-fed rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2011. 35(8): p. 1519-28.
- 164. Lieber, C.S., *Biochemical factors in alcoholic liver disease*. Semin Liver Dis, 1993.
 13(2): p. 136-53.
- 165. Kehrer, J.P. and L.G. Lund, *Cellular reducing equivalents and oxidative stress*. Free Radic Biol Med, 1994. 17(1): p. 65-75.
- 166. Morris, P.E. and G.R. Bernard, Significance of glutathione in lung disease and implications for therapy. Am J Med Sci, 1994. 307(2): p. 119-27.
- 167. Bai, C., L.A. Brown, and D.P. Jones, *Glutathione transport by type II cells in perfused rat lung*. Am J Physiol, 1994. 267(4 Pt 1): p. L447-55.

- 168. Brown, L.A., et al., *Chronic ethanol ingestion and the risk of acute lung injury: a role for glutathione availability?* Alcohol, 2004. **33**(3): p. 191-7.
- 169. Velasquez, A., et al., Glutathione replacement preserves the functional surfactant phospholipid pool size and decreases sepsis-mediated lung dysfunction in ethanol-fed rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2002. 26(8): p. 1245-51.
- 170. Imai, Y., et al., Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 protects from severe acute lung failure.
 Nature, 2005. 436(7047): p. 112-6.
- 171. Baldwin, G.C., *The biology of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor: effects on hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic cells.* Dev Biol, 1992. **151**(2): p. 352-67.
- 172. Shibata, Y., et al., *GM-CSF regulates alveolar macrophage differentiation and innate immunity in the lung through PU.1.* Immunity, 2001. **15**(4): p. 557-67.
- Berclaz, P.Y., et al., *GM-CSF regulates a PU.1-dependent transcriptional program* determining the pulmonary response to LPS. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2007. 36(1): p. 114-21.
- 174. DeKoter, R.P., J.C. Walsh, and H. Singh, *PU.1 regulates both cytokine-dependent proliferation and differentiation of granulocyte/macrophage progenitors*. Embo j, 1998.
 17(15): p. 4456-68.
- 175. Berclaz, P.Y., et al., *GM-CSF*, via PU.1, regulates alveolar macrophage Fcgamma Rmediated phagocytosis and the IL-18/IFN-gamma -mediated molecular connection between innate and adaptive immunity in the lung. Blood, 2002. **100**(12): p. 4193-200.
- 176. Trapnell, B.C. and J.A. Whitsett, *Gm-CSF regulates pulmonary surfactant homeostasis and alveolar macrophage-mediated innate host defense*. Annu Rev Physiol, 2002. 64: p. 775-802.
- 177. Curry-McCoy, T.V., D.M. Guidot, and P.C. Joshi, *Chronic alcohol ingestion in rats decreases Kruppel-like factor 4 expression and intracellular zinc in the lung*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2013. **37**(3): p. 361-71.

- 178. King, J.C., Zinc: an essential but elusive nutrient. Am J Clin Nutr, 2011. 94(2): p. 679s-84s.
- 179. Iyengar, G.V., *Reevaluation of the trace element content in Reference Man*. Radiation physics and Chemistry, 1998. 51(4–6): p. 545-560.
- 180. Gibson, R.S., *Priniciples of Nutritional Assessment*. 2nd ed. 2005, New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- World Health Organization, F.a.A.O.o.t.U.N., Vitamin and mineral requirements in human nutrition. 2nd Edition ed. 2004. 341.
- Sandstrom, B., *Dietary pattern and zinc supply*, in *Zinc in human biology*, C.F. Mills,
 Editor. 1989, Springer-Verlag: New York, NY. p. 350-363.
- 183. Walsh Ct Fau Sandstead, H.H., et al., *Zinc: health effects and research priorities for the* 1990s. (0091-6765 (Print)).
- 184. Maret W Fau Sandstead, H.H. and H.H. Sandstead, *Zinc requirements and the risks and benefits of zinc supplementation*. (0946-672X (Print)).
- 185. Gibson, R.S., Zinc nutrition in developing countries. (0954-4224 (Print)).
- 186. Hunt Jr Fau Gallagher, S.K., et al., High- versus low-meat diets: effects on zinc absorption, iron status, and calcium, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, nitrogen, phosphorus, and zinc balance in postmenopausal women. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 187. Hunt Jr Fau Matthys, L.A., L.K. Matthys La Fau Johnson, and L.K. Johnson, *Zinc* absorption, mineral balance, and blood lipids in women consuming controlled lactoovovegetarian and omnivorous diets for 8 wk. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 188. Sian L Fau Mingyan, X., et al., Zinc absorption and intestinal losses of endogenous zinc in young Chinese women with marginal zinc intakes. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- Sandstead Hh Fau Smith, J.C., Jr. and J.C. Smith, Jr., Deliberations and evaluations of approaches, endpoints and paradigms for determining zinc dietary recommendations. (0022-3166 (Print)).

- 190. Oberleas D Fau Muhrer, M.E., B.L. Muhrer Me Fau O'Dell, and B.L. O'Dell, *Dietary metal-complexing agents and zinc availability in the rat.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 191. Ferguson El Fau Gibson, R.S., et al., *Dietary calcium, phytate, and zinc intakes and the calcium, phytate, and zinc molar ratios of the diets of a selected group of East African children.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 192. Sandstrom B Fau Almgren, A., et al., *Effect of protein level and protein source on zinc absorption in humans.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 193. Kamao M Fau Tsugawa, N., et al., *Absorption of calcium, magnesium, phosphorus, iron* and zinc in growing male rats fed diets containing either phytate-free soybean protein or soybean protein isolate or casein. (0301-4800 (Print)).
- 194. Petterson Ds Fau Sandstrom, B., A. Sandstrom B Fau Cederblad, and A. Cederblad, *Absorption of zinc from lupin (Lupinus angustifolius)-based foods.* (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 195. Solomons, N.W., *Competitive interaction of iron and zinc in the diet: consequences for human nutrition.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 196. Milne Db Fau Canfield, W.K., et al., *Effect of oral folic acid supplements on zinc, copper, and iron absorption and excretion.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 197. Simmer K Fau Iles, C.A., et al., Are iron-folate supplements harmful? (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 198. Lonnerdal, B., *Dietary factors influencing zinc absorption*. J Nutr, 2000. 130(5S Suppl):p. 1378s-83s.
- 199. Grider, A., Zinc, Copper, and Manganese, in Biochemical, physiological, and molecular aspects of human nutrition M.H. Stipanuk, Caudill, M.A., Editor. 2013, Elsevier: St. Louis, Missouri p. 828-48.
- 200. Cousins, R.J., *Zinc*, in *Present Knowledge in Nutrition*, F.J.L. Ziegler EE, Editor. 1996,
 International Life Sciences Institute Press: Washington, DC. p. 299-306.

- 201. King, J.C., *Human zinc requirements*, in *Zinc in human biology*, C.F. Mills, Editor. 1989, Springer-Verlag: New York, NY. p. 335-350.
- 202. King J., K.C., *Zinc*, in *Modern nutrition in health and disease*, M. Shils, Olson, J., Shike,
 M., Editor. 1994, Lea & Febiger: Philadelphia, PA. p. 214-230.
- 203. Baer Mt Fau King, J.C. and J.C. King, *Tissue zinc levels and zinc excretion during experimental zinc depletion in young men.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 204. King Jc Fau Shames, D.M., L.R. Shames Dm Fau Woodhouse, and L.R. Woodhouse, *Zinc homeostasis in humans*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 205. O'Leary Mj Fau McClain, C.J., P.V. McClain Cj Fau Hegarty, and P.V. Hegarty, Effect of zinc deficiency on the weight, cellularity and zinc concentration of different skeletal muscles in the post-weanling rat. (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 206. Jackson Mj Fau Jones, D.A., R.H. Jones Da Fau Edwards, and R.H. Edwards, *Tissue zinc levels as an index of body zinc status*. (0144-5979 (Print)).
- 207. Giugliano R Fau Millward, D.J. and D.J. Millward, *Growth and zinc homeostasis in the severely Zn-deficient rat.* (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 208. Williams Rb Fau Mills, C.F. and C.F. Mills, *The experimental production of zinc deficiency in the rat.* (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 209. Hambidge, K.M., Casey, C. E. & Krebs, N. F., *Zinc. In: Trace Elements in Human and Animal Nutrition.* 5th ed, ed. W. Mertz. Vol. 2. 1986, Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Prasad, A.S., *Clinical and biochemical manifestation zinc deficiency in human subjects*. J
 Pharmacol, 1985. 16(4): p. 344-52.
- 211. Cousins, R.J., J.P. Liuzzi, and L.A. Lichten, *Mammalian zinc transport, trafficking, and signals*. J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(34): p. 24085-9.
- 212. IOM, I.o.M., *Dietary Reference Intakes : the essential guide to nutrient requirement.*2006, Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press.

- 213. Larsen, G.L., et al., *Mice that overexpress Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase are resistant to allergen-induced changes in airway control*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2000.
 279(2): p. L350-9.
- Zalewski, P.D., *Zinc metabolism in the airway: basic mechanisms and drug targets*. Curr Opin Pharmacol, 2006. 6(3): p. 237-43.
- 215. Uriu-Adams, J.Y. and C.L. Keen, *Zinc and reproduction: effects of zinc deficiency on prenatal and early postnatal development*. Birth Defects Res B Dev Reprod Toxicol, 2010. 89(4): p. 313-25.
- 216. Palmiter, R.D., Regulation of metallothionein genes by heavy metals appears to be mediated by a zinc-sensitive inhibitor that interacts with a constitutively active transcription factor, MTF-1. (0027-8424 (Print)).
- 217. Langmade Sj Fau Ravindra, R., et al., *The transcription factor MTF-1 mediates metal regulation of the mouse ZnT1 gene*. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 218. Zheng D Fau Feeney, G.P., et al., *Regulation of ZIP and ZnT zinc transporters in zebrafish gill: zinc repression of ZIP10 transcription by an intronic MRE cluster*. (1531-2267 (Electronic)).
- Solomons Nw Fau Rosenberg, I.H. and I.H. Rosenberg, *Zinc and inflammatory bowel disease*. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 220. Prasad, A.S., Zinc deficiency in patients with sickle cell disease. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 221. Lindeman, R.D., Trace minerals and the kidney: an overview. (0731-5724 (Print)).
- 222. Zhou, Z., Zinc and alcoholic liver disease. Dig Dis, 2010. 28(6): p. 745-50.
- 223. Sullivan Jf Fau Lankford, H.G. and H.G. Lankford, ZINC METABOLISM AND CHRONIC ALCOHOLISM. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 224. McClain, C.J., et al., Zinc and the stress response. (0355-3140 (Print)).
- 225. Prasad, A.S., Clinical manifestations of zinc deficiency. (0199-9885 (Print)).

- 226. Hambidge K.M., C.C.E., Krebs N.F., Zinc, in Trace elements in human and animal nutrition, M. W, Editor. 1987, Academic Press: Orlando, FL. p. 1-137.
- 227. Rink L Fau Gabriel, P. and P. Gabriel, *Extracellular and immunological actions of zinc*. (0966-0844 (Print)).
- 228. Neldner Kh Fau Hambidge, K.M. and K.M. Hambidge, *Zinc therapy of acrodermatitis enteropathica*. (0028-4793 (Print)).
- 229. Shankar, A.H. and A.S. Prasad, *Zinc and immune function: the biological basis of altered resistance to infection.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1998. **68**(2 Suppl): p. 447s-463s.
- 230. Weston Wl Fau Huff, J.C., et al., *Zinc correction of defective chemotaxis in acrodermatitis enteropathica*. (0003-987X (Print)).
- 231. Allen Ji Fau Perri, R.T., et al., *Alterations in human natural killer cell activity and monocyte cytotoxicity induced by zinc deficiency*. (0022-2143 (Print)).
- 232. Saha, A.R., E.M. Hadden, and J.W. Hadden, *Zinc induces thymulin secretion from human thymic epithelial cells in vitro and augments splenocyte and thymocyte responses in vivo.*Int J Immunopharmacol, 1995. 17(9): p. 729-33.
- 233. Safieh-Garabedian, B., et al., Thymulin modulates cytokine release by peripheral blood mononuclear cells: a comparison between healthy volunteers and patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Int Arch Allergy Immunol, 1993. 101(2): p. 126-31.
- 234. Osati-Ashtiani F Fau King, L.E., P.J. King Le Fau Fraker, and P.J. Fraker, *Variance in the resistance of murine early bone marrow B cells to a deficiency in zinc*. (0019-2805 (Print)).
- 235. Fraker Pj Fau King, L.E., et al., *The dynamic link between the integrity of the immune system and zinc status.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 236. Merino R Fau Ding, L., et al., *Developmental regulation of the Bcl-2 protein and susceptibility to cell death in B lymphocytes.* (0261-4189 (Print)).

- 237. Ferry F Fau Donner, M. and M. Donner, *In vitro modulation of murine natural killer cytotoxicity by zinc*. (0300-9475 (Print)).
- 238. Guillard O Fau Piriou, A., et al., *Diurnal variations of zinc, copper and magnesium in the serum of normal fasting adults.* (0300-0893 (Print)).
- 239. Hongo T Fau Suzuki, T., et al., *Diurnal variation of plasma minerals and trace* elements in a group of Japanese male adults. (0301-4800 (Print)).
- 240. Markowitz Me Fau Rosen, J.F., M. Rosen Jf Fau Mizruchi, and M. Mizruchi, *Circadian variations in serum zinc (Zn) concentrations: correlation with blood ionized calcium, serum total calcium and phosphate in humans.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 241. Smit Vanderkooy Pd Fau Gibson, R.S. and R.S. Gibson, *Food consumption patterns of Canadian preschool children in relation to zinc and growth status.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 242. Hambidge Km Fau Hambidge, C., et al., *Low levels of zinc in hair, anorexia, poor growth, and hypogeusia in children.* (0031-3998 (Print)).
- 243. Wallock Lm Fau King, J.C., et al., *Meal-induced changes in plasma, erythrocyte, and urinary zinc concentrations in adult women.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 244. MHN, G., *The diagnosis of zinc deficiency*, in *Zinc in human biology*, M. CF, Editor.
 1989, Springer-Verlag: London, United Kingdom. p. 173-181.
- 245. Wood, R.J., Assessment of marginal zinc status in humans. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 246. Hambidge Km Fau Goodall, M.J., et al., *Post-prandial and daily changes in plasma zinc*. (0931-2838 (Print)).
- 247. Breskin Mw Fau Worthington-Roberts, B.S., et al., *First trimester serum zinc concentrations in human pregnancy*. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 248. Hambridge Km Fau Droegemueller, W. and W. Droegemueller, *Changes in plasma and hair concentrations of zinc, copper, chromium, and manganese during pregnancy.* (0029-7844 (Print)).
- 249. Aggett Pj Fau Favier, A. and A. Favier, Zinc. (0300-9831 (Print)).

- 250. Bettger Wj Fau Fish, T.J., B.L. Fish Tj Fau O'dell, and L. O'Dell B, *Effects of copper* and zinc status of rats on erythrocyte stability and superoxide dismutase activity. (0037-9727 (Print)).
- 251. Brown, K.H., Effect of infections on plasma zinc concentration and implications for zinc status assessment in low-income countries. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 252. Lowe Nm Fau Woodhouse, L.R., et al., *Kinetic parameters and plasma zinc concentration correlate well with net loss and gain of zinc from men.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 253. Milne Db Fau Canfield, W.K., et al., *Ethanol metabolism in postmenopausal women fed a diet marginal in zinc.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 254. Ruz M Fau Cavan, K.R., et al., *Development of a dietary model for the study of mild zinc deficiency in humans and evaluation of some biochemical and functional indices of zinc status.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 255. Hess Sy Fau Peerson, J.M., et al., *Use of serum zinc concentration as an indicator of population zinc status.* (0379-5721 (Print)).
- 256. Brown Kh Fau Rivera, J.A., et al., International Zinc Nutrition Consultative Group (IZiNCG) technical document #1. Assessment of the risk of zinc deficiency in populations and options for its control. (0379-5721 (Print)).
- 257. Brown Kh Fau Peerson, J.M., et al., *Effect of supplemental zinc on the growth and serum zinc concentrations of prepubertal children: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 258. Donovan Um Fau Gibson, R.S. and R.S. Gibson, *Iron and zinc status of young women* aged 14 to 19 years consuming vegetarian and omnivorous diets. (0731-5724 (Print)).
- 259. Lowe Nm Fau Fekete, K., T. Fekete K Fau Decsi, and T. Decsi, *Methods of assessment of zinc status in humans: a systematic review.* (1938-3207 (Electronic)).
- 260. Prasad As Fau Rabbani, P., et al., *Experimental zinc deficiency in humans*. (0003-4819 (Print)).

- 261. Neggers Yh Fau Goldenberg, R.L., et al., *Plasma and erythrocyte zinc concentrations* and their relationship to dietary zinc intake and zinc supplementation during pregnancy in low-income African-American women. (0002-8223 (Print)).
- 262. Ruz M Fau Cavan, K.R., et al., *Erythrocytes, erythrocyte membranes, neutrophils and platelets as biopsy materials for the assessment of zinc status in humans.* (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 263. Prasad As Fau Cossack, Z.T. and Z.T. Cossack, *Neutrophil zinc: an indicator of zinc status in man.* (0066-9458 (Print)).
- 264. Szczurek Ei Fau Bjornsson, C.S., C.G. Bjornsson Cs Fau Taylor, and C.G. Taylor, Dietary zinc deficiency and repletion modulate metallothionein immunolocalization and concentration in small intestine and liver of rats. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 265. Thomas Ea Fau Bailey, L.B., et al., *Erythrocyte metallothionein response to dietary zinc in humans*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 266. Oh, S.H., et al., Biological function of metallothionein. V. Its induction in rats by various stresses. Am J Physiol, 1978. 234(3): p. E282-5.
- 267. Sobocinski, P.Z., et al., *Involvement of hepatic metallothioneins in hypozincemia associated with bacterial infection*. Am J Physiol, 1978. **234**(4): p. E399-406.
- Sobocinski, P.Z. and W.J. Canterbury, Jr., *Hepatic metallothionein induction in inflammation*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1982. 389: p. 354-67.
- 269. Bremner I Fau Morrison, J.N., et al., *Effects of changes in dietary zinc, copper and selenium supply and of endotoxin administration on metallothionein I concentrations in blood cells and urine in the rat.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 270. Richards, M.P. and R.J. Cousins, *Metallothionein and its relationship to the metabolism* of dietary zinc in rats. J Nutr, 1976. **106**(11): p. 1591-9.

- 271. Sato M Fau Mehra, R.K., I. Mehra Rk Fau Bremner, and I. Bremner, *Measurement of plasma metallothionein-I in the assessment of the zinc status of zinc-deficient and stressed rats.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 272. Allan Ak Fau Hawksworth, G.M., et al., *Lymphocyte metallothionein mRNA responds* to marginal zinc intake in human volunteers. (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 273. Sullivan Vk Fau Cousins, R.J. and R.J. Cousins, *Competitive reverse transcriptase*polymerase chain reaction shows that dietary zinc supplementation in humans increases monocyte metallothionein mRNA levels. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 274. Sullivan Vk Fau Burnett, F.R., R.J. Burnett Fr Fau Cousins, and R.J. Cousins,
 Metallothionein expression is increased in monocytes and erythrocytes of young men during zinc supplementation. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 275. Cao J Fau Cousins, R.J. and R.J. Cousins, *Metallothionein mRNA in monocytes and* peripheral blood mononuclear cells and in cells from dried blood spots increases after zinc supplementation of men. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 276. Kambe, T., et al., *Overview of mammalian zinc transporters*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2004.61(1): p. 49-68.
- 277. Krebs, N.F., Overview of zinc absorption and excretion in the human gastrointestinal tract. J Nutr, 2000. 130(5S Suppl): p. 1374s-7s.
- 278. Fukada, T., et al., *Zinc homeostasis and signaling in health and diseases: Zinc signaling*.J Biol Inorg Chem, 2011. 16(7): p. 1123-34.
- Gaither, L.A. and D.J. Eide, *The human ZIP1 transporter mediates zinc uptake in human K562 erythroleukemia cells*. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(25): p. 22258-64.
- 280. Dufner-Beattie, J., et al., *Structure, function, and regulation of a subfamily of mouse zinc transporter genes.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(50): p. 50142-50.
- 281. Milon B Fau Dhermy, D., et al., *Differential subcellular localization of hZip1 in adherent and non-adherent cells.* (0014-5793 (Print)).

- 282. Wang F Fau Dufner-Beattie, J., et al., Zinc-stimulated endocytosis controls activity of the mouse ZIP1 and ZIP3 zinc uptake transporters. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 283. Franklin Rb Fau Feng, P., et al., *hZIP1 zinc uptake transporter down regulation and zinc depletion in prostate cancer*. (1476-4598 (Electronic)).
- 284. Franklin Rb Fau Milon, B., et al., *Zinc and zinc transporters in normal prostate and the pathogenesis of prostate cancer*. (1093-4715 (Electronic)).
- 285. Costello Lc Fau Franklin, R.B. and R.B. Franklin, *Zinc is decreased in prostate cancer: an established relationship of prostate cancer!* (1432-1327 (Electronic)).
- 286. Huang L Fau Kirschke, C.P., Y. Kirschke Cp Fau Zhang, and Y. Zhang, *Decreased intracellular zinc in human tumorigenic prostate epithelial cells: a possible role in prostate cancer progression.* (1475-2867 (Electronic)).
- 287. Desouki Mm Fau Geradts, J., et al., *hZip2 and hZip3 zinc transporters are down regulated in human prostate adenocarcinomatous glands.* (1476-4598 (Electronic)).
- 288. Rishi I Fau Baidouri, H., et al., *Prostate cancer in African American men is associated* with downregulation of zinc transporters. (1541-2016 (Print)).
- 289. Gaither La Fau Eide, D.J. and D.J. Eide, *Functional expression of the human hZIP2 zinc transporter*. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 290. Cao J Fau Bobo, J.A., et al., *Effects of intracellular zinc depletion on metallothionein* and ZIP2 transporter expression and apoptosis. (0741-5400 (Print)).
- 291. Kelleher, S.L., et al., *Zip3 (Slc39a3) functions in zinc reuptake from the alveolar lumen in lactating mammary gland*. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2009. 297(1): p. R194-201.
- 292. Kelleher, S.L. and B. Lonnerdal, *Zip3 plays a major role in zinc uptake into mammary epithelial cells and is regulated by prolactin.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2005. 288(5): p. C1042-7.

- 293. Jeong J Fau Eide, D.J. and D.J. Eide, *The SLC39 family of zinc transporters*. (1872-9452 (Electronic)).
- 294. Dufner-Beattie J Fau Huang, Z.L., et al., *Mouse ZIP1 and ZIP3 genes together are* essential for adaptation to dietary zinc deficiency during pregnancy. (1526-954X (Print)).
- 295. Lichten, L.A. and R.J. Cousins, *Mammalian zinc transporters: nutritional and physiologic regulation*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2009. **29**: p. 153-76.
- 296. Dufner-Beattie J Fau Wang, F., et al., *The acrodermatitis enteropathica gene ZIP4* encodes a tissue-specific, zinc-regulated zinc transporter in mice. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 297. Dufner-Beattie J Fau Weaver, B.P., et al., *The mouse acrodermatitis enteropathica gene* Slc39a4 (Zip4) is essential for early development and heterozygosity causes hypersensitivity to zinc deficiency. (0964-6906 (Print)).
- 298. Kim Be Fau Wang, F., et al., *Zn2+-stimulated endocytosis of the mZIP4 zinc transporter regulates its location at the plasma membrane.* (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 299. Weaver Bp Fau Dufner-Beattie, J., et al., Novel zinc-responsive post-transcriptional mechanisms reciprocally regulate expression of the mouse Slc39a4 and Slc39a5 zinc transporters (Zip4 and Zip5). (1431-6730 (Print)).
- 300. Wang K Fau Pugh, E.W., et al., *Homozygosity mapping places the acrodermatitis* enteropathica gene on chromosomal region 8q24.3. (0002-9297 (Print)).
- 301. Wang K Fau Zhou, B., et al., *A novel member of a zinc transporter family is defective in acrodermatitis enteropathica.* (0002-9297 (Print)).
- Wang F Fau Kim, B.-E., et al., Acrodermatitis enteropathica mutations affect transport activity, localization and zinc-responsive trafficking of the mouse ZIP4 zinc transporter. (0964-6906 (Print)).
- 303. Wang F Fau Kim, B.-E., et al., *The mammalian Zip5 protein is a zinc transporter that localizes to the basolateral surface of polarized cells.* (0021-9258 (Print)).

- 304. Dufner-Beattie J Fau Kuo, Y.-M., et al., *The adaptive response to dietary zinc in mice involves the differential cellular localization and zinc regulation of the zinc transporters ZIP4 and ZIP5.* (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 305. Taylor, K.M. and R.I. Nicholson, *The LZT proteins; the LIV-1 subfamily of zinc transporters*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2003. 1611(1-2): p. 16-30.
- 306. McClelland, R.A., et al., *Oestrogen-regulated genes in breast cancer: association of pLIV1 with response to endocrine therapy.* Br J Cancer, 1998. **77**(10): p. 1653-6.
- 307. Grattan, B.J. and H.C. Freake, *Zinc and cancer: implications for LIV-1 in breast cancer*. Nutrients, 2012. 4(7): p. 648-75.
- Taylor, K.M., et al., *The emerging role of the LIV-1 subfamily of zinc transporters in breast cancer*. Mol Med, 2007. 13(7-8): p. 396-406.
- 309. Taylor, K.M., A distinct role in breast cancer for two LIV-1 family zinc transporters.
 Biochem Soc Trans, 2008. 36(Pt 6): p. 1247-51.
- 310. Kitamura, H., et al., *Toll-like receptor-mediated regulation of zinc homeostasis influences dendritic cell function*. Nat Immunol, 2006. **7**(9): p. 971-7.
- Begum, N.A., et al., Mycobacterium bovis BCG cell wall and lipopolysaccharide induce a novel gene, BIGM103, encoding a 7-TM protein: identification of a new protein family having Zn-transporter and Zn-metalloprotease signatures. Genomics, 2002. 80(6): p. 630-45.
- 312. Ryu, M.S., et al., Zinc transporters ZnT1 (Slc30a1), Zip8 (Slc39a8), and Zip10 (Slc39a10) in mouse red blood cells are differentially regulated during erythroid development and by dietary zinc deficiency. J Nutr, 2008. **138**(11): p. 2076-83.
- 313. Wang, B., et al., Enhanced cadmium-induced testicular necrosis and renal proximal tubule damage caused by gene-dose increase in a Slc39a8-transgenic mouse line. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2007. 292(4): p. C1523-35.

- 314. Aydemir, T.B., et al., *Zinc transporter ZIP8 (SLC39A8) and zinc influence IFN-gamma expression in activated human T cells.* J Leukoc Biol, 2009. **86**(2): p. 337-48.
- Besecker, B., et al., *The human zinc transporter SLC39A8 (Zip8) is critical in zincmediated cytoprotection in lung epithelia*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2008. **294**(6): p. L1127-36.
- 316. Liu, M.J., et al., *ZIP8 regulates host defense through zinc-mediated inhibition of NFkappaB.* Cell Rep, 2013. **3**(2): p. 386-400.
- 317. Wimmer, U., et al., *Two major branches of anti-cadmium defense in the mouse: MTF-1/metallothioneins and glutathione.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2005. **33**(18): p. 5715-27.
- Lichten, L.A., et al., *MTF-1-mediated repression of the zinc transporter Zip10 is alleviated by zinc restriction*. PLoS One, 2011. 6(6): p. e21526.
- Kagara, N., et al., Zinc and its transporter ZIP10 are involved in invasive behavior of breast cancer cells. Cancer Sci, 2007. 98(5): p. 692-7.
- 320. Fukada, T., et al., *The zinc transporter SLC39A13/ZIP13 is required for connective tissue development; its involvement in BMP/TGF-beta signaling pathways.* PLoS One, 2008.
 3(11): p. e3642.
- 321. Giunta, C., A. Randolph, and B. Steinmann, *Mutation analysis of the PLOD1 gene: an efficient multistep approach to the molecular diagnosis of the kyphoscoliotic type of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (EDS VIA)*. Mol Genet Metab, 2005. **86**(1-2): p. 269-76.
- 322. Yeowell, H.N. and S.R. Pinnell, *The Ehlers-Danlos syndromes*. Semin Dermatol, 1993.
 12(3): p. 229-40.
- Beighton, P., et al., *Ehlers-Danlos syndromes: revised nosology, Villefranche, 1997. Ehlers-Danlos National Foundation (USA) and Ehlers-Danlos Support Group (UK).* Am
 J Med Genet, 1998. 77(1): p. 31-7.

- 324. Giunta, C., et al., Spondylocheiro dysplastic form of the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome--an autosomal-recessive entity caused by mutations in the zinc transporter gene SLC39A13.
 Am J Hum Genet, 2008. 82(6): p. 1290-305.
- 325. Jeong, J., et al., Promotion of vesicular zinc efflux by ZIP13 and its implications for spondylocheiro dysplastic Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012.
 109(51): p. E3530-8.
- 326. Girijashanker, K., et al., *Slc39a14 gene encodes ZIP14, a metal/bicarbonate symporter: similarities to the ZIP8 transporter.* Mol Pharmacol, 2008. **73**(5): p. 1413-23.
- 327. Liuzzi, J.P., et al., Interleukin-6 regulates the zinc transporter Zip14 in liver and contributes to the hypozincemia of the acute-phase response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(19): p. 6843-8.
- 328. Liuzzi, J.P., et al., Zip14 (Slc39a14) mediates non-transferrin-bound iron uptake into cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. 103(37): p. 13612-7.
- 329. Moshage, H., *Cytokines and the hepatic acute phase response*. J Pathol, 1997. 181(3): p. 257-66.
- 330. Jurado, R.L., *Iron, infections, and anemia of inflammation*. Clin Infect Dis, 1997. 25(4):p. 888-95.
- 331. Cousins, R.J. and A.S. Leinart, *Tissue-specific regulation of zinc metabolism and metallothionein genes by interleukin 1*. FASEB J, 1988. 2(13): p. 2884-90.
- 332. Huang, L., et al., *The ZIP7 gene (Slc39a7) encodes a zinc transporter involved in zinc homeostasis of the Golgi apparatus.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(15): p. 15456-63.
- 333. Taylor, K.M., et al., *ZIP7-mediated intracellular zinc transport contributes to aberrant growth factor signaling in antihormone-resistant breast cancer Cells*. Endocrinology, 2008. 149(10): p. 4912-20.

- Palmiter, R.D. and S.D. Findley, *Cloning and functional characterization of a mammalian zinc transporter that confers resistance to zinc*. EMBO J, 1995. 14(4): p. 639-49.
- Liuzzi, J.P. and R.J. Cousins, *Mammalian zinc transporters*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2004. 24: p. 151-72.
- 336. Cousins Rj Fau McMahon, R.J. and R.J. McMahon, *Integrative aspects of zinc transporters*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 337. McMahon Rj Fau Cousins, R.J. and R.J. Cousins, *Regulation of the zinc transporter ZnT-1 by dietary zinc*. (0027-8424 (Print)).
- 338. Palmiter Rd Fau Findley, S.D. and S.D. Findley, *Cloning and functional characterization of a mammalian zinc transporter that confers resistance to zinc*. (0261-4189 (Print)).
- 339. Kim, A.H., et al., *L-type Ca*(2+) *channel-mediated Zn*(2+) *toxicity and modulation by ZnT-1 in PC12 cells.* (0006-8993 (Print)).
- 340. Kambe, T., et al., *Slc39a1 to 3 (subfamily II) Zip genes in mice have unique cell-specific functions during adaptation to zinc deficiency.* (0363-6119 (Print)).
- 341. Palmiter, R.D. and L. Huang, *Efflux and compartmentalization of zinc by members of the SLC30 family of solute carriers.* (0031-6768 (Print)).
- 342. Palmiter, R.D., S.D. Cole Tb Fau Findley, and S.D. Findley, *ZnT-2, a mammalian protein that confers resistance to zinc by facilitating vesicular sequestration.* (0261-4189 (Print)).
- 343. Liuzzi, J.P., et al., *Zinc transporters 1, 2 and 4 are differentially expressed and localized in rats during pregnancy and lactation.* J Nutr, 2003. **133**(2): p. 342-51.
- Palmiter, R.D., et al., *ZnT-3, a putative transporter of zinc into synaptic vesicles*. (0027-8424 (Print)).

- 345. Cole, T.B., et al., *Elimination of zinc from synaptic vesicles in the intact mouse brain by disruption of the ZnT3 gene.* (0027-8424 (Print)).
- 346. Cole, T.B., R.D. Martyanova A Fau Palmiter, and R.D. Palmiter, *Removing zinc from synaptic vesicles does not impair spatial learning, memory, or sensorimotor functions in the mouse.* (0006-8993 (Print)).
- 347. Adlard, P.A., et al., Cognitive loss in zinc transporter-3 knock-out mice: a phenocopy for the synaptic and memory deficits of Alzheimer's disease? J Neurosci, 2010. 30(5): p. 1631-6.
- 348. Martel, G., et al., *Zinc transporter 3 is involved in learned fear and extinction, but not in innate fear.* Learn Mem, 2010. **17**(11): p. 582-90.
- 349. Sindreu, C., R.D. Palmiter, and D.R. Storm, *Zinc transporter ZnT-3 regulates presynaptic Erk1/2 signaling and hippocampus-dependent memory*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011.
 108(8): p. 3366-70.
- 350. Huang, L. and J. Gitschier, *A novel gene involved in zinc transport is deficient in the lethal milk mouse*. (1061-4036 (Print)).
- 351. Lee, D.Y., R.J. Shay Nf Fau Cousins, and R.J. Cousins, *Altered zinc metabolism occurs in murine lethal milk syndrome*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 352. Kelleher, S.L. and B. Lonnerdal, *Zinc transporters in the rat mammary gland respond to marginal zinc and vitamin A intakes during lactation*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 353. Michalczyk, A.A., et al., *Constitutive expression of hZnT4 zinc transporter in human breast epithelial cells.* (0264-6021 (Print)).
- Jackson, K.A., et al., Splice variants of the human zinc transporter ZnT5 (SLC30A5) are differentially localized and regulated by zinc through transcription and mRNA stability. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 355. Ishihara, K., et al., *Zinc transport complexes contribute to the homeostatic maintenance of secretory pathway function in vertebrate cells.* (0021-9258 (Print)).

- 356. Suzuki, T., et al., Zinc transporters, ZnT5 and ZnT7, are required for the activation of alkaline phosphatases, zinc-requiring enzymes that are glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored to the cytoplasmic membrane. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 357. Valentine Ra Fau Jackson, K.A., et al., *ZnT5 variant B is a bidirectional zinc transporter and mediates zinc uptake in human intestinal Caco-2 cells*. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 358. Kambe, T., et al., *Cloning and characterization of a novel mammalian zinc transporter, zinc transporter 5, abundantly expressed in pancreatic beta cells.* (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 359. Inoue, K., et al., Osteopenia and male-specific sudden cardiac death in mice lacking a zinc transporter gene, Znt5. (0964-6906 (Print)).
- 360. Huang, L., J. Kirschke Cp Fau Gitschier, and J. Gitschier, *Functional characterization* of a novel mammalian zinc transporter, ZnT6. (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 361. Ellis, C.D., D.J. Macdiarmid Cw Fau Eide, and D.J. Eide, *Heteromeric protein complexes mediate zinc transport into the secretory pathway of eukaryotic cells.* (0021 9258 (Print)).
- 362. Fukunaka, A., et al., *Demonstration and characterization of the heterodimerization of ZnT5 and ZnT6 in the early secretory pathway.* (1083-351X (Electronic)).
- 363. Kirschke, C.P. and L. Huang, *ZnT7, a novel mammalian zinc transporter, accumulates zinc in the Golgi apparatus.* (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 364. Huang, L., et al., Znt7 (Slc30a7)-deficient mice display reduced body zinc status and body fat accumulation. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(51): p. 37053-63.
- 365. Chimienti, F., et al., *Identification and cloning of a beta-cell-specific zinc transporter, ZnT-8, localized into insulin secretory granules.* (0012-1797 (Print)).
- 366. Saxena R Fau Voight, B.F., et al., *Genome-wide association analysis identifies loci for type 2 diabetes and triglyceride levels.* (1095-9203 (Electronic)).

- 367. Scott, L.J., et al., A genome-wide association study of type 2 diabetes in Finns detects multiple susceptibility variants. (1095-9203 (Electronic)).
- 368. Sim, D.L. and V.T. Chow, *The novel human HUEL (C4orf1) gene maps to chromosome* 4p12-p13 and encodes a nuclear protein containing the nuclear receptor interaction motif. (0888-7543 (Print)).
- 369. Seve, M., et al., In silico identification and expression of SLC30 family genes: an expressed sequence tag data mining strategy for the characterization of zinc transporters' tissue expression. (1471-2164 (Electronic)).
- 370. Kelleher, S.L., et al., Mapping the zinc-transporting system in mammary cells: molecular analysis reveals a phenotype-dependent zinc-transporting network during lactation.
 (1097-4652 (Electronic)).
- 371. Bosomworth, H.J., et al., *Altered expression of ZnT10 in Alzheimer's disease brain*.(1932-6203 (Electronic)).
- 372. Sayadi, A., et al., *Zip14 expression induced by lipopolysaccharides in macrophages attenuates inflammatory response*. Inflamm Res, 2013. **62**(2): p. 133-43.
- 373. Murgia, C., et al., *Apical localization of zinc transporter ZnT4 in human airway epithelial cells and its loss in a murine model of allergic airway inflammation*. Nutrients, 2011.
 3(11): p. 910-28.
- 374. Lang, C., et al., Anti-inflammatory effects of zinc and alterations in zinc transporter mRNA in mouse models of allergic inflammation. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2007. 292(2): p. L577-84.
- 375. Truong-Tran, A.Q., et al., *The role of zinc in caspase activation and apoptotic cell death*.Biometals, 2001. 14(3-4): p. 315-30.
- 376. Keen, C.L., et al., *The plausibility of maternal nutritional status being a contributing factor to the risk for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: the potential influence of zinc status as an example.* Biofactors, 2010. **36**(2): p. 125-35.

- Vallee Bl Fau Falchuk, K.H. and K.H. Falchuk, *The biochemical basis of zinc physiology*. (0031-9333 (Print)).
- Wessells, K.R. and K.H. Brown, *Estimating the global prevalence of zinc deficiency: results based on zinc availability in national food supplies and the prevalence of stunting.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(11): p. e50568.
- 379. Brown, K.H., et al., *Preventive zinc supplementation among infants, preschoolers, and older prepubertal children.* Food Nutr Bull, 2009. **30**(1 Suppl): p. S12-40.
- 380. Black, R.E., et al., Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. The Lancet. 371(9608): p. 243-260.
- 381. Chaffee Bw Fau King, J.C. and J.C. King, *Effect of zinc supplementation on pregnancy and infant outcomes: a systematic review.* (1365-3016 (Electronic)).
- 382. Dura Trave T Fau Puig Abuli, M., et al., *Effect of zinc nutrition on parturition and postpartum in the rat.* (0378-7346 (Print)).
- 383. Apgar, J., Effect of zinc deficiency on parturition in the rat. (0002-9513 (Print)).
- 384. Shah D Fau Sachdev, H.P. and H.P. Sachdev, Effect of gestational zinc deficiency on pregnancy outcomes: summary of observation studies and zinc supplementation trials. (0007-1145 (Print)).
- 385. Apgar, J., *Effect of zinc deficiency on maintenance of pregnancy in the rat.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 386. Apgar, J., *Zinc and reproduction: an update*. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 1992. 3(6): p. 266-278.
- 387. Golub Ms Fau Gershwin, M.E., et al., Studies of marginal zinc deprivation in rhesus monkeys: II. Pregnancy outcome. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 388. Hurley, L.S., J. Gowan, and H. Swenerton, *Teratogenic effects of short-term and transitory zinc deficiency in rats.* Teratology, 1971. 4(2): p. 199-204.

- 389. Tamura T Fau Goldenberg, R.L., et al., *Maternal plasma zinc concentrations and pregnancy outcome*. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 390. Khadem N Fau Mohammadzadeh, A., et al., *Relationship between Low Birth Weight Neonate and Maternal Serum Zinc Concentration*. (2074-1812 (Electronic)).
- 391. Mahomed K Fau Bhutta, Z., P. Bhutta Z Fau Middleton, and P. Middleton, Zinc supplementation for improving pregnancy and infant outcome. (1469-493X (Electronic)).
- 392. Mori R Fau Ota, E., et al., *Zinc supplementation for improving pregnancy and infant outcome*. (1469-493X (Electronic)).
- 393. Apgar, J., Zinc and reproduction. (0199-9885 (Print)).
- 394. Meadows Nj Fau Ruse, W., et al., Zinc and small babies. (0140-6736 (Print)).
- 395. Tamura, T. and R.L. Goldenberg, *Zinc nutriture and pregnancy outcome*. Nutrition Research, 1996. 16(1): p. 139-181.
- 396. Tamura T Fau Weekes, E.W., et al., *Relationship between amniotic fluid and maternal blood nutrient levels*. (0300-5577 (Print)).
- 397. Scholl To Fau Hediger, M.L., et al., *Low zinc intake during pregnancy: its association with preterm and very preterm delivery.* (0002-9262 (Print)).
- Swanson Ca Fau King, J.C. and J.C. King, *Zinc and pregnancy outcome*. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 399. Jameson, S., *Effects of zinc deficiency in human reproduction*. (0365-463X (Print)).
- 400. Shah D Fau Sachdev, H.P.S. and H.P. Sachdev, *Zinc deficiency in pregnancy and fetal outcome*. (0029-6643 (Print)).
- 401. Caulfield, L.E., et al., *Red blood cell metallothionein as an indicator of zinc status during pregnancy*. Nutrition, 2008. 24(11–12): p. 1081-1087.
- 402. Zapata Cl Fau Simoes, T.M., C.M. Simoes Tm Fau Donangelo, and C.M. Donangelo, *Erythrocyte metallothionein in relation to other biochemical zinc indices in pregnant and nonpregnant women.* (0163-4984 (Print)).

- 403. Parr, R., Assessment of dietary intakes, in Trace elements in human nutrition and health.
 1996, Geneva: World Health Organization. p. 265-88.
- 404. Caulfield Le Fau Zavaleta, N., et al., *Potential contribution of maternal zinc* supplementation during pregnancy to maternal and child survival. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 405. Mercer Jf Fau Grimes, A. and A. Grimes, *Variation in the amounts of hepatic copper, zinc and metallothionein mRNA during development in the rat.* (0264-6021 (Print)).
- 406. Asano, N., et al., *Expression profiles of zinc transporters in rodent placental models*.
 (0378-4274 (Print)).
- 407. Ackland, M.L. and J.F. Mercer, *The murine mutation, lethal milk, results in production of zinc-deficient milk.* (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 408. McCormick, N.H. and S.L. Kelleher, *ZnT4 provides zinc to zinc-dependent proteins in the trans-Golgi network critical for cell function and Zn export in mammary epithelial cells*. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2012. **303**(3): p. C291-7.
- 409. Kelleher, S.L. and B. Lonnerdal, Zn transporter levels and localization change throughout lactation in rat mammary gland and are regulated by Zn in mammary cells. J Nutr, 2003. 133(11): p. 3378-85.
- 410. Chowanadisai, W., S.L. Lonnerdal B Fau Kelleher, and S.L. Kelleher, *Identification of a mutation in SLC30A2 (ZnT-2) in women with low milk zinc concentration that results in transient neonatal zinc deficiency.* (0021-9258 (Print)).
- 411. Itsumura, N., et al., Compound heterozygous mutations in SLC30A2/ZnT2 results in low milk zinc concentrations: a novel mechanism for zinc deficiency in a breast-fed infant.
 PLoS One, 2013. 8(5): p. e64045.
- 412. Mattson, S.N., et al., *Heavy prenatal alcohol exposure with or without physical features* of fetal alcohol syndrome leads to IQ deficits. J Pediatr, 1997. **131**(5): p. 718-21.
- Hamilton, B.E.J.A.M.a.S.J.V., *Births: Preliminary data for 2012*. National Vital Statistics Reports, 2013. 62(3): p. 33.

- 414. McCormick, M.C., *The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity*. N Engl J Med, 1985. **312**(2): p. 82-90.
- 415. Saigal, S. and L.W. Doyle, *An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood.* Lancet, 2008. **371**(9608): p. 261-9.
- 416. Flynn A Fau Miller, S.I., et al., *Zinc status of pregnant alcoholic women: a determinant of fetal outcome*. (0140-6736 (Print)).
- 417. Keppen Ld Fau Pysher, T., O.M. Pysher T Fau Rennert, and O.M. Rennert, *Zinc deficiency acts as a co-teratogen with alcohol in fetal alcohol syndrome*. (0031-3998 (Print)).
- 418. Miller Si Fau Del Villano, B.C., et al., *Interaction of alcohol and zinc in fetal dysmorphogenesis*. (0091-3057 (Print)).
- 419. Taubeneck Mw Fau Daston, G.P., et al., *Altered maternal zinc metabolism following exposure to diverse developmental toxicants.* (0890-6238 (Print)).
- 420. Uriu-Adams Jy Fau Keen, C.L. and C.L. Keen, *Zinc and reproduction: effects of zinc deficiency on prenatal and early postnatal development.* (1542-9741 (Electronic)).
- 421. Carey, L.C., et al., *Ethanol decreases zinc transfer to the fetus in normal but not metallothionein-null mice*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2000. **24**(8): p. 1236-40.
- 422. Summers, B.L., et al., Dietary zinc supplementation during pregnancy prevents spatial and object recognition memory impairments caused by early prenatal ethanol exposure. (0166-4328 (Print)).
- 423. Summers, B.L., P. Rofe Am Fau Coyle, and P. Coyle, *Dietary zinc supplementation throughout pregnancy protects against fetal dysmorphology and improves postnatal survival after prenatal ethanol exposure in mice.* (1530-0277 (Electronic)).
- 424. Summers, B.L., P. Rofe Am Fau Coyle, and P. Coyle, *Prenatal zinc treatment at the time of acute ethanol exposure limits spatial memory impairments in mouse offspring.*(0031-3998 (Print)).

- 425. Lukaski, H.C., et al., *Total body water in pregnancy: assessment by using bioelectrical impedance*. Am J Clin Nutr, 1994. **59**(3): p. 578-85.
- 426. Littner, Y. and C.F. Bearer, *Detection of alcohol consumption during pregnancy--current and future biomarkers*. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 2007. **31**(2): p. 261-9.
- 427. Bearer, C.F., et al., *Validation of a new biomarker of fetal exposure to alcohol.* J Pediatr, 2003. **143**(4): p. 463-9.
- 428. Chan, D., et al., *Population baseline of meconium fatty acid ethyl esters among infants of nondrinking women in Jerusalem and Toronto*. Ther Drug Monit, 2003. **25**(3): p. 271-8.
- 429. Derauf, C., A.R. Katz, and D. Easa, *Agreement between maternal self-reported ethanol intake and tobacco use during pregnancy and meconium assays for fatty acid ethyl esters and cotinine*. Am J Epidemiol, 2003. **158**(7): p. 705-9.
- 430. Bearer, C.F., et al., *Fetal alcohol syndrome and fatty acid ethyl esters*. Pediatr Res, 1992.
 31(5): p. 492-5.
- 431. Laposata, E.A., D.E. Scherrer, and L.G. Lange, *Fatty acid ethyl esters in adipose tissue*. *A laboratory marker for alcohol-related death*. Arch Pathol Lab Med, 1989. **113**(7): p. 762-6.
- 432. Enders, A.C. and T.N. Blankenship, *Comparative placental structure*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 1999. 38(1): p. 3-15.
- 433. May, P.A., et al., Prevalence and epidemiologic characteristics of FASD from various research methods with an emphasis on recent in-school studies. Dev Disabil Res Rev, 2009. 15(3): p. 176-92.
- 434. Toutain, S., et al., [Consequences for the newborn of alcohol consumption during pregnancy]. Arch Pediatr, 2010. **17**(9): p. 1273-80.
- 435. Little, B.B., et al., *Failure to recognize fetal alcohol syndrome in newborn infants*. Am J Dis Child, 1990. 144(10): p. 1142-6.

- 436. Duimstra, C., et al., A fetal alcohol syndrome surveillance pilot project in American Indian communities in the Northern Plains. Public Health Rep, 1993. 108(2): p. 225-9.
- 437. Kvigne, V.L., et al., *Hospitalizations of children who have fetal alcohol syndrome or incomplete fetal alcohol syndrome*. S D Med, 2009. **62**(3): p. 97, 99, 101-3.
- 438. Beck, S., et al., *The worldwide incidence of preterm birth: a systematic review of maternal mortality and morbidity*. Bull World Health Organ, 2010. **88**(1): p. 31-8.
- Martin JA, H.B., Ventura SJ, et al., *Births: Final Data for 2011*, in *National vital statistics reports*. 2013, National Center for Health Statistics: Hyattsville, MD. p. 11-12.
- 440. Post M., C.I., *Overview of lung development*. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 2002. 23: p.Supplement 4-7.
- 441. Rutter M, P.M., *Molecular basis for normal and abnormal lung development* in *The newborn lung*, P.R. Bancalari E, Editor. 2008, Saunders: Philadelphia, PA. p. 3-41.
- 442. McCormack, F.X. and J.A. Whitsett, *The pulmonary collectins, SP-A and SP-D, orchestrate innate immunity in the lung.* J Clin Invest, 2002. **109**(6): p. 707-12.
- 443. Fels, A.O. and Z.A. Cohn, *The alveolar macrophage*. J Appl Physiol, 1986. **60**(2): p. 353-69.
- 444. Bakker, J.M., et al., *Functional immaturity of rat alveolar macrophages during postnatal development*. Immunology, 1998. **94**(3): p. 304-9.
- 445. Jobe, A.H. and M. Ikegami, *Prevention of bronchopulmonary dysplasia*. Curr Opin Pediatr, 2001. 13(2): p. 124-9.
- 446. Bentley, A., et al., *A cost-effectiveness analysis of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)* prophylaxis in infants in the United Kingdom. Health Econ Rev, 2013. **3**(1): p. 18.
- 447. Stein, R.T., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years*. Lancet, 1999. **354**(9178): p. 541-5.
- 448. Martinez, F.D., *What have we learned from the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study?*Paediatr Respir Rev, 2002. 3(3): p. 193-7.

- 449. Stein, R.T. and F.D. Martinez, *Asthma phenotypes in childhood: lessons from an epidemiological approach.* Paediatr Respir Rev, 2004. **5**(2): p. 155-61.
- 450. Martinez, F.D., *Respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis and the pathogenesis of childhood asthma*. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 2003. **22**(2 Suppl): p. S76-82.
- 451. Openshaw, P.J., G.S. Dean, and F.J. Culley, *Links between respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis and childhood asthma: clinical and research approaches*. Pediatr Infect Dis J, 2003. 22(2 Suppl): p. S58-64; discussion S64-5.
- 452. Mohapatra, S.S. and S. Boyapalle, *Epidemiologic, experimental, and clinical links between respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma*. Clin Microbiol Rev, 2008.
 21(3): p. 495-504.
- 453. Wang, X., et al., *Effects of acute alcohol intoxication in the second trimester of pregnancy on development of the murine fetal lung*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 2007. 197(3):
 p. 269.e1-4.
- 454. Inselman, L.S., et al., *Effect of intrauterine ethanol exposure on fetal lung growth*. Pediatr Res, 1985. 19(1): p. 12-4.
- 455. Giliberti, D., et al., *Perinatal exposure to alcohol: implications for lung development and disease*. Paediatr Respir Rev, 2013. **14**(1): p. 17-21.
- 456. Ping, X.D., et al., *In vivo dysfunction of the term alveolar macrophage after in utero ethanol exposure*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2007. **31**(2): p. 308-16.
- 457. Gauthier, T.W., et al., *Delayed neonatal lung macrophage differentiation in a mouse model of in utero ethanol exposure*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2010. 299(1):
 p. L8-16.
- 458. Shah Md Fau Shah, S.R. and S.R. Shah, *Nutrient deficiencies in the premature infant*.(1557-8240 (Electronic)).

- 459. Embleton, N.E., N. Pang, and R.J. Cooke, *Postnatal malnutrition and growth retardation: an inevitable consequence of current recommendations in preterm infants?* Pediatrics, 2001. **107**(2): p. 270-3.
- 460. Chandra, R.K., *Nutrition and the immune system from birth to old age*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2002. 56 Suppl 3: p. S73-6.
- 461. Lim, S.S., et al., A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet, 2012.
 380(9859): p. 2224-60.
- 462. Mori, R., et al., *Zinc supplementation for improving pregnancy and infant outcome*.Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012. 7: p. CD000230.
- 463. Chaffee, B.W. and J.C. King, *Effect of zinc supplementation on pregnancy and infant outcomes: a systematic review.* Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 2012. **26 Suppl 1**: p. 118-37.
- 464. Bhatnagar, S., et al., Zinc as adjunct treatment in infants aged between 7 and 120 days with probable serious bacterial infection: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet, 2012. **379**(9831): p. 2072-8.
- 465. Frederickson, C.J. and G. Danscher, *Zinc-containing neurons in hippocampus and related CNS structures*. Prog Brain Res, 1990. **83**: p. 71-84.
- 466. Frederickson, C.J., et al., *Importance of zinc in the central nervous system: the zinc-containing neuron*. J Nutr, 2000. 130(5S Suppl): p. 1471s-83s.
- 467. Morley, J.E., J. Gordon, and J.M. Hershman, *Zinc deficiency, chronic starvation, and hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid function.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1980. **33**(8): p. 1767-70.
- 468. Sandstead Hh Fau Strobel, D.A., et al., *Zinc deficiency in pregnant rhesus monkeys: effects on behavior of infants.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 469. Golub Ms Fau Keen, C.L., et al., *Developmental zinc deficiency and behavior*. (0022-3166 (Print)).
- 470. Golub Ms Fau Gershwin, M.E., et al., *Studies of marginal zinc deprivation in rhesus monkeys. VIII. Effects in early adolescence.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 471. Golub Ms Fau Gershwin, M.E., et al., *Studies of marginal zinc deprivation in rhesus monkeys: infant behavior.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 472. Golub Ms Fau Tarantal, A.F., et al., *Ultrasound evaluation of fetuses of zinc-deprived monkeys (Macaca mulatta)*. (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 473. Hambidge Km Fau Neldner, K.H., P.A. Neldner Kh Fau Walravens, and P.A.
 Walravens, *Letter: Zinc,acrodermatitis enteropathica, and congenital malformations*.
 (0140-6736 (Print)).
- 474. Cavdar, A.O., et al., *Effect of zinc supplementation in a Turkish woman with two previous anencephalic infants*. Gynecol Obstet Invest, 1991. **32**(2): p. 123-5.
- 475. Srinivas, M., et al., Association between lower hair zinc levels and neural tube defects.Indian J Pediatr, 2001. 68(6): p. 519-22.
- 476. Velie, E.M., et al., *Maternal supplemental and dietary zinc intake and the occurrence of neural tube defects in California*. Am J Epidemiol, 1999. **150**(6): p. 605-16.
- 477. Badakhsh, M.H., et al., *Impact of maternal zinc status on fetal growth in an Iranian pregnant population*. Gynecol Endocrinol, 2011. **27**(12): p. 1074-6.
- 478. Biadaioli, R., et al., [Zinc blood levels in 73 puerperal women. Correlation with obstetric and neonatal complications]. Minerva Ginecol, 1997. **49**(9): p. 371-5.
- 479. George, S.S., et al., *Maternal zinc indices and small babies*. Natl Med J India, 1998.
 11(3): p. 120-1.
- 480. Golub Ms Fau Gershwin, M.E., et al., *Studies of marginal zinc deprivation in rhesus monkeys. IV. Growth of infants in the first year.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 481. Beach, R.S., M.E. Gershwin, and L.S. Hurley, *Gestational zinc deprivation in mice:* persistence of immunodeficiency for three generations. Science, 1982. 218(4571): p. 469-71.

- 482. Marques, A.H., et al., *The influence of maternal prenatal and early childhood nutrition and maternal prenatal stress on offspring immune system development and neurodevelopmental disorders.* Front Neurosci, 2013. **7**: p. 120.
- Wellinghausen, N., *Immunobiology of gestational zinc deficiency*. Br J Nutr, 2001. 85
 Suppl 2: p. S81-6.
- 484. Beach, R.S., M.E. Gershwin, and L.S. Hurley, *Reversibility of development retardation following murine fetal zinc deprivation*. J Nutr, 1982. **112**(6): p. 1169-81.
- 485. Haynes, D.C., et al., *Studies of marginal zinc deprivation in rhesus monkeys: VI. Influence on the immunohematology of infants in the first year.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1985.
 42(2): p. 252-62.
- 486. Gebreselassie Sg Fau Gashe, F.E. and F.E. Gashe, *A systematic review of effect of prenatal zinc supplementation on birthweight: meta-analysis of 17 randomized controlled trials.* (1606-0997 (Print)).
- 487. Hamadani, J.D., et al., Zinc supplementation during pregnancy and effects on mental development and behaviour of infants: a follow-up study. Lancet, 2002. 360(9329): p. 290-4.
- 488. Merialdi M Fau Caulfield, L.E., et al., *Adding zinc to prenatal iron and folate tablets improves fetal neurobehavioral development.* (0002-9378 (Print)).
- 489. Merialdi M Fau Caulfield, L.E., et al., *Randomized controlled trial of prenatal zinc* supplementation and the development of fetal heart rate. (0002-9378 (Print)).
- 490. Tamura, T., et al., *Effect of zinc supplementation of pregnant women on the mental and psychomotor development of their children at 5 y of age.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2003. **77**(6): p. 1512-6.
- 491. Caulfield, L.E., et al., *Maternal gestational zinc supplementation does not influence multiple aspects of child development at 54 mo of age in Peru.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2010.
 92(1): p. 130-6.

- 492. Osendarp, S.J., et al., Zinc supplementation during pregnancy and effects on growth and morbidity in low birthweight infants: a randomised placebo controlled trial. Lancet, 2001. 357(9262): p. 1080-5.
- 493. Iannotti, L.L., et al., *Maternal zinc supplementation reduces diarrheal morbidity in peruvian infants.* J Pediatr, 2010. **156**(6): p. 960-4, 964.e1-2.
- 494. Wieringa, F.T., et al., *Maternal micronutrient supplementation with zinc and betacarotene affects morbidity and immune function of infants during the first 6 months of life*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2010. **64**(10): p. 1072-9.
- 495. Carey, L.C., et al., *Maternal ethanol exposure is associated with decreased plasma zinc and increased fetal abnormalities in normal but not metallothionein-null mice*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2000. **24**(2): p. 213-9.
- 496. Carey, L.C., et al., *Zinc supplementation at the time of ethanol exposure ameliorates teratogenicity in mice*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2003. **27**(1): p. 107-10.
- 497. Lopez, V.R., et al., *Biochemical and Molecular Study of the Influence of Amaranthus hypochondriacus Flour on Serum and Liver Lipids in Rats Treated with Ethanol.* Plant Foods Hum Nutr, 2013.
- 498. An, L. and T. Zhang, Spatial cognition and sexually dimorphic synaptic plasticity balance impairment in rats with chronic prenatal ethanol exposure. Behav Brain Res, 2013. 256c: p. 564-574.
- 499. Ramakrishnan, U., et al., *Effect of women's nutrition before and during early pregnancy on maternal and infant outcomes: a systematic review*. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 2012.
 26 Suppl 1: p. 285-301.
- 500. Erdogan, M., et al., *Effects of nutrition on zinc, folic acid, and vitamin B12 levels during pregnancy*. Biol Trace Elem Res, 2006. **109**(2): p. 105-13.
- 501. Lazic, T., et al., *Maternal alcohol ingestion reduces surfactant protein A expression by preterm fetal lung epithelia*. Alcohol, 2007. **41**(5): p. 347-55.

- 502. Finer, L.B. and M.R. Zolna, *Unintended pregnancy in the United States: incidence and disparities*, 2006. Contraception, 2011. **84**(5): p. 478-85.
- 503. Sozo, F., et al., *Repeated ethanol exposure during late gestation alters the maturation and innate immune status of the ovine fetal lung.* Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2009. **296**(3): p. L510-8.
- 504. Sozo, F., et al., *Effects of prenatal ethanol exposure on the lungs of postnatal lambs*. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2011. 300(1): p. L139-47.
- 505. Lazic, T., et al., *Exposure to ethanol during the last trimester of pregnancy alters the maturation and immunity of the fetal lung*. Alcohol, 2011. **45**(7): p. 673-80.
- 506. Ethen, M.K., et al., *Alcohol consumption by women before and during pregnancy*. Matern Child Health J, 2009. **13**(2): p. 274-85.
- 507. Chan, D., et al., *Placental handling of fatty acid ethyl esters: perfusion and subcellular studies.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2004. **310**(1): p. 75-82.
- 508. Zelner, I., et al., Meconium fatty acid ethyl esters as biomarkers of late gestational ethanol exposure and indicator of ethanol-induced multi-organ injury in fetal sheep.
 PLoS One, 2013. 8(3): p. e59168.
- 509. Bearer, C.F., et al., *Fatty Acid ethyl esters: quantitative biomarkers for maternal alcohol consumption.* J Pediatr, 2005. **146**(6): p. 824-30.
- 510. Bearer, C.F., et al., *Ethyl linoleate in meconium: a biomarker for prenatal ethanol exposure*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 1999. 23(3): p. 487-93.
- 511. Peterson, J., et al., *Fatty acid ethyl esters in meconium are associated with poorer neurodevelopmental outcomes to two years of age.* J Pediatr, 2008. **152**(6): p. 788-92.
- 512. Littner, Y., et al., *Elevated fatty acid ethyl esters in meconium of sheep fetuses exposed in utero to ethanol--a new animal model*. Pediatr Res, 2008. **63**(2): p. 164-8.
- 513. Chan, D., J. Klein, and G. Koren, *Validation of meconium fatty acid ethyl esters as biomarkers for prenatal alcohol exposure.* J Pediatr, 2004. **144**(5): p. 692.

- 514. Tarcomnicu, I., et al., *Ethyl glucuronide determination in meconium and hair by hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry*. Forensic Sci Int, 2010. **196**(1-3): p. 121-7.
- 515. Morini, L., et al., *Liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometric detection for the measurement of ethyl glucuronide and ethyl sulfate in meconium: new biomarkers of gestational ethanol exposure?* Ther Drug Monit, 2008. **30**(6): p. 725-32.
- 516. Pichini, S., et al., *Ethylglucuronide and ethylsulfate in meconium to assess gestational ethanol exposure: preliminary results in two Mediterranean cohorts*. Can J Clin Pharmacol, 2009. 16(2): p. e370-5.
- 517. Morini, L., et al., Population Baseline of Meconium Ethyl Glucuronide and Ethyl Sulfate Concentrations in Newborns of Nondrinking Women in 2 Mediterranean Cohorts. Ther Drug Monit, 2010.
- 518. Myren, M., et al., *The human placenta--an alternative for studying foetal exposure*.Toxicol In Vitro, 2007. 21(7): p. 1332-40.
- 519. Carter, A.M., *Animal Models of Human Placentation A Review*. Placenta, 2007. 28,
 Supplement(0): p. S41-S47.
- 520. Cox, B., et al., *Comparative systems biology of human and mouse as a tool to guide the modeling of human placental pathology*. Mol Syst Biol, 2009. **5**: p. 279.
- 521. Georgiades, P., A.C. Ferguson-Smith, and G.J. Burton, *Comparative developmental anatomy of the murine and human definitive placentae*. Placenta, 2002. **23**(1): p. 3-19.
- 522. Pasanen, M. and O. Pelkonen, *The Expression and Environmental Regulation of P450 Enzymes in Human Placenta*. Critical Reviews in Toxicology, 1994. 24(3): p. 211-229.
- 523. Seelig, L.L., W.M. Steven, and G.L. Stewart, *Effects of Maternal Ethanol Consumption on the Subsequent Development of Immunity to Trichinella spiralis in Rat Neonates*.
 Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 1996. 20(3): p. 514-522.

- 524. Burd, L., et al., *Ethanol and the placenta: A review*. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 2007. 20(5): p. 361-375.
- 525. Gundogan, F., et al., *Impaired placentation in fetal alcohol syndrome*. Placenta, 2008.29(2): p. 148-57.
- 526. Bowen, J.M., et al., Cytokines of the placenta and extra-placental membranes:
 biosynthesis, secretion and roles in establishment of pregnancy in women. Placenta,
 2002. 23(4): p. 239-56.
- 527. Schafer-Somi, S., *Cytokines during early pregnancy of mammals: a review*. (0378-4320 (Print)).
- 528. Kelemen, K., et al., *Early recognition of pregnancy by the maternal immune system*. Am J Reprod Immunol, 1998. **39**(6): p. 351-5.
- 529. Bowen, J.M., et al., *Cytokines of the placenta and extra-placental membranes: roles and regulation during human pregnancy and parturition*. Placenta, 2002. **23**(4): p. 257-73.
- 530. Keelan, J.A., et al., Cytokine abundance in placental tissues: evidence of inflammatory activation in gestational membranes with term and preterm parturition. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1999. 181(6): p. 1530-6.
- 531. Henriques, C.U., et al., *Immunolocalisation of interleukin-4 and interleukin-4 receptor in placenta and fetal membranes in association with pre-term labour and pre-eclampsia*.
 Gynecol Obstet Invest, 1998. 46(3): p. 172-7.
- 532. Hauguel-de Mouzon, S. and M. Guerre-Millo, *The placenta cytokine network and inflammatory signals*. Placenta, 2006. **27**(8): p. 794-8.
- 533. Ahluwalia, B., et al., *Alcohol modulates cytokine secretion and synthesis in human fetus: an in vivo and in vitro study*. Alcohol, 2000. **21**(3): p. 207-13.
- 534. Svinarich, D.M., et al., *Ethanol-induced expression of cytokines in a first-trimester trophoblast cell line*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1998. **179**(2): p. 470-5.

- 535. Sibley, C.P., et al., *Review: Adaptation in placental nutrient supply to meet fetal growth demand: implications for programming.* Placenta, 2010. **31 Suppl**: p. S70-4.
- 536. Haghighi Poodeh, S., et al., *Alcohol-induced premature permeability in mouse placentayolk sac barriers in vivo*. Placenta, 2012. **33**(10): p. 866-73.
- 537. Beer, W.H., et al., *Human placental transfer of zinc: normal characteristics and role of ethanol.* Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 1992. **16**(1): p. 98-105.
- 538. Vallee, B.L. and K.H. Falchuk, *The biochemical basis of zinc physiology*. Physiol Rev, 1993. 73(1): p. 79-118.
- 539. Food and Nutrition Board, I.o.M., Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. 2001, National Academies Press: Washington, DC.
- 540. Haase, H., et al., *Zinc signals are essential for lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction in monocytes.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(9): p. 6491-502.
- 541. Fitzpatrick, A.M., et al., *Alveolar macrophage phagocytosis is impaired in children with poorly controlled asthma*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2008. **121**(6): p. 1372-8, 1378.e1-3.
- 542. Cousins, R.J., *Zinc*, in *Present knowledge in nutrition*, R.R. Bowman BA, Editor. 2006,ILSI Press: Washington, DC. p. 445-457.
- 543. Ladipo, O.A., *Nutrition in pregnancy: mineral and vitamin supplements*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2000. 72(1 Suppl): p. 280s-290s.
- 544. Briefel, R.R., et al., Zinc intake of the U.S. population: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. J Nutr, 2000. 130(5S Suppl): p. 1367s-73s.
- 545. Wells, A.M., et al., *Neurocognitive habilitation therapy for children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: an adaptation of the Alert Program(R)*. Am J Occup Ther, 2012.
 66(1): p. 24-34.

- 546. Coles, C.D., J.A. Kable, and E. Taddeo, *Math performance and behavior problems in children affected by prenatal alcohol exposure: intervention and follow-up.* J Dev Behav Pediatr, 2009. **30**(1): p. 7-15.
- 547. Ziegler, E.E., et al., *Body composition of the reference fetus*. Growth, 1976. **40**(4): p. 329-41.
- 548. Lee, Y.S. and Y.H. Chou, *Antioxidant profiles in full term and preterm neonates*. Chang Gung Med J, 2005. 28(12): p. 846-51.
- 549. Jansson, T. and T.L. Powell, *Role of the placenta in fetal programming: underlying mechanisms and potential interventional approaches*. Clin Sci (Lond), 2007. 113(1): p. 1-13.
- 550. Schendel, D.E., et al., Prenatal magnesium sulfate exposure and the risk for cerebral palsy or mental retardation among very low-birth-weight children aged 3 to 5 years. Jama, 1996. 276(22): p. 1805-10.
- 551. Yeargin-Allsopp, M., et al., A multiple-source method for studying the prevalence of developmental disabilities in children: the Metropolitan Atlanta Developmental Disabilities Study. Pediatrics, 1992. 89(4 Pt 1): p. 624-30.
- 552. Ernhart, C.B., et al., *Underreporting of alcohol use in pregnancy*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 1988. 12(4): p. 506-11.
- 553. Goh, Y.I., et al., *Development of Canadian screening tools for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder*. Can J Clin Pharmacol, 2008. **15**(2): p. e344-66.
- 554. Hopkins, R.B., et al., *Universal or targeted screening for fetal alcohol exposure: a costeffectiveness analysis.* J Stud Alcohol Drugs, 2008. **69**(4): p. 510-9.
- 555. Center for Devices and Radiological Health, F.a.D.A., Guidance for industry and FDA staff. Statistical guidance on reporting results from studies evaluating diagnostic tests.
 2007.

- 556. Best, C.A. and M. Laposata, *Fatty acid ethyl esters: toxic non-oxidative metabolites of ethanol and markers of ethanol intake*. Front Biosci, 2003. **8**: p. e202-17.
- 557. Nordoy, A., et al., *Absorption of the n-3 eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids as ethyl esters and triglycerides by humans*. Am J Clin Nutr, 1991. **53**(5): p. 1185-90.
- 558. Saghir, M., J. Werner, and M. Laposata, *Rapid in vivo hydrolysis of fatty acid ethyl* esters, toxic nonoxidative ethanol metabolites. Am J Physiol, 1997. 273(1 Pt 1): p. G184-90.
- 559. Galinsky, R., et al., *The consequences of chorioamnionitis: preterm birth and effects on development.* J Pregnancy, 2013. **2013**: p. 412831.
- 560. Islam, M.N., et al., *Effect of zinc on growth of preterm babies*. (1022-4742 (Print)).
- 561. Barbarot, S., et al., Symptomatic Acquired Zinc Deficiency in At-Risk Premature Infants: High Dose Preventive Supplementation Is Necessary. Pediatric Dermatology, 2010.
 27(4): p. 380-383.
- 562. Greene HI Fau Hambidge, K.M., et al., *Guidelines for the use of vitamins, trace* elements, calcium, magnesium, and phosphorus in infants and children receiving total parenteral nutrition: report of the Subcommittee on Pediatric Parenteral Nutrient Requirements from the Committee on Clinical Practice Issues of the American Society for *Clinical Nutrition.* (0002-9165 (Print)).
- 563. Mandato, F., et al., *A case of transient zinc deficiency in a breast-fed preterm infant successfully treated with oral zinc supplementation: review of zinc metabolism and related diseases.* G Ital Dermatol Venereol, 2009. **144**(6): p. 729-34.
- 564. Tang, S.M., et al., *N*-acetylcysteine improves group *B* streptococcus clearance in a rat model of chronic ethanol ingestion. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2009. **33**(7): p. 1197-201.
- 565. Ma, Q., *Role of nrf2 in oxidative stress and toxicity*. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2013.
 53: p. 401-26.

- 566. Wu, K.C., J. Liu, and C.D. Klaassen, *Role of Nrf2 in preventing ethanol-induced oxidative stress and lipid accumulation*. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 2012. **262**(3): p. 321-9.
- 567. Jensen, J.S., X. Fan, and D.M. Guidot, *Alcohol causes alveolar epithelial oxidative stress* by inhibiting the nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2-antioxidant response element signaling pathway. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2013. **48**(4): p. 511-7.
- 568. Harvey, C.J., et al., Nrf2-regulated glutathione recycling independent of biosynthesis is critical for cell survival during oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med, 2009. 46(4): p. 443-53.
- 569. Kweider, N., et al., A role for Nrf2 in redox signalling of the invasive extravillous trophoblast in severe early onset IUGR associated with preeclampsia. PLoS One, 2012.
 7(10): p. e47055.
- 570. Chigusa, Y., et al., *Decreased lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1) and low Nrf2 activation in placenta are involved in preeclampsia.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2012.
 97(10): p. E1862-70.
- 571. Litonjua, A.A., et al., *Maternal antioxidant intake in pregnancy and wheezing illnesses in children at 2 y of age*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2006. **84**(4): p. 903-11.
- 572. Devereux, G., et al., *Low maternal vitamin E intake during pregnancy is associated with asthma in 5-year-old children*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2006. **174**(5): p. 499-507.
- 573. Hurley, M.N., D.L. Forrester, and A.R. Smyth, Antibiotic adjuvant therapy for pulmonary infection in cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2010(10): p. Cd008037.
- 574. Abdulhamid, I., et al., *Effect of zinc supplementation on respiratory tract infections in children with cystic fibrosis.* Pediatr Pulmonol, 2008. **43**(3): p. 281-7.